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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EREHRE

To Shareholders,

On behalf of China Zenith Chemical Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the Year, the Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$195 million.
The Group also recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$156 million, representing a decrease of 85% compared
with that of the last financial year. The decrease was due to deconsolidation
of the heat and power segment. For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$105 million, representing a decrease of 72% compared
with that of the last financial year. The decrease in revenue was mainly
derived from deconsolidation of the heat and power segment and temporarily
suspension of sales of calcium carbide during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For calcium carbide production division, its operation was partially suspended
temporarily since January 2023 due to the decrease in market selling price
of calcium carbide as compared with last year. In view of the price of raw
material in the current stage, Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited (“HLCL”)
expected fully resumption of production at the end of 2023.

In terms of chemical products for agriculture division, Mudanjiang Haidi
Technology Company Limited (“Mudanjiang Haidi”) has commenced
production and sales of chemical products for agriculture. In view of the
considerable profit margin, the Board believes that Mudanjiang Haidi will
continue to be the growth driver of the Group in the forthcoming years.

For the heat and power division, deconsolidation of the operation was decided
on 26 August 2022. Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited (“Mudanjiang BD
Power”) is in the process of voluntary liquidation and after the completion of
liquidation process, the Company can be carried out reversal of receivables
in respect of the proceeds from liquidation of Mudanjiang BD Power and
expected to record in the revenue of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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PROSPECT

Looking forward, our management is closely monitoring the market conditions
and investigating the possibility in the resumption of the lower stream
operation as well as the polyvinyl-chloride and vinyl acetate production
lines. Aiming to fully resume the production of calcium carbide and push up
the profit margin of the chemical products for agriculture, the management
is optimizing the internal control, the production lines and the production
procedures.

Our management is seeking for opportunity to carry out new projects
and transactions which could bring economic value and benefit to our
shareholders.

GRATITUDE

On behalf of the Company, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, the business partners and the management and staff for their
unreserved support and continuing trust to the Group.

By order of the Board

Law Tze Ping Eric
Acting Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 1 November 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEEWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately HK$105
million (2022: approximately HK$370 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 72% compared with that of the last financial year. Loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$156 million (2022: approximately HK$1,064 million), representing a
decrease of 85% compared with that of the last financial year.

The decrease in the Group’s revenue was mainly derived from
deconsolidation of the heat and power segment and temporarily suspension
of sales of calcium carbide during the Year.

The Group’s selling and distribution costs for the Year was approximately
HK$1 million (2022: approximately HK$20 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 95% compared with that of the last financial year. The
decrease in selling and distribution costs was mainly due to deconsolidation
of the heat and power segment during the Year.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year was approximately HK$97
million (2022: approximately HK$126 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 23% compared with that of the last financial year. The
decrease in administrative expenses was mainly due to the deconsolidation of
the heat and power segment during the Year.

The Group’s other operating expenses for the Year was approximately
HK$14 million (2022: approximately HK$65 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 78% compared with that of the last financial year. The
decrease in other operating expenses was due to the decrease in provision of
litigation claims during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Coal-related chemical production division

The coal-related chemical production division includes the calcium carbide
segment (the “CC segment”), the polyvinyl-chloride segment and the vinyl
acetate segment. During the Year, the CC segment recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$98 million (2022: approximately HK$199 million) from
external customers, representing a decrease of approximately 51% compared
with that of the last financial year. The decrease in sales of CC segment was
mainly due to partial operation being suspended temporarily since January
2023. In view of the market selling price of calcium carbide in the recent, the
management expects to resume the production of calcium carbide at the end
of 2023.

Chemical products for agriculture division
During the Year, the Company acquired Mudanjiang Haidi to manufacture and
sales of chemical products for agriculture and recorded a new segment. The
chemical products for agriculture segment record a revenue of approximately
HK$3 million from external customers. The chemical products for agriculture
segment record a gross profit of approximately HK$1 million.

Heat and power division

During the Year, the heat and power segment recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$4 million (2022: approximately HK$171 million) from
external customers, representing a decrease of approximately 98% compared
with that of the last financial year. Income from supply of heat for the Year
was approximately HK$4 million (2022: approximately HK$159 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 97% when compared with that of
the last financial year. The decrease was mainly due to the deconsolidation
of the heat and power division during the Year. Due to the escalating coal
price during the Year, the heat and power segment record a gross loss of
approximately HK$2 million (2022: HK$58 million). Segment loss for the
Year was approximately HK$9 million (2022: HK$813 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 99% compared with that of the last financial
year. The decrease in segment loss was mainly due to decrease in the
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
the last financial year. In view of the Authority has taken over the operations
of Mudanjiang BD Power, the management of the Group had deconsolidated
the operation of heat and power segment.

Construction services division
The Group had disposed the construction services division during the year
ended 30 June 2021 to reduce the burden of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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PROSPECT

Although the COVID-19 pandemic still has impact on the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) economies, the Board has overcome several barriers
to resume the production of calcium carbide in HLCL, a subsidiary of
the Company and developed new production of chemical products for
agriculture. Although the production of calcium carbide has temporarily
suspended, the Board believes that the production of calcium carbide will
resume soon and these two operations will continue to be the growth driver
of the Group in the forthcoming years.

Coal-related chemical production division

During the Year, HLCL has temporarily suspended partial production of
calcium carbide due to the decrease in market selling price of calcium carbide
as compared with last year. During the temporarily suspension period, the
management monitors the situation closely and considers to resume the
production of calcium carbide at the end of 2023.

Chemical products for agriculture division

During the Year, Mudanjiang Haidi has commenced production and sales
of chemical products for agriculture. Mudanjiang Haidi expected an annual
output of approximately 3,500 tonnes and an annual output value of
approximately RMB250 million. In view of the considerable profit margin, the
Board believes that Mudanjiang Haidi will continue to be the growth driver of
the Group in the forthcoming years.

Heat and power division

During the Year, the heat and power division decided deconsolidation of the
operation. On 26 August 2022, the Group received a notice (the “Notice”)
issued by the Authority stating that in order to ensure the stability of the heat
supply to the residents of Mudanjiang in the coming winter, the Authority
has temporarily taken over the operations of Mudanjiang BD Power. Upon
the effective of the Notice, Mudanjiang BD Power shall be deemed as
deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
be classified as a discontinued operation. The Group is also liaising with the
Authority relating to the Notice and the control and operation of Mudanjiang
BD Power. BD Power is in the process of voluntary liquidation and after the
completion of liquidation process, the Company can be carried out reversal
of receivables in respect of the proceeds from liquidation of BD Power and
expected to record in the revenue of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
Capital structure

During the Year, the Group financed its operations and business development
with internally generated resources, non-equity funding and equity funding.

Liquidity and financial ratios

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$667
million (2022: approximately HK$1,238 million), which were financed by
current liabilities of approximately HK$841 million (2022: approximately
HK$1,117 million), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$774 million (2022:
approximately HK$947 million), non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$8 million (2022: approximately HK$48 million) and shareholders’ equity
of deficit by approximately HK$955 million (2022: approximately HK$873
million). As at 30 June 2023, the current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$46 million (2022: approximately HK$150 million), comprising
inventories of approximately HK$2 million (2022: approximately HK$22 million),
trade receivables of approximately HK$5 million (2022: approximately HK$30
million), prepayments, deposits and other receivables of approximately HK$26
million (2022: approximately HK$74 million), financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$1 million (2022: approximately
HK$2 million), and cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$3 million
(2022: approximately HK$13 million).

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s current ratio (current assets/current
liabilities), quick ratio (current assets — inventory)/current liabilities),
gearing ratio (total debts/total assets) and debts to equity ratio (total
debts/shareholders’ equity) of the Group were approximately 0.1
(2022: approximately 0.1), approximately 0.1 (2022: approximately 0.1),
approximately 242% (2022: approximately 167 %) and deficit by approximately
170% (2022: approximately 250%), respectively. The higher gearing ratio was
mainly attributable to the impairment of assets of HLCL, whilst the total debts
of the Group remained stable. Throughout the Year, the management had
taken several measures to improve the liquidity position and financial position
of the Group.

Although the Group was in a net current liabilities position and net liabilities
position as at 30 June 2023, the management has closely monitored the
Group’s liquidity position and has taken appropriate measures to ensure it
had sufficient resources to meet its financial obligations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Non-equity funding

Bank loans

As at 30 June 2023, the bank loans of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$20 million (2022: approximately HK$22 million). Based on the
agreed repayment schedule set out in the loan agreements, bank loans
of approximately HK$9 million (2022: approximately HK$9 million) were
repayable within 12 months, of which approximately HK$14 million was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$6 million was
denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) (2022: approximately HK$16 million was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$6 million was
denominated in RMB, respectively).

Bonds
As at 30 June 2023, the aggregate amount of bonds payable was
approximately HK$1,065 million (2022: approximately HK$1,066 million).

On 26 January 2023, the Company completed a rights issue. The net
proceeds raised from the rights issue by issuing 376,820,120 shares at
HK$0.2 on the basis of five rights shares for every two existing shares held
were approximately HK$73 million. As at the date of this report, approximately
HK$65 million was used to repayment of the Group’s indebtedness and
interest expenses and approximately HK$8 million was used as general
working capital of the Group.

Details of the rights issue were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 18 October 2022, 10 November 2022 and 26 January 2023.

On 5 June 2023, the Company completed the issue of the 3% coupon
convertible bonds due 2025 in the principal amount of HK$28,560,000 (the
“CB 2023”) to eleven individual subscribers. The conversion price of CB
2023 is HK$0.21 per conversion share. The closing price of the Company
on 5 June 2023 was HK$0.325. The net proceeds from CB 2023 were
approximately HK$28 million. As at the date of this report, approximately
HK$26 million was used to repayment of the Group’s indebtedness and
interest expenses and approximately HK$2 million was used as general
working capital of the Group.

Details of the CB 2023 were disclosed in the announcements of the Company
dated 3 April 2023, 28 April 2023, 16 May 2023, 31 May 2023 and 5 June
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Significant investment held by the Company

As at 30 June 20283, the Company did not have any significant investments,
except for the financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$2 million (2022:
approximately HK$2 million). During the Year, the Company had recorded
a fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, net of
approximately HK$0.1 million (2022: fair value gain of approximately HK$2
million) and gain on disposal of financial assets FVTPL of approximately
HKS$NIl (2022: approximately HK$0.2 million).

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 30 June 2023, bank loans and other loans of approximately HK$20
million (2022: approximately HK$22 million) and approximately HK$48 million
(2022: approximately HK$120 million), respectively, were secured by charges
over the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(2022: property, plant and equipment, rights-of-use assets and 51% of equity
shares of a PRC wholly owned subsidiary).

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the Financial Year, there was no material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint venture.

On 28 December 2020, HLCL, a company indirectly owned as to 90% by
the Company, entered into an agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”)
with Heihe Longhe Investment Management Limited* (27 B2 & & & & 12
AR & {T 2 8), an independent third party, pursuant to which HLCL had
agreed to transfer the land use rights of certain lands (the “Lands”) located
in the PRC at an aggregate consideration of RMB156,440,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$185,500,000), comprising RMB139,440,000 with
land compensation of RMB17,000,000 (the “Land Disposal”). Due to the
outbreak of COVID-19, the Land Disposal was prolonged. The Company
is finalizing the procedure for Land Disposal and it is expected the Land
Disposal will be completed in the early of 2024.

* English name is for identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEETWR D (&)

DISPOSAL OF SHARES BY THE SINGLE
LARGEST SHAREHOLDER

The Company was informed by Mr. Chan Yuen Tung (“Mr. Chan”), the single
largest shareholder of the Company that on 11 August 2023, Mr. Chan as
the vendor and Mr. Tang Yi Duan (“Mr. Tang”) as the purchaser, pursuant to
which Mr. Chan sold 142,850,000 shares in the Company (“Shares”) to Mr.
Tang, representing approximately 27.08% of the total issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of this report, at a selling price of HK$0.966
per share (the “Disposal”). Immediately after the Disposal, Mr. Chan
does not hold any Shares and is no longer the single largest shareholder
of the Company, and Mr. Tang holds 142,850,000 Shares, representing
approximately 27.08% of the total issued share capital of the Company and
becomes the single largest shareholder of the Company.

Details of the Disposal were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 11 August 2023.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not hold any significant
investments or equity interest in any other companies nor any future plans for
material investments and capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 47 of the consolidated financial statements, the
Group did not have any significant event after June 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2023, save as disclosed in note 43 of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEETWR D (&)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Although most of the Group’s operations were carried out in the PRC in
which transactions were denominated in RMB, the Directors consider that the
Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations, despite
of the devaluation of RMB during the Year. The Directors also consider that
there will be sufficient cash resources denominated in Hong Kong dollars
for the repayment of borrowings and future dividends. During the Year, the
Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purposes and the
Group did not have any hedging instrument as at 30 June 2023.

In face of currency market instability, the Group will make use of hedging
instruments to mitigate the exchange rate risk as and when appropriate.

NUMBER AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 111 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Remuneration is maintained at competitive levels with discretionary
bonuses payable on a merit basis and in line with the industry’s practice.
Other staff benefits provided by the Group include mandatory provident fund,
insurance schemes and performance-related commissions.

The Company also operated a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group. The Scheme was proposed by the Board on 14
November 2022 and approved by its shareholders on 14 December 2022.
As at 30 June 2023, there were 4,974,455 Share options outstanding. The
Share options with exercisable period up to 2 November 2023 at the adjusted
exercise price of HK$7.91 per Share.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

HRESLHLE

This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices applied
throughout the year ended 30 June 2023 (the “Year”).

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability.

The Company has, throughout the Year, complied with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”), except
for a certain deviation which is summarised below:

DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1

Paragraph C.2.1 of the Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Throughout the Year, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
were performed by the same individual, Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, and were not
separated. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) meets
regularly to consider issues related to corporate matters affecting operations
of the Group and considers that this deviation will not impair the balance
of power and authority of the Board and the Company’s management and
thus, the Board believes the current structure will enable effective planning
and implementation of corporate strategies and decisions of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, the Board will review the current structure from
time to time and shall make necessary amendments at the appropriate time.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and practices

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic planning and
development, and for determining the objectives, strategic and policies
of the Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make
full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and ensure that the Board
acts in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.
The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each director to
perform his or her respective responsibilities to the Company, and whether he
or she is spending sufficient time performing them.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven members, namely,
Mr. Law Tze Ping as the Acting Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Tang Yiduan,
Mr. Shing Pan Yu James and Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (duties suspended) as
executive Directors and Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and
Mr. Hau Chi Kit as independent non-executive Directors. Details of their
respective experience and qualification are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.
An updated list of Directors and their respective roles and functions has been
maintained on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

The Board has maintained a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the businesses of the Group. Its composition represents
a mixture of management, accounting and finance, marketing, manufacturing
and procurement with comprehensive experience in and exposure to
diversified businesses. It is the opinion of the Directors that the Board has the
necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their duties as
Directors in the best interests of the Company.

Besides, to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no material/relevant
relationship, whether financial, operational, business, family, etc., among
members of the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition and practices (Continued)

The Company had received confirmation from the independent non-executive
Directors that they complied with the guidelines on independence set out
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and had not violated any provision
thereunder throughout the Year. Amongst them, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan,
Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Appropriate liability insurance for Directors has been arranged for indemnifying
their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. This insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.

Training and support for Directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each newly-
appointed director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed
company. To comply with code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all Directors
during the Year, namely Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, Mr Gao Ran, Mr. Law Tze
Ping Eric, Mr. Liu Yangyang, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and
Mr. Hau Chi Kit have participated in the Group briefings and other training
provided by the Group to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Group continuously updates Directors on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Circulars or guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management, where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best corporate
governance practices.

During the Year, the Directors also read various literature on Directors’
obligations and responsibilities. A record of the training received from each
of the Directors are kept and updated by the secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - full Directors’ board meeting

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at quarterly intervals and

holds additional meetings as and when the Board thinks appropriate.

During the Year, 13 Board meetings were held for discussion of the
Company’s matters. The attendance of each director, on a named basis and

by category, at the Board meetings during the Year is set out below:

BEE2mWm)
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RAFEGRTRARTDEERIT T ZRESS
B AFER RUEBNERREISBERES
HEESSSRZIRBIHIIWOT

Number of meetings

attended/Number of
Board meetings held
HESERE
Directors Bx BERETREY
Executive Directors HiITEE
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (Note (i) T oA (BREG) 13/13
Mr. Tang Yiduan (Note (ii)) J& — i 5 A (BRTEE () N/AZT 3 FA
Mr. Shing Pan Yu James (Note (ii)) BX an B ST A (I REG)) N/AZNE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (Note (i) PR = 2z = (B Gii)) 13/13
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (iv) = (FEEY) 2/13
Non-executive Director FERTTEF
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (v)) B A (W) 0/13
Independent non-executive Directors BB ITESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEMIETE 13/13
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERZLE 13/13
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEEGEE 13/13
Notes: MIE

0] Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric is acting chief executive officer on 12 October 2023.

(ii) Mr. Tang Yiduan and Mr. Shing Pan Yu James were appointed as an executive

director on 25 August 2023.

(iii) Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe was suspended duties on 12 October 2023.

(iv) Mr. Gao Ran was resigned as an executive director on 25 August 2023.

(V) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022

and resigned on 25 August 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - executive Directors’ board

meeting

In addition, during the Year, 21 executive Directors’ board meetings were held
to deal with the compliance of legal and administrative procedures, including

internal corporate re-structuring and company secretarial matters.

To handle the above-mentioned matters, at least two executive Directors

were required to form a quorum.

The attendance of each Director, on a named basis and by category, at the

executive Directors’ Board meeting during the Year is set out below:

BEE2mWm)
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Number of meetings
attended/Number of
executive Directors’
board meetings held

HESERE
BITZEEER
Directors BE BITRE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (Note (i) 7T (B EEG) 21/21
Mr. Tang Yiduan (Note (ii)) & — iy 5 A (BT (G)) N/ATiE A
Mr. Shing Pan Yu James (Note (ii)) BR Sh {7 7o A (PIRE(Gi)) N/ATiE A
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (Note (iii)) BeR = 2z = (B ii)) 21/21
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (iv)) = ST (R (v) 10/21
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (v)) 2SR (MREVY) N/A 73
Independent non-executive Directors BUIHRTESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEMITE N/A 73
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERZLE N/A A3
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEG S E N/A 3 A
Notes: Mt -

(i) Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric is acting chief executive officer on 12 October 2023.

(ii) Mr. Tang Yiduan and Mr. Shing Pan Yu James were appointed as an executive

director on 25 August 2023.

(iii) Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe was suspended duties on 12 October 2023.

(Vi) Mr. Gao Ran was resigned as an executive director on 25 August 2023.

(v) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022

and resigned on 25 August 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - committee meeting
During the Year, 2 Board committee meetings were held. The attendance
of each director, on a named basis and by category, at Board committee

meetings during the Year is set out below:

HE (|

EEgSm@m
EESSE Z£E88E
REAFEERITMAEFEZESER - AFE
A REBRERNMESBRESLHFEEEES
SRR IIREHINNT ¢
Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

HESBERY FHRETAH

Remuneration Audit Nomination
Committee Committee Committee

Directors BE FMWEES EREEY REEZEE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (Note (i) 77 (B EEG) N/A g A N/A i@ R 2/2
Mr. Tang Yiduan (Note (ii)) J&E — i o A (B RE(GT)) N/A “Rig A N/A i@ N/A A3
Mr. Shing Pan Yu James (Note (ii)) % s 5 A (B R (i) N/A i F N/A i N/A 3 F
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (Note (i) PR =2 2z - (B ki) N/A 738 A N/A i@ 2/2
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (iv)) =5 A (3 (v) N/A i A N/A e A N/A 38 A
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (v)) B33 57 S A (MRE(W) N/A “RigE A N/A i@ N/A A3
Independent non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan eSSt 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Tam Ching Ho EAE e 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEGERE 2/2 2/2 2/2
Notes: PEE -

(i) Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric is acting chief executive officer on 12 October 2023.

(ii) Mr. Tang Yiduan and Mr. Shing Pan Yu James were appointed as an executive

director on 25 August 2023.

(iii) Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe was suspended duties on 12 October 2023.

(iv) Mr. Gao Ran was resigned as an executive director on 25 August 2023.

(V) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022

and resigned on 25 August 2023.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting - committee meeting (Continued)
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, meetings or extraordinary
meetings of the Board may be convened by means of telephone or similar
telecommunication facilities. Regular meetings of the Board were held during
the Year. Extra meetings were also held to cater for important matters
arising from time to time. Notices of regular Board meetings are served
to all Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given. Board papers
together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to
all Directors/committee members at least three days before each meeting to
keep the Directors appraised of the latest developments and financial position
of the Company to enable them to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board/committee meetings would be kept by the Company
Secretary and shall be open for inspection by Directors. Where Directors have
material or conflict of interests in any transaction discussed in the Board/
committee meetings, such a transaction will not be dealt with by way of
written resolutions unless clear declaration of interest is made by the relevant
Directors. The Directors concerned could express their views on the matter
but would not be counted as part of the quorum and shall abstain from voting
on the relevant resolutions.

In addition, to facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors have free
access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further information,
when required. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice,
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging
their duties to the Company. All Directors have unrestricted access to the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board/committee
procedures are complied with and for advising the Board/committee on
compliance matters.

Non-executive Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
should attend Board, committee and general meetings and contribute to the
Company’s strategy and policies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment and re-election of directors
The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment and succession plan of directors.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term.
The term of office for Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan is two years with effect from 1
April 2023. The term of office for Mr. Tam Ching Ho is two years with effect
from 7 December 2021. The term of office for Mr. Hau Chi Kit is two years
with effect from 18 December 2021.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

The Board as a whole, with the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession plan of directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Board
confirmed that all the Directors had complied with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. No incidents of non-
compliance of such guidelines was noted by the Company during the Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) and the Nomination Committee for overseeing particular
aspects of affairs of the Company. These committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, as approved by the Board, which set
out the committee’s major duties.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the
Company.

Audit committee

The Company set up the Audit Committee on 8 April 2001, with written
terms of reference, for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control systems.
In accordance with the requirements of the Code, the terms of reference of
the Audit Committee were revised on 21 October 2006, 21 March 2012 and
31 December 2018, respectively, in terms substantially the same as the code
provisions set out in the Code.

As at 30 June 2023, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit, all of whom are not involved in the day-to-day
management of the Company.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Company’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the auditor’s appointment, the auditor’s remuneration
and any matters relating to the termination of, the appointment of and the
resignation of the auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee also examines the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk management, which
involve regular reviews of the internal controls of various corporate structure
and business processes on a continuous basis, and take into account their
respective potential risk and urgency, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Company’s business operations, risk management system and the realisation
of its corporate objectives and strategies. The scope of such examinations
and reviews include finance, operations, regulatory compliance and risk
management. Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted access
to the external auditor and all senior management of the Group in order to
discharge its responsibilities. Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the
Audit Committee reviewed the audited financial statements of the Company
for the Year and the unaudited financial statements of the Company for the
six months ended 31 December 2022. It also reviewed the system of internal
control and risk management of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee met twice with the external auditor.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting -
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Audit Committee members. The Audit Committee met with the external
auditors and management to discuss and review, among others, (i) the scope
of work, timetable and auditors’ fee; (i) the auditors’ disclaimer of opinion
set out in the financial statements for the Year; (i) the adequacy and quality
of accounting and financial reporting staff; and (iv) risk management and the
internal control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee reviewed and
confirmed the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and to evaluate
the effectiveness of the internal control systems, together with the scope of
audit services and fees in connection therewith.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, be nominated for re-appointment as auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 July 2005 with its specific
written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31 December
2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the Code. As
at 30 June 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, inter alia, advising the
Board on the remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, as well as reviewing
and either determining with delegated responsibility the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management or
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management in accordance with
code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors, and approving the
compensation to executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of their office or appointment, and reviewing and approving
compensation relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct.
No Director was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

Remuneration of directors and senior management

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band for the Year is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) HENEE (GBT)

EEZEEW

FMEES W)
EERSREEAETH

BIESTAlY RIS EEA 51 - AEESHEE
ABRBHMEESRIIMT :

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to 1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee met two times, during which it assessed the
performance of the executive Directors. The attendance of each member
of the Remuneration Committee, on a named basis and by category, at the
committee meetings during the Year is set out in the section “The Board
Meeting — Committee Meeting” of this report.

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 2 November 2007, with
its specific written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the
Code. To ensure independent views and inputs are available to the Board,
the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require that a majority of
the members should be independent non-executive Directors. As at 30 June
2023, the Nomination Committee comprised one executive Director, namely
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (chairman), and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau
Chi Kit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)
The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia, the following:

(@  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skKills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(c)  toassess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer;

(e)  to do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board;

) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws;
and

(@ to ensure the chairman of the Committee, or in the absence of the
chairman, another member of the Committee or failing this his duly
appointed delegate, be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee would review the composition of the Board
from time to time where Board diversity would be considered with a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services. Details of workforce by gender of the Group will be set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published for the
Year. The Group will strive to maintain gender diversity when recruiting
and selecting key management and other personnel across the Group’s
operations.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy on 31
December 2018. The Nomination Committee, acting on behalf of the Board,
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy
on an on-going basis and at least once in each financial year and reports
to the Board. The Board overall is satisfied with the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board’s diversity policy for the Year. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse composition of
the Board, gender and other qualities will be considered in determining the
optimum Board composition. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates are likely to bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met two times during which
discussed and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting —
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Nomination Committee members.

Corporate governance functions

During the Year, the Board determined the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and performed, inter alia, the following duties: (a)
developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (c) developed, reviewed and monitored the
code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; (d) reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report; and (e) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management.

Company secretary

Mr. Ma Kin Ling was appointed as the Company Secretary since May 2016.
Mr. Ma has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year. The Company is of the view that Mr. Ma
has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for (i) overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group with a view to ensuring
such financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards; and (ji) selecting suitable accounting policies
and applying them consistently with the support of reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates.

The independent auditor’s report of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set
out on pages 59 to 62 of this annual report.

EEZEEW

REZEE W)
BEEEEN T /\F+-A=+—RiENE
EELTHE - REEERREZESSRHEAR
SHEEERBLTIRENERNARYE B4
REEN KEEET—REAEEG RS - NA
Y EERUWERBESEeNESTIRENE
BRNAMERIRE - AATPETREESS
MBS TENES - RETA B ESERE
EAK EEZEETONE T MRIREMAESE -
BREBERAY EERTAEESEL Y T5
TVERSE °

AERER  REEARBRAMAGH - Y0
BRBHEESRE  ARRAR - AHREE
BEERINE Y MR  BOMARE EER

SHE-ZEEGR]HAEIIE -

XERRAE

REAFER  EFEETARAERERZK
%R WETT(RFRBRE) ATRAE - (@flF kigs
ARRIEREBRBREER  WAEFERHEZ
# o ORAEERAAREETERNEERE
THZBERER  ©FIFE @i RERREE R
BEE7BTER s ARRET T RIZIER
RAEGEERMENZIKE  ReRIRERE
ENRRERBZEIIIRGEERER -

RAMWE

BRZEAFER T RFHAREZER/AF
WE - BAELCDHEIERAFELHESRETIR
15/ 2 BRAEEE - ARRIRR - BELED
BT ETRAIZES 20 ZIRTE -

ESYHMBHRRZEME

EENE  HFRAAR(EEANEEM BRI A
B RISV BERRTAEZERELERE
FHER: RiVBCEREBERESSFEER - &
BREFEEZHE KA -

BERARRBIZEMEAEEGAHBHRKS
BEFE B ZBEMBEHNANFHRELIE62

27



28

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” section of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of this annual
report, there are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit
Committee in respect of the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditor.

The remuneration paid to McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited, the external
auditor of the Company, and the nature of services are set out as follows:
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems. The internal control and risk management
systems are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and the risks to
which it is exposed, and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute assurance against misstatements of losses.

Procedures have been set up to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, control capital expenditure, maintain proper accounting
records and ensure the reliability of financial information used for business
and publication. Qualified management throughout the Group maintains and
monitors the internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

The internal audit department was set up on 15 May 2006, under the
supervision of the Board. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls
and risk management. The review covers aspects relating to financial and
compliance controls of the major subsidiaries of the Company. Moreover,
operation professionals had been appointed to perform reviews on the new
information systems and operations. These reviews included operational
workflow and risk management controls over new manufacturing functions
of the Company. It was also the Board’s review to consider the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

The Board is satisfied that the systems of risk management and internal
control in place for the year under review and up to the date of issuance of
the annual report and accounts are reasonably effective and adequate.

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

According to the independent auditor’s report on pages 59 to 62 of this
annual report, the Company’s auditors expressed a disclaimer of opinion on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30
June 2023 regarding:

(@  Uncertainties relating to going concern.
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UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN (continued)

The followings are further information regarding the above matter:

Uncertainties relating to going concern

The management’s position and basis (the “Going Concern Basis”) on the
going concern assumption has been referred to in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 in this Report (‘2023
Financial Statements”) dated 1 November 2023.

Referring to independent auditor’s report on pages 59 to 62 of this annual
report, the management of the Company noted that the Company’s auditors
(the “Auditors”) considered the following:

1. The going concern basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements had been adequately disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements;

2. The Group incurred net loss of approximately HK$195.2 million for the
year ended 30 June 2023 and, as of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets and net liabilities by approximately
HK$794.8 million and approximately HK$947.7 million respectively.

3. Up to the date of this report, the voluntary liquidation has not been
completed and the proceeds of approximately HK$293 million upon its
voluntary liquidation not yet received;

4. Up to the date of this report, no agreement has been reached with
bondholders for the bonds in the amount of approximately HK$128
million;

5. Up to the date of this report, the idle right-of-use assets and buildings
in Hong Kong and the PRC have not been sold; and

6. Up to the date of this report, the sales of land use rights of certain lands
in the PRC have not been completed.
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UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements, that is for 18 months
ending 31 December 2024, on the assumption that the Company would
(i) successfully receive the proceeds of HK$293 million from liquidation of
Mudanjiang BD Power; (i) reach an extension agreement regarding the bonds
of approximately HK$128 million due to the bondholders; (i) complete the
sales of the idle right-of-use assets and buildings in Hong Kong and the PRC
at a consideration of not less than their market value as of 30 June 2023;
(iv) complete the sales of land use rights of certain lands in the PRC shortly;
(v) successfully raise equity fund for 18 months ending 31 December 2024
(collectively the “Going Concern Measures”). However, as the Auditors
were unable to obtain sufficient evidence from the management for the above
underlying assumptions on going concern, the Auditors issued a disclaimer
of opinion in relation to limitation of scope of the adoption of going concern
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2023.

The Company considers it necessary to implement the Going Concern
Measures for addressing the audit qualification made for the year ended 30
June 2023.

The Company is currently working on possible action plans (the “Action
Plans”) to address the audit qualification regarding going concern assumption
for the subsequent financial years, including negotiation and conclusion for a
longer term of renewal of existing borrowings and other liabilities (the “Debts”)
and possible ways for repayment of the Debts.

The Company would strive to finalise and implement the Action Plans which
should address the audit qualification regarding going concern assumption
for the financial year ending 30 June 2024.
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EEERHE (F)

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Uncertainties relating to going concern (Continued)

The Auditors considered that, in respect of the going concern assumption as
set out in note 2 to the 2023 Financial Statements, the audit modification on
going concern would be removed in the next year’s auditor report if:

1. The Company can successfully receive the proceeds of HK$293 million
from liquidation of Mudanjiang BD Power;

2. The Company can successfully obtain extension of the bond payable in
the amount of approximately HK$128 million;

3. The Company can be sold the sale of idle right-of-use assets and
building at a consideration of not less than their market value as of 30
June 2023;

4. The Company can complete the sale of land use rights of certain lands
in the PRC; and

5. The Company can successfully raise equity funds.

The audit committee has discussed with the Company, reviewed the 2023
Financial Statements, and agreed with the going concern basis of preparation
of the consolidated financial statements as well as the necessity to implement
the Going Concern Measures and to finalise and implement the Action Plans
for addressing the audit qualification.

The audit committee has also discussed with the Auditors and reviewed the
audit qualification and basis of the qualification.

FRFELKE 2THBEZE@®)

FHEFELKE 2 THARE @)
HEERA - T = M ERE NS H T
BECUBRTES  BECEHEZERER N

TERAE MEFEAREEN RS T 5 -

1. ARABAIKINREG T EBREFRATE
FRIE293EH BB T

2. ARBAKNFERENESFHI1288&EET
AL

3. ARFAUTPREE-ZT=_=F A=+
HEMNRELEHEFREREERESF

4. AREEERHETEE TR L ER
B

5. ARAAKNEEBRAES -

BERZEGCBARA W BH_T_=F§
TR N R B AR A B TS R DA PT R A B
HARERAFELLHEROLEN  TEE

BhiTEE 8 - NREEZREER

ERZESNCERHUMNm MENEZREE
RERESREE -



FEXCIRERRAT

ZETFFR

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

UNCERTAINTIES RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN AND DECONSOLIDATION OF A
SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The Board has obtained the understanding with the auditor of the Company
that the Company considers itself to have addressed the issues giving rise to
the disclaimer of opinion in the consolidated financial statement for the year
ended 30 June 2023 and barring unforeseen circumstances, a disclaimer
of opinion in respect of the same issues should no longer be required to be
included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ending 30 June
2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with both institutional
and private investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities
is provided in its annual reports and interim reports, which are sent to
shareholders of the Company.

Designated executive Directors and senior management maintain regular
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of
the Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any inquiries.

The shareholders’ communication policy is reviewed at least annually to
ensure it is continued effectively.
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EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (continued)

At general meetings, the Chairman of the meetings raises separate resolutions
for each effectively independent matter. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the shareholders and
the Board. The Chairman and the chairman of the Board committees, or in
their absence, other members of the respective committees, must attend
the annual general meeting to address shareholders’ queries. The external
auditor is also invited to attend the Company’s annual general meetings and
is available to assist the Directors in addressing queries from shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of its
auditor’s report.

Shareholder(s) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings can make a requisition to convene an extraordinary general
meeting pursuant to article 62 of the Company’s Bye-laws. The procedures
for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings are stated as
follows:

(@  The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by all the shareholders concerned and may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
shareholders concerned.

(b)  The written requisition must be stated with the head office of the
Company at Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Directors or the
Company Secretary.

(c)  The written requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the relevant
resolution in the agenda for such general meeting. Such general
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

(d) If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors fail to proceed
to convene such a general meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
to do so shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR

RELATIONS (Continued)

During the Year, one general meeting was held. The 2022 annual general
meeting was held on 14 December 2022. The attendance record of each
Director, on a named basis and by category, at the general meetings held

during the Year under review is set out below:

RERER R IREEBEER @

RAEE BRI ABRERE - _T-_FR
RRAFAER-Z-__F+-A+MHEHET - K
FEN  RUZRERNMESTRESHERRE
K& ZIREGEERE T

Number of general
meetings attended/
Number of general
meetings held

HERRAERE
Directors B=x REXEETRH
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (Note (i) 7T oA (BREG) 1/1
Mr. Tang Yiduan (Note (ii)) & — i 7 A (PSR (Gi)) N/AT 3 3
Mr. Shing Pan Yu James (Note (ii)) BR Gh % 7 A (PIRE(Gi)) N/ATiE A
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (Note (iii)) PR 2 2 (B (in) 0/1
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (iv)) = ST (R (v) 0/1
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (v)) 2SR (MREVY) 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUHRTESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEMIETE 0/1
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERZLE 0/1
Mr. Hau Chi Kit EEGSE 0/1
Notes: BgsE :
i) Mr. Law Tze Ping is acting chief executive officer on 12 October 2023. (i) BIFVPRER T =F+ AT -BEESET

BaH, -
(ii) Mr. Tang Yiduan and Mr. Shing Pan Yu James were appointed as an executive (i) E-—mAERBRRGLEERZZE_=ZFN\A
director on 25 August 2023. Z+RAEZERRITES -

(i) ~ Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe was suspended duties on 12 October 2023. (i) BMELTHR_ZE_=F+A+-REEES -
vy  Mr. Gao Ran was resigned as an executive director on 25 August 2023. vy BBEEER-_Z_=FNAZ-+HABETINTE

(v) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May 2022

and resigned on 25 August 2023.

The Company was amended to the Company’s Bye-laws during the Year.
The Company’s Bye-laws is available on both the websites of HKEx and the

Company.
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EEERHE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Shareholder services

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name or address, or
loss of share certificates should be addressed to the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office as follows:

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Tel: 2980 1888

Fax: 2861 0285

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send their enquiries to the Board in writing
with contact details (including registered name, address, telephone number
and email address) to the Company Secretary as follows:

Address:  Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Telephone: 2845 3131

Fax: 2845 3535

Email: info@chinazenith.com.hk
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEREEAERTN

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric ( #& ¥ ¥ ), aged 43, is an executive Director and
acting chief executive officer. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Law worked as
a business consultant and provided consultancy services for listed and non-
listed companies in Hong Kong. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Law did not
hold any other directorships in listed public companies in the last three years.
Mr. Law was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 3 March
2015 and is acting chief executive officer with effect from 12 October 2023.

Mr. Tang Yiduan (& —¥), aged 36, is an executive Director. He is currently
the chairman of the board of director of Beijing Gaoya Investment
Management Limited* (1t 52 /& 3% & & 12 £ R 2 @l). He has extensive
experience in investment banking and strategic management of technology
companies. Mr. Tang has been engaged in financial technology investment
for years, having served as a member of the 1st Communist Youth League
Committee of the Shanghai Equity Exchange in 2014 and head of corporate
finance department of Lianxun Securities Co., Ltd.* (B zEFA M B R A7)
from 2015 to 2016, participated in the equity investment in Beijing Caimao
Network* (1t Z B 5 49 8%) (a company quoted on the New Third Board held
by Huobi Holdings* ( ‘A ¥ #8 5 %)) personally in 2015, and invested and
established Beijing Fashion Topnews Investment Management Co., Ltd.* (It
TS SRR A BB B BR A 7)) (currently known as “Beijing Gaoya Investment
Management Limited™ (1t 52 = H % & & 12 F BR 72 7)) as the chairman of
the board of directors in 2017. He also participated in the equity investment
in Hong Kong One TV personally in 2018, transforming it into a technology
media company specializing in the information industry, and in January 2020,
he set up Asia Pacific Equity Quotations System Limited in Hong Kong to
provide financing services to scientists and technology ventures in the Asia-
Pacific region. Mr. Tang was appointed as an executive Director with effect
from 25 August 2023.

Mr. Shing Pan Yu James (B & ), aged 47, is an executive Director. He
is currently the director of ChinaTopnew Holding Limited and Beijing Gaoya
Investment Management Limited* (3t = = #E % & & 2 B R A 7)) and the
partner of Shanshan Venture Capital Co., Ltd.* (FZ %2 8l (3% E GR A 7))
in Hong Kong. Mr. Shing was also an angel investor and an executive
director of Hong Kong Asia Television. He has extensive experience in
media, entertainment, e-commerce and other industries, corporate strategy,
corporate finance and business development and management. He also has
rich resources, interpersonal relationships and public relations publicity in
Mainland China, which can facilitate the integration of resources, technology
and business expansion of the Company’s enterprises in the Greater China
region in the future.
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EERERERASHN(H)

DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (PR £ ), aged 54, is the chairman (the “Chairman”)
and chief executive officer of the Group and joined the Group as an executive
Director in January 2004 and was suspended duties with effect from 12
October 2023. Ms. Chan is responsible for the overall management and
business development of the Group. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy from the Queensland University of Technology in Australia. Ms.
Chan has more than 10 years of experience in the areas of corporate finance
and management. Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Chan did not hold any other
directorships in listed public companies in the last three years. Ms. Chan was
appointed as the Chairman and a member of nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) with effect from 2 February 2012
and was suspended duties with effect from 12 October 2023.

Mr. Gao Ran (/= ), aged 32, is an executive Director and vice-chairman.
He is currently the chairman of Shenzhen Global Fund Management Co.,
Ltd.* (R 2 ERESE IR AR A 7)) and an executive director and chairman
of Cornerstone Financial Holdings Limited (stock code: 8112), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) until 5 September 2023. He was the non-executive director of
Lapco Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8472), a company listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange until 20 November 2020. He has extensive experience
in fund investment and asset management, corporate strategy, corporate
finance and business development and management. Mr. Gao was appointed
as an executive Director with effect from 23 July 2020 and resigned on 25
August 2023.
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EERERERASHN(H)

DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Yangyang ( 2] 3¥ ¥ ), aged 28, appointed on 26 May 2022 and
resigned on 25 August 2023, is an non-executive Director. Mr. Liu is currently
the director of China business division of Cornerstone Financial Holdings
Limited, a listed company on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8112). Mr. Liu is vastly experienced in project investment and asset
management, sales and market development and management. From
November 2019 to April 2020, Mr. Liu served as the chairman of Shen Zhen
AVIC Int’l Corporate Management Co., Ltd.. From July 2018 to September
2019, Mr. Liu also served as the business director of Shen Zhen Catic
Taikee Co., Ltd.. Mr. Liu is currently enrolled in the public affair management
programme of the Communication University of China. Save as disclosed
herein, Mr. Liu did not hold any other directorships in listed companies in the
last three years.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (55%%), aged 57, is an independent non-executive
Director and is also the chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) and a member of each of the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Ma is the finance director of Union Sun International Group
Limited, a non-listed company with affiliates dealing in property development
in the PRC. He was an independent director of Celestial Nutrifoods Limited
(the shares of which are listed on the main board of Singapore Exchange
Securities Trade Limited (the “Singapore Exchange”)) until 18 July 2011.
He has approximately 20 years of experience in the areas of audit, financial
management and operational management. Mr. Ma is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director in February 2001.
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EERERERASHN(H)

DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Tam Ching Ho (B %), aged 52, appointed on 30 June 2007, is an
independent non-executive Director and is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Tam is a certified public accountant (practising) registered
with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”).
He has worked in a reputable international accounting firm for about eight
years and specialised in providing assurance services for pre-listing, listed
and multinational companies. He has also held senior positions in several
companies, including as a financial controller of a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and another company listed on the main board
of the Singapore Exchange for a total of about seven years. Mr. Tam has
accumulated extensive experiences in corporate finance and administration,
listing compliance, investor relations, accounting and auditing. Mr. Tam
holds a bachelor’s degree of arts with honors in accountancy. He is an
associate member of the HKICPA and a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Tam is also currently an independent
non-executive director of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited
(Stock Code: 682), the shares of which are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Tam did not hold any other
directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. Hau Chi Kit (fRE&#§), aged 51, appointed on 18 December 2013, is an
independent non-executive Director and also a member of each of the Audit
committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
He was a barrister-at-law in private practice in Hong Kong from 2001 to
2008. Prior to becoming a barrister, he worked at the Securities and Futures
Commission. Mr. Hau is currently a solicitor and is an independent non-
executive director of Zhongzheng International Company Limited (formerly
known as “e-Force Holdings Limited”) (Stock Code: 943), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Hau was an independent non-
executive director of Jiading International Group Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Farnova Group Holdings Limited”) and hmvod Limited (formerly
known as “Trillion Grand Corporate Company Limited”), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8153) and (Stock Code: 8103) until
18 July 2019 and 12 August 2022, respectively. Mr. Hau was an independent
non-executive director of Fresh Express Delivery Holdings Group Co., Limited
(delisted securities) (Stock code: 1175), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange from 6 January 2022 until 15 August 2022. Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Hau did not hold any other directorships in listed
companies in the last three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERERERASHN(H)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Kin Ling ( 5 # % ), aged 41, is the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of the Group. Mr. Ma is responsible for the financial
reporting and company’s secretarial functions of the Group. Mr. Ma
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy and Law. Mr. Ma joined the Group in May 2016. Prior to
joining the Group, he worked in a reputable international accounting firm and
has over 10 years of professional experience in accounting, auditing and
financial management. Mr. Ma is a member of the HKICPA. Mr. Ma is also an
independent non-executive director of SunCorp Technologies Limited (Stock
Code: 1063), Wisdom Wealth Resources Investment Holding Group Limited
(Stock Code: 7) and Wenye Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1802),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
respectively. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Ma did not hold any other
directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
SYSTEM

The remuneration system of the senior management of the Group is a
combination of the economic benefit of the senior management (including
executive directors) and the operational results and share performances
of the Group. Most of the members of the senior management have
signed result examination contracts with the Company. In this system, the
remuneration of the senior management comprises three parts, namely, basic
salary, bonus and share options. The floating remuneration of the senior
management represents approximately 70% to 75% of their total potential
remuneration, which includes result bonuses and share options representing
approximately 15% to 25% and 50% to 60% respectively of their total
potential remuneration. Floating remuneration is linked with the specific
business performance indicators, for example, the net profit, capital return
and cost reduction indicator.

* English name is for identification purpose only
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 (the
“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business segments is
set out in note 11 to the financial statements and in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 63
to 70 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the Year.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as

BB ERE

AT A8 B S EXM B HmR LNE

BRATE

Flz REBRA R AV BFED TGRS EE

extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as appropriate: BEERGEUARESZIBE -
Results E45
Year ended 30 June
BERA=THLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —F-C —E-—fF —ECEF “E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET THI THT THT
(Restated) (Restated)
(feEim) (&)
(Re-presented)  (Re-presented)
(#g=751) (f=51)
REVENUE e 100,847 198,664 229,021 194,337 323,048
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS REFE (72,607) (94,967) (240,815) (254,861) (606,188)
Finance costs BIFE AR (113,926) (166,030) (126,030) (110,944) (92,627)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AIE R (186,533) (260,997) (366,845) (365,805) (698,815)
Income tax expenses FSHIEY - - (890) - 1,233
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM REBECEEENAEERR
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (186,533) (260,997) (367,735) (365,805) (697,582)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM RECRLBEERNEEE
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ] (8,709) (812,824) (91,851) - -
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REERR (195242)  (1,073,821) (459,586) (365,805) (697,582)
Attributable to: &G
Owners of the Company ARREBA (155,876)  (1,064,206) (450,353) (354,886) (667,369)
Non-controlling interests IR (39,366) (9,615) (9,233) (10,919) (30,213)
(195242)  (1,073,821) (459,586) (365,805) (697,582)

43



44

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

Assets, liabilities and equity

B E R E m)
BE BERES

At 30 June

RABA=1+H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—B-=FE —FT--f —E--F ZZT-THE —hE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET FET FEL FET
Non-current assets ERENEE 620,935 1,088,264 1,745,820 1,757,042 1,930,613
Current assets REVEE 45,694 149,983 325,533 173,941 252,313
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 666,629 1,238,247 2,071,353 1,930,983 2,182,926
Non-current liabilities FRHAaFE 773,808 946,575 698,699 1,173,366 1,125,313
Current liabilities REBRE 840,540 1,116,522 1,288,945 394,071 276,518
TOTAL LIABILITIES EBEH 1,614,348 2,063,097 1,982,644 1,567,437 1,401,831
TOTAL (DEFICIT)/EQUITY (B4t) RERBE (947,719) (824,850) 88,709 363,546 781,095

Attributable to: JE1Y -

Owners of the Company VN/NEIEZ SN (955,357) (873,168) 29,564 302,562 706,827
Non-controlling interests FEE R R 7,638 48,318 59,145 60,984 74,268
(947,719) (824,850) 88,709 363,546 781,095
Note: The results of the Group for the Year and the assets, liabilities and equity of the — Fist : AEBEAFE 2 ¥ EURAEBR T -_=F X

Group as at 30 June 2023 are those set out in the audited financial statements
on pages 63 to 65 and pages 66 to 67 of this annual report, respectively.

The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2019, 2020, 2021 and
2022, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial statements of
the Company for the respective years and have been restated as appropriate.

The assets, liabilities and equity of the Group as at 30 June 2019, 2020,
2021 and 2022, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial
statements of the Company for the respective years.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

The Company’s current share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was proposed
by the Board on 14 November 2022 and approved by its shareholders on
14 December 2022. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or
rewards to the eligible participants for their contribution to the Group. The
Directors may, at its absolute discretion, offer any employee (whether full time
or part time, including any executive Directors, any non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to the Group,
any shareholder of any member of the Group, any adviser (professional
or otherwise) or consultant to the Group and any joint venture partner or
counterparty to business transactions of the Group, to take up share options
(the “Options”) to subscribe for Shares on the terms set out in the Scheme.
Details of the Scheme were provided in the Company’s circulars dated
14 November 2022.

Unless otherwise terminated by the Company’s shareholders at general
meetings in accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 14 December 2022,
after which no further Option will be granted or offered, but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting Option granted
prior to the expiry of this 10-year period or otherwise as may be required
in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme. The remaining life of the
Scheme is one year.

Y% - BERRE
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted
under the Scheme when aggregated with the maximum number of Shares in
respect of which Options may be granted under any other scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the Company’s issued Shares on the adoption date without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The maximum number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other Options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other scheme shall not exceed
30% of the Company’s issued Shares from time to time. No Option may be
granted to any person such that the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon the exercise of Options granted and to be granted to that
person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1%
of the Company’s issued Shares from time to time, unless the approval of
the Company’s shareholders is obtained. As at 1 November 2023, being the
latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report (the “Latest
Practicable Date”), the Scheme mandate limit was 52,754,816 Options,
and the Company may further grant 52,754,816 Options, representing
approximately 9.7% of the issued Shares of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

The period within which the Options must be exercised will be specified
by the Company at the time of grant, and must expire no later than 10
years from the date of grant of the Option (being the date on which the
Board makes a written offer of grant of the Option to the relevant proposed
beneficiary) unless the Company obtains separate shareholders’ approval in
relation to such grant.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of Options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of Options to a grantee, there is
no minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an Option
before it can be exercised.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The subscription price for Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of Shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited’s (the “Stock Exchange”) daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an Option within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).

Details of the movement of the Options pursuant to the Scheme during the
Year are set out in note 30 of the financial statements and are included in the
table as follows:

P 7S K% B AR R o)

ZATBIETHERNABEEARESETE - B1F
ERATEEFNESEOVRONEBORHKE R
(BERERB)EBEBMARZAER QR (B
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WP HUTE - R EE © AR A WA
BRERE - AR B ERENBRBERACH
SHEZHNEHEIB)XNEEZREVET -

BRENAFERBEZTE 2EDFBEENYT
RRMITES0 - WL T -

Adjustment Adjusted Adjusted
Number of upon the due to Options Date of Date of exercise
options held  completion of rights issue held at grant of expiry of price of
Category of at 30 June shares during the 30 June Options Options Options
participants 2022  consolidation Year 2023 (Note) (Note) per Share
o :3
~A=1+H AFE RIBECIZFE BRE BRE BRE
BEMN R1AE 5 HR AR AA=ZTH RLAH &% B 8 BRERR
SEEER BREHA TRERE mPRAE  HANBRE (FT) (FI3E) fTEE
Directors
=
Chan Yuk Foebe 12,451,807 (11,829,217) 2,221 624,811 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$7.91
GE 79187
Law Tze Ping Eric 12,451,807 (11,829,217 2,221 624,811 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$7.91
BETF 7918
Hau Chi Kit 8,141,566 (7,734,488) 1,452 408,530 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$7.91
S 7918
Ma Wing Yun Bryan 8,141,566 (7,734,488) 1,452 408,530 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$7.91
HRM 791
Tam Ching Ho 8,141,566 (7,734,488) 1,452 408,530 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$7.91
BHR 7918
Other Employees 49,807,230 (47,316,867) 8,880 2,499,243 3/11/2020 2/11/2023 HK$7.91
HitifgS 7915
Total 99,135,542 (94,178,765) 17,678 4,974,455

)
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Note: The vesting period and exercise period of the Options are both the period
between the date of grant of Options and date of expiry of Options.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws
and there was no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company are of the
view that all independent non-executive directors of the Company have met
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that they are independent.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 68 of this annual report and note 31(b) to the financial statements as
set out on page 175 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2023, no Company’s reserves are available for distribution to
the Shareholders (2022: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 96% of the Group’s total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 80%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 69% of the Group’s total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 39%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 45 to the
financial statements constituted fully exempted connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in this annual
report, there was no other transaction which would need to be disclosed as
connected transactions in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric

Mr. Tang Yiduan (appointed on 25 August 2023)

Mr. Shing Pan Yu James (appointed on 25 August 2023)

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (duties suspended on 12 October 2023)
Mr. Gao Ran (resigned on 25 August 2023)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Liu Yangyang (resigned on 25 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan

Mr. Tam Ching Ho

Mr. Hau Chi Kit

In accordance with clauses 99 and 102 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Tang Yiduan, Mr. Shing Pan Yu James, Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe and Mr. Hau
Chi Kit will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”).
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DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Pursuant to code provision B.2.3 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, if an independent non-
executive director serves more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
Mr. Hau Chi Kit was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
18 December 2013 and therefore would have served for more than 9 years
as at the date of the AGM. Mr. Hau Chi Kit has confirmed his independence
with reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Notwithstanding his years of service as an independent non-executive
Director, (i) the Board has assessed and reviewed the annual confirmation of
independence based on the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and affirmed that Mr. Hau Chi Kit remains independent; (ii) the Nomination
Committee has assessed and is satisfied of the independence of Mr. Hau
Chi Kit; and (iii) the Board is satisfied that through exercising scrutinising
and monitoring functions as an independent non-executive Director, Mr.
Hau Chi Kit has continued to provide independent and objective judgement
and advice to the Board to safeguard the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders. As such, the Board believes that Mr. Hau Chi Kit has the
character, integrity, independence and expertise to continue to fulfil his role as
an independent non-executive Director effectively and will continue to bring
valuable experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board and would
recommend Mr. Hau Chi Kit for re-election as an independent non-executive
Director at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 37 to 41 of this annual report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF LISTING RULES

No information was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe has entered into a service contract with the Company
commencing from 22 November 2004, which shall, subject to the
re-appointment as a director of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. Law Tze Ping
Eric has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of two years commencing from 3 March 2015, which shall, subject
to the reappointment as a director of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less
than three months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. Tang Yiduan has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of two years
commencing from 25 August 2023, which shall, subject to the reappointment
as a Director in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing to
the other. Mr. Shing Pan Yu James has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing from 25
August 2023, which shall, subject to the reappointment as a Director in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either
party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing to the other. The
term of his appointment was since renewed for a further term of two years
commencing from 3 March 2023.

Mr. Liu Yangyang has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of one year commencing from 26 May 2022, which shall,
subject to the reappointment as a Director in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s notice in writing to the other.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan was appointed for a term of two years as an
independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
28 February 2001. The term of his appointment was renewed for a further
two-year term commencing from 28 February 2003. Upon expiry of his
appointment on 27 February 2005, the Company did not renew the service
contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan until 24 March 2006. The Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun, Bryan for a further term
of three years, commencing from 1 April 2006. The term of his appointment
was since renewed for a further term of two years commencing from 1 April
2009, 1 April 2011, 1 April 2013, 1 April 2015, 1 April 2017, 1 April 2019,
1 April 2021 and 1 April 2023, respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho
commencing from 30 June 2007 to the then following annual general meeting
(i.e. 6 December 2007) of the Company. On 7 December 2007, the Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho for a term of two years
as an independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
7 December 2007. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed for a
further term of two years commencing from 7 December 2009, 7 December
2011, 7 December 2013, 7 December 2015, 7 December 2017, 7 December
2019 and 7 December 2021, respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Hau Chi Kit for a term
of two years commencing from 18 December 2013 as an independent non-
executive director. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed
for a further term of two years commencing from 18 December 2015, 18
December 2017, 18 December 2019 and 18 December 2021, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest in any transactions, arrangements or
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2023, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)),
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) in the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares
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Shares held capital of options capital of
Name of director Type of interest (long position) the Company held the Company
FiEROEE EARATS BT i ERARE BT
EEpE ERER (##8) BRABSL BRE BRABDLE
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric Beneficial interest N/A TNEA N/A i A 642,811 0.12
BFEEE EanlEm
Mr. Tang Yiduan Beneficial interest N/A i N/A i N/A i N/A i
Bt E Engn
Mr. Shing Pan Yu James Beneficial interest N/A TNE A N/A TNE A N/A NEA N/A TNE A
BmELE oy o
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe Beneficial interest 143,000 0.03 642,811 0.12
REZT EalEm
Mr. Gao Ran Beneficial interest 122,000 0.02 N/A N8 A N/A i@ A
=ELE Engn
Mr. Liu Yangyang Beneficial interest 166,000 0.03 N/A TiEF N/A i
Ezasats oy dn
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan Beneficial interest N/A TNEA N/A i A 408,530 0.08
Mr. Tam Ching Ho Beneficial interest N/A TNER N/A TNEA 408,530 0.08
BHREE By
Mr. Hau Chi Kit Beneficial interest N/A TNE A N/A TNEA 408,530 0.08
EEREE oy e
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares (Continued)
Save as disclosed herein, as at 30 June 2023, none of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company and their respective associates had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed or
taken to have under provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As far as the Directors are aware and the disclosure information published on
the Stock Exchange’s website, as at 30 June 2023, the following persons,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares in the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Capacity Approximate
Name Number of Ordinary shares (subject to the notes below) percentage interest
HE ZEKREE H10 (ZF T HEERER) BAORER D
Mr. Chan Yuen Tung Long position Beneficial owner 26.39%
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139,205,003
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at 30 June
2023, no other person had an interest or a short position in the shares and
underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE SCHEME OF THE GROUP

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had 111 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Compensation for the Group is made in reference to the prevailing
market conditions, individual performance, contributions as well as duties and
responsibilities.

The Scheme is in place to provide appropriate long-term incentive to key staff
of the Group including executive Directors. Details of the Scheme are set out
in section “Share Options Scheme” of this report and note 30 to the financial
statements in this annual report.

BASIS OF DETERMINING EMOLUMENT TO
DIRECTORS

The same remuneration philosophy is applicable to the Directors. Apart from
benchmarking against the prevailing market condition, the Company will
assess individual performances, contributions, duties and responsibilities in
determining the remuneration for each Director.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, there
is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Shares in the market as
required under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no Director is
considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group,
pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those businesses of which the
Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the audited consolidated
results of the Group for the Year.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE
COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

As disclosed in sections headed “Disclaimer of Opinion” and “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” in the independent auditors’ report of the Annual
Report, the auditors of the Company, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited (“McMillan Woods”) did not express an audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year as a result of
certain matters.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provisions in the
Model Code during the Year.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Events after the reporting
period” in this annual report, the Group had no significant events after 30
June 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

AUDITOR

McMillan Woods had been appointed as auditor of the Company with effect
from 31 May 2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Elite
Partners CPA Limited with effect from 27 May 2022.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2023 were audited by McMillan Woods which would retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the Shareholders to
re-appoint McMillan Woods as auditor of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in auditor of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

ON ORDER OF THE BOARD

Law Tze Ping Eric
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
1 November 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
B A BEN R &

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA ZENITH CHEMICAL GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited
liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China
Zenith Chemical Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 200, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

The Group had incurred a loss of approximately HK$195,242,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2023 and as at 30 June 2023, the Group had net
current liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$794,788,000 and
HK$947,719,000 respectively. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

As details in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have been undertaking a number of plans and measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position to enable the Group
to meet in full its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the next
twelve months. In supporting the Group’s going concern, the directors have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast prepared by management, which
covers a period up to 30 June 2024. Notwithstanding the material uncertainty
as mentioned above, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that a successful
outcome of these plans and measures could be achieved.

However, as of the approval date on these consolidated financial statements,
we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to satisfy ourselves
regarding the following: (i) the viability and outcome of the assumption that the
Group could receive a settlement from Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited
(“Mudanjiang BD Power”), a deconsolidated subsidiary, for a written-
off receivable of approximately HK$293 million out of the proceeds upon
its voluntary liquidation (“Voluntary Liquidation”); (i) whether a settlement
plan to defer the repayment schedule of a bond payable of approximately
HK$128 million (‘Bond Payable”) could be reached between the Company
and the bondholders; (i) whether the Group’s idle right-of-use assets and
buildings can be sold at a consideration of not less than their market value
as of 30 June 2023, which was approximately HK$262 million (‘Proposed
Realisation”); (iv) whether the amount of approximately HK$152,770,000
due to the Purchaser will not be demanded for repayment if the land disposal
of Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited is suspended (“Suspended Disposal’);
and (v) whether the Group is able to raise equity funds (“Proposed Fund
Raising”). There were no alternative audit procedures that we could adopt
to ascertain the outcome of the Voluntary Liquidation, Proposed Realization,
Suspended Disposal and Proposed Fund Raising; and obtain evidence of
bondholders’ consent to defer the repayment schedule of the Bond Payable.
These limitations in scope constitute a limitation of our audit. Hence, we were
unable to assess the appropriateness or reasonableness of assumptions
adopted in the Group’s cash flow forecast in supporting the use of the going
concern basis in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.
As a result of these limitations and uncertainties, we were unable to form an
opinion as to whether the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.
Should the Group fail to achieve the abovementioned plans and measures, it
might not be able to continue as a going concern and to settle its obligations
and commitments, and adjustments may have to be made to write down the
Group’s assets to amounts that can be realised, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
adjustments, which could be both material and pervasive, have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the Directors in discharging the responsibilities
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. We report solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because
of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of
our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BAZBE®RE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number — PO6633

24/F, Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

1 November 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

FEXCTREERAT

mEEER

TR =FFR

PROFIT OR LOSS

2023 2022
—E-=F —E &
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiEE FHExT FAT
(Re-presented)
(Fe=71))
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue = 9 100,847 198,664
Cost of sales SHE RS (105,947) (166,181)
Gross (loss)/profit E(&) R (5,100) 32,483
Other income and other gains or losses H AU B2 B At Yoz ok s 18 10 8,319 50,699
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition WM B AR MZEERE ke
of a subsidiary 40 2,611 -
Loss on reclassification from assets classified B0 fEARFEHENEESH
as held for sale D EE - (5,393)
Reversal/(provision) of allowance for BB R B R D
receivables, net (%) 358
— trade receivables — U E ZERR 163 4,004
— prepayments, deposits and other —TEFE -~ FIe REMER
receivables FRIH (14,991) (27,468)
Administrative expenses TR (95,559) (112,233)
Other operating expenses HAbE &R (13,319) (42,771)
Share of result of an associate DI E D EFER 21 - (137)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment Y% - B RERERIE (359,411) (4,371)
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary RIHRA AR B AR 2 e 41 404,680 =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HERB AR 2 W 42 - 10,220
Loss from operations BEER (72,607) (94,967)
Finance costs BTG R AR 12 (113,926) (166,030)
Loss before tax BRI 518 (186,533) (260,997)
Income tax expense SRR 13 - -
Loss for the year from continuing RERECEEBENEFEESE
operations 14 (186,533) (260,997)
Discontinued operations BARIERE R
Loss for the year from discontinued operations R E B & IF& &L EIFHNAFEE
B 41, 42 (8,709) (812,824)
Loss for the year NEEERE (195,242) (1,073,821)

63



64

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)
meRE*(E)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

2023 2022
—E-=F —E &
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BiEE FHExT FAT
(Re-presented)
(Fe=71))
Attributable to: EqL -
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEZZ N
Continuing operations FIEACE TS (147,167) (251,382)
Discontinued operations BT (8,709) (812,824)
(155,876) (1,064,206
Non-controlling interests IR A
Continuing operations FIE AR BT (39,366) (9,615)
(195,242) (1,073,821)
(Restated)
€ E=p)
Loss per share EREE 17
From continuing and discontinued operations R E#4E K& B & 1F KSR
- Basic (HK cents) — ZHARCGE) (49.84) (957.54)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#5E (BL) (49.84) (957.54)
From continuing operations REFELEES
— Basic (HK cents) — ZARGE) (47.06) (226.19)
— Diluted (HK cents) —#5E OB (47.06) (226.19)
From discontinued operations RE DK IECEETS
— Basic (HK cents) —EARCGEALD (2.78) (731.39)
— Diluted (HK cents) 10z 11)) (2.78) (731.35)




FEXCIREERAT —T—=FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meBEaREMEEBAR

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

2023 2022
—EC=F T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
(Re-presented)
(#==7)
Loss for the year AEEEE (195,242) (1,073,821)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income BREEEME2E(BEX) WA :
after tax:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ~ BE7Z A gEEF H A2 5o HAE -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating S FINETGIE H =5
foreign operations (7,571) 1,567
Share of other comprehensive expense of DRI E D EEMEERAY
an associate - (592)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or BRI EANRNBRARMEFHEE
loss on deconsolidation of a subsidiary BamERER (31,872 =
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or HEMBARMERDEEER 2
loss on disposal of a subsidiary PEH ZRE - 6,312
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for X EEHM2E(BxX) WA & HIKRHE
the year, net of tax (39,443) 7,287
(234,685) (1,066,534)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AEE2EXZEKE
Continuing operations SR TS (194,104) (260,022)
Discontinued operations BRI (40,581) (806,512)
(234,685) (1,066,534)
Attributable to: FEAh :
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZZ N
Continuing operations FEIE T (152,888) (249,195)
Discontinued operations BT (40,581) (806,512)
(193,469) (1,055,707)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR i A
Continuing operations R E 5T (41,216) (10,827)

(234,685) (1,066,534)

65



66

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 30 June 2023 R=—F - =FNHA=+H

e PRI R

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FHET FHET
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment W - E k& 18 389,974 840,473
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 228,886 247,791
Financial assets at fair value through BEATFERFABER(RAEE
profit or loss (“FVTPL?) FTABR ) EREE 20 2,075 =
Investment in an associate REGE R 2 IKE 21 - -
Other intangible assets HEtmEpEE 22 - -
620,935 1,088,264
Current assets MEEE
Inventories FE 24 2,125 22,197
Trade receivables JEWE 5 HRIE 25 5,430 29,759
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  FB[fFKIE + 7] & K E A fEU IR 26 26,360 73,803
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEABR L SREE 20 116 1,971
Bank and cash balances RTINS T 27 2,898 12,874
36,929 140,604
Assets classified as held for sale DEARFELENEE 28 8,765 9,379
45,694 149,083
Total assets HMEE 666,629 1,238,247
Capital and reserves ERK GHE
Share capital R A 29 52,755 266,056
Reserves (0] 32 (1,008,112 (1,139,224)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANA RIEA AFE(ERERR (955,357) (873,168)
Non-controlling interests el 7,638 48,318
Total deficit B AAERE (947,719) (824,850)




FEXCIREERAT —T—=FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

mEMBMRRE(E)
As at 30 June 2023 R —ZFE - =F NA=+H
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FHET FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans RITER 36 10,734 13,267
Bonds payable ERES 37 740,387 916,770
Convertible bonds AR ES 39 22,745 16,538
773,866 946,575
Current liabilities i R=Ri=t
Trade payables JENE 5RIE 33 39,955 57,638
Tax payable FERTARIR - 815
Other payables and accruals H A FE T 5RIE R FE ST RN IE 34 400,011 747,748
Other loans HER 35 48,247 120,400
Bank loans IRITER 36 8,948 9,115
Bonds payable ERES 37 324,319 149,384
Lease liabilities HEAE 38 - 1,483
Convertible bonds Al AR (E S 39 19,002 29,939
840,482 1,116,522
Total liabilities HwWaE 1,614,348 2,063,097
Total equity and liabilities HEZRAE 666,629 1,238,247
Net current liabilities RBEERE (794,788) (966,539)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBERE (173,853) 121,725
Net liabilities E8EFE (947,719) (824,850)

Approved and authorised for issued by the Board of Directors on 1 November

2023 are signed on its behalf by:

Law Tze Ping Eric

Shing Pan Yu James

BTV BRE
Acting Chief Executive Officer Executive Director
R TIBAAE HITEE

RIB_=F+—A - REEFSHERKET

FEWHIATALTRRESE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTREARLE
Convertible
Issued Share bonds Non-
share Share option Exchange equity  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
GE) BhRE hRES FER
e R EE B PHEGE BLfE E5) gt ki st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THr T THr Tk TR T ThE Thr ThE
MNote320))  (Note320J)  (Note320)il)  (Note 32)v)
(aksom)  (Hfezoemm)  (fezsobm)  (HisEon)
At July 2021 R-Z-—-E+f-H 160,371 130,318 19,385 114,161 21,461 (416,132 29,564 59,145 88,709
Loss for the year KEEER - - - - - (1064208 (1,084,206 0615 (1,073821)
Other comprehensive income: Bt 2EWA
- Exchange differences -EREE - - - 27719 - - 27719 (1,212) 1567
— Share of other comprehensive -HEBEREA
expense of an associate 2ARY - - - (592) - - (592) - (592)
- Release upon disposal of asubsidiary  — HEHB AR - - - 6,312 - - 6,312 - 6,312
Total comprehensive income for the year A2 ERAEE - - - 8,499 - (1064208 (1,055,707) (10827)  (1,066,534)
Redemption of convertiole bonds EETARES - - - - (14,648) 14,648 - - -
Recognition of equity componentof R AR &)
convertiole bonds Enip - - - - 5,602 - 5,602 - 5,602
Issue of shares on rights issue Rtk TR 88,685 17737 - - - - 106422 - 106422
Placing of shares RERH 17,000 23951 - - - - 40951 = 40951
Lapsed of share options BRERN - - (3797) - - 3797 - - -
Changes in equity for the year ENEREE 105,685 41,688 (3,797) 8,499 ©.048) (1,045,761 (902,739) (10,827) (913,559)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 RZE-—FxA=1ER
“£-"Ft+A-A 266,056 172,006 15,588 122,660 12,415 (1,461,893) (873,168) 48,318 (824,850)
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - (155,876) (155,876) (39,366) (195,242)
Other comprehensive expense: H2HEREX
- Exchange differences -EREE - - - (5,721) - - (5,721) (1,850) (7,5M)
- Release upon deconsolidationof ~ ~BIHFAAFHERR
a subsidliary KR - - - (31,872 - - (31,872 - (31,872
Total comprehensive expense AEEEAFR AR
for the year - - - (37,593) - (155,876) (193,469) (41,216) (234,685)
Shares issued upon conversion of ERTRREFREIRG
convertiole bonds 35,400 - - - (5,602) - 29,798 - 29,798
Capital reorganisation EXEq (286,383) 286,383 - - - - - - -
lssuie of shares on rights issue RithEs T 37,662 37,682 - - - - 75,364 - 75,364
Recognition of equity component of BRI AR BAAERT
convertible bonds - - - - 6,118 - 6,118 - 6,118
Acquisition of a subsidiary WERBAR - - - - - - - 536 53
Changes n equity for the year EREREY) (213,301) 324,065 - (37,593) 516 (155,876) (62,189) (40,680) (122,869)
At 30 June 2023 RZE-=%~A=1H 52,755 496,071 15,588 85,067 12,931 (1,617,769) (955,357) 7,638 (947,719)




FEXCIREERAT —T—=FFH

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& EBRERE
Loss before tax KRB AT 1B (195,242) (1,073,821)
Adjustments for: ELAT A% :
Finance costs BTG R AR 115,435 179,464
Interest income F2WA (4) (65)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - WEREEITE 56,399 78,377
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6,941 9,053
Share of result of an associate DI E D EFEE - 137
Impairment for prepayments, deposits and other TERIE -« 518 R E A RUEIE
receivables, net BB 18,533 22,973
(Reversal)/provision of allowance for trade receivables FtIEURE 5 BRIBHEE M (BE ),/
Rt (818) 3,311
Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment on inventories ~ 1F SR EZ#E  (#E]) 3,563 (3,726)
Loss/(gain) on fair value of financial assets at BRATEFABR EREEZ
FVTPL, net AEEEE, () FE 47 (1,769)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HERATEFABSZSREE
2 W - (191)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary L EHTE A Rz Y= - (10,220)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment Yz - B REERE 359,411 646,212
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE - 46,526
Loss on reclassification from assets classified BOBAREHEZEESEN
as held for sale DI B - 5,393
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary R A ABRMIB A R A lkes (404,680) =
Forfeiture of deposit received for partial disposal of a  JRUEE D HEMB AR 2 2 W4
subsidiary - (80,238)
Income from consideration received for disposal of HERIHRE ARWB AR
Deconsolidated Subsidiary ERERER KA - (3,800)
Gain on early redemption of bonds R ERES K= (11,500) (10,321)
Gain on conversion of convertible bonds s R R S A IS (198) =
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a WM B A B 2 ERE W
subsidiary (2,611) -
Operating cash flows before working capital EEESEBHZERERERE
changes (54,724) (147,701)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FE®RL, /(3En) 11,973 (13,408)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables FEUE BERTER A (3 0) 1,607 (10,862)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and other TERIE -« 5] R EAEUEIE
receivables Vo 14,991 40,053
Decrease in financial assets at FVTPL BEATEFABRZSREE
B 1,808 549
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERE SERIECR D), /50 (5,043) 7,090
Increase in other payables and accruals L Ath S 5RIE SR FE R T SR IE IS AN 30,171 114,215
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KREEBELE (R ZES 783 (10,062)
Interest received BUFIE 4 65
Interest paid BRFLE (11,738) (16,142)
Net cash used in operating activities SRR AT (10,951) (26,139
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
=1 iﬁﬁulbi%(%ﬁ)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEZEESHRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEMZX - BENEE (8,010) (43,227)
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary Hﬁl,ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%@ﬁjzg‘fﬁﬁﬁi\ 7 -
Deposit received for assets classified as held for sale iﬁﬁﬁ—rf’ﬁ HENEENBERGT 1,354 5,276
Proceeds from disposal of deconsolidated subsidiary — HE & IF4r4 ABRKMIE A B A5 708 - 3,800
Net cash outflow on deconsolidation of a subsidiary ,Z&Hﬁ/\)\,ﬁf?ﬁﬂ‘%’&ﬁj B9 F3R 27 (1,774) =
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HEHEARRFRES R - (1)
Net cash used in investing activities & ERETA 2R e F5E (8,423) (34,152)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEETH2HESRE
Proceeds from rights issue HARFT1S IR 75,364 106,422
Placing of shares B E AR - 40,951
Payment of lease liabilities HEEEMNK (1,483) (2,275)
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BATO AR EHFTS 5E 28,560 =
Redemption of bonds ,ﬂa [Bl{&EZ (89,312) (137,398)
Repayment of bank loans RITERER (2,285) (3,676)
Proceeds from other loans HEME RS 50E - 119,380
Repayment of other loans HBERER (1,259) (65,459)
Redemption of convertible bonds g B AT AR (E 25 - (31,857)
Net cash generated from financing activities RERBELE RS 55 9,585 26,088
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERFEESEEEBER 2R FHE
EQUIVALENTS (9,789) (84,203)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes e e s & (187) 302
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING F#BHEERBELZEEHER
OF YEAR 12,874 46,775
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FRESRRESEEER
YEAR 2,898 12,874
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R&FRHREZEER DT
Bank and cash balances RITRIR BT 2,898 12,874




FEXCTREERAT

TR =FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 December 2000 and continued
in Bermuda on 24 April 2017. The address of its registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.

The address of its principal place of business is Room 4007, 40th
Floor, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”), which
is also the functional currency of the Company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$195,242,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2023. As at 30 June 2023, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately 794,788,000 and net liabilities of
approximately 947,719,000. These conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

—RER
ARERZEEEF+ALATEHEHS
MR AERRERAT - W22 —+
FNAZ T+ AEBFERFS - Hifftirs
B2 i 7 Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda °
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2657 FE HAE 40184007 = AR ARG 7
BEMERZMAR AR (THRAT )R E
7 o

ARRAR|RREEBARR] © 76 WHHRERIAE
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U NEPNSIEESE SR Rl b e
#o3

FEGERE

HE-_Z-_=FA=1HILEE A&
B & 4 #5418 49 195,242,00078 7T © A& E
R-E_=FEXA=1+BHZr8aEZF
B #) H794,788,000/8 T R B EFEL B
947,719,000/ 7T ° ZEFM A BN FEEKN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management has
given careful consideration to the current and anticipated future liquidity
of the Group and the ability of the Group to achieve positive cash
flows from operations in immediate and long terms. The Directors have
reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast prepared by management,
which cover the period up to 30 June 2024. The Directors are of the
opinion that, taking into account of the plans and measures below, the
Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within twelve
months from 30 June 2023. In order to strengthen the Group’s capital
base and maintain sufficient financing necessary for future business
development, the Directors have taken the following measures:

— Following the deconsolidation (as detailed in note 41),
Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited (“Mudanjiang BD
Power”), the then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, is
in the process of voluntary liquidation. The Company expects
a written-off receivable due from Mudanjiang BD Power of
approximately HK$293 million will be settled out of the proceeds
of its liquidation;

= The Company is in the process of negotiating for a settlement
of a bond payable to several bondholders in the amount of
approximately HK$128 million. In the event that a proposed
settlement is reached between the Company and bondholders,
the Company expects the payment schedule of relevant bond
payable in the amount of approximately HK$96 million to be
deferred or discounted;

- Other loans of the Group of approximately HK$45 million out
of approximately HK$48 million as at 30 June 2023 has been
refinanced in August 2023 and will be matured in July 2024;

- The Group had several idle right-of-use assets and buildings
located in Mudanjiang City, Heilongjiang Province, the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) and Hong Kong with a total carrying
amount of approximately HK$98 million and approximately
HK$63 million respectively. These right-of-use assets and
buildings are available to be disposed of, which have a total
market value of approximately HK$262 million with reference to
the estimated market approach analysis of the right-of-use assets
and buildings carried out by an independent third-party valuer, in
the event the Group requires further financing;

BHEREHE®

PREUR ST IERER - EEEEREEZE
REBE BB RBHRKTEES - ARA
SEARRAZEBEEFARSRE 26
H e EEEEHEEERENREEE_Z
ZHEANA=TRHENASER S RETE
Al e BERA - BEERATTEIRGERE - &
EEEERHNEEES RELERESR
& WEZZT-=FA=+HEMN+ (&
RABTEIHNI EET o /it AEE
ZEAREN K i R AR B R RSB EFT
R ES EECHEEUATHER

—  RUSAAEGHERRREL)
AAFEE 2 2 AMBATATE
HREERAR([HATERRE )
EE(TABEE - AR TBHM
B ST BB ROB 09203 B
BT RAORMS B RE R AR
i

—  ARRERENETREFFEALN
H128E BB TESEITHER WA
NAIRESFEE AEKEZENE -
ARIBHESENABEESTHHE
A FEHE S 1S SR ERRR #8 T IR E sk AL
b=

— AKREER-ZE-=F£XA=+HHY
A8E BB T EMBERF 4B BB
ER=ZZ_=F)\AB@E  WHER
“EEL AR

— AEEEFEAREMBE(HE])E
EIARSITRESHEEERE
FREEERET  REAEDRL
HISEEBITRANEIEBBIT ° %
EEREEEREFAIHLE - 2%
B = H R ERNEHE A E R E
FETWEFTMISED T - BMELY
262E BB MEAEBET i —
WEE



FEXCIREERAT —T—=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

2. GOING CONCERN BASIS (continued) 2.

- On 28 December 2020, a subsidiary of the Group, Heihe
Longjiang Chemical Limited (‘HLCL”) entered into an agreement
(the “Disposal Agreement”) with Heihe Longhe Investment
Management Limited (“HLIML”), an independent third party,
pursuant to which HLCL had agreed to transfer the land use
rights of certain lands located in the PRC at an aggregate
consideration of approximately Renminbi (‘RMB”) 156,440,000,
comprising approximately RMB139,440,000 with land
compensation of RMB17,000,000 (the “Land Disposal”).

Although the Land Disposal was suspended by vendor,
the management is of the view that the other payables of
approximately RMB139,440,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$152,770,000) due to HLIML will not be recalled in case
HLCL is under normal operation;

= The Group will consider equity fund raising activities to meet the
financial obligations; and

- The Group will apply cost cutting measures to reduce
administrative expenses and cash outflows for the next twelve
months for the reporting period.

Based on the above measures, the Directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
the consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s
assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities
as current assets and liabilities, respectively. The effect of these
adjustments had not been reflected on these consolidated financial
statements.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and
disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSs

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for
the first time for the annual reporting period commencing on 1 July
2022:

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a

HKAS 37 Contract

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework
HKFRS 3

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
Project 2018-2020

Amendments to
Accounting Guideline 5
(Revised)

Merger Accounting Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for Common Control
Combinations

The amendments listed above did not have any material impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current period.
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4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSSs (Continued)

New and amended standards that have been
issued but not yet effective

A number of new and amended standards have been published that
are not yet effective for reporting period beginning on 1 July 2022 and
have not been early adopted by the Group. These new and revised
HKFRSs include the following which may be relevant to the Group:

4.
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Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
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Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BEAGHERFEIR 2B — D HABERREIIERE

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BRI ERIE1R 5] — NSRS EE

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BEETERE1R REBM B RS L BB ®EF 29 2 1E85] — T BURHKER

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting Estimates

BEEERIESHR 2B — St ER

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements

BESTEAETRRESUBMELENETIR 2 ER] —HERRE

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction

BRI ERIF129 2 BF] — BB - GEANEE KB EEBREERIE

Amendments to HKAS 12 — International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

ARG ERE125R 2B —BRRB A E - RERA

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback
BEAGERIFE169 2 5] —ERERNEERE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
BB EERE105 R BB ER R8I 2 E5] — KB B EEBE ARG EhE 2
WEELHEITE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) — Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
BEREEST (BT —MBHRERNEV —ERAHBERERERERNEHERN I
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability
BAETHERIFE215% 2 (85T — iz Al it

1 January 2024

—EoNE—-A—H
1 January 2024
—EoNFE—-HA—H
1 January 2023
—ET-=F—H—H
1 January 2023
—E=F—H—H
1 January 2024
—ZE-FE—-HA—H

1 January 2023

—ZE=F—H—H

1 January 2023
(except for HKAS 12
paragraph 4A and 88A
which are immediately
effective upon issue of
the amendments)
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4.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRSSs (Continued)

New and amended standards that have been
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

The Directors have performed an assessment on these new and
amended standards and have concluded on a preliminary basis that
the adoption of these new and amended standards is not expected
to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 6.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30
June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date
the control ceases.

4.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for
the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of
the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@) Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal

group that is classified as held for sale).

(b) Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition
of a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to

calculate the goodwill.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Continued)

(c)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of
CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwiill is
allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing
the goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued)

5. FESHER@m)

(c)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that associate and (i) the Group’s
entire carrying amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If
an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and

does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in associates are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is

classified as held for sale).

(d) Joint arrangements

(d)

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement.
When assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder

has the practical ability to exercise that right.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Joint arrangements (Continued)

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets,
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement. The Group has assessed the type of each of its
joint arrangements and determined them to all be joint ventures.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill, which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Joint arrangements (Continued)

5. FESHER@m)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the

share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a joint venture that results in
a loss of joint control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that joint venture and (ii) the Group’s
entire carrying amount of that joint venture (including goodwill)
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, the Group continues to apply the equity method and

does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in joint venture are stated at cost less impairment losses, unless
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is

classified as held for sale).
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i1)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKS$, which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets
or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured at
fair value in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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fRE SRR MR ()

=FANHA=THIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation
The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on

disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing

rate.
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fRE SRR MR ()

=FANHA=THIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than properties under construction as described below).
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of
the lease, and 30-50 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Pipelines and trench 30 years

Plant and machinery
Furniture, office equipment
and motor vehicles

10 to 30 years
5to 10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and equipment pending installation, and is stated
at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

5. FESHEXR@m)

(f)

M - BERRE

ME - BERREBEDREESRHRR
mak RIS AREIR B WA (TR
BEOERMERIN) - WE - BER
REBEAANBHRRATERERR
FORMEER (1A ) £ e MR
MARE °

B 8118 B B 2 RREE B R B Al
BEERARNEE RER EFTEZEE
BAZIERT  HEKA T 5T AR
EREESERABEVEE(RER
H)  FTAAMBERRERNESS
B EEER ©

WE - B KR A B AR R IR B LA
SHER AR EFIBEEZLE - RN
HETAIEAFHGERE - F2FX
(N
BF LATH & #isk30=
50F 2B E

%ﬁ SRS 104

ERERE 30%F
T Rt 2s 102304
&R WAE 57104
%1%&/1%

RrEE AIERFHARNENES

RERSHRETRT LI FE
(@A) - mEREEEESN 2R

IBRTEEEANDR -

FRTRREHEEG ZBFREE AR
FREZRE - THIEKAIRBIER
BARR - WA & E R L AR
SRITE o

HEME - BER&REZ WEHER
REEZHEMSRBFEERME
B2 Z8  TIEERIER o



FEXCIREERAT —T—=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. FESTHE®@®
(Continued)
(g) Leases (9) HE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.

() The Group as a lessee
Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group
are primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

(i)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-
of-use assets.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index
or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of
the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a
lease that is not originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a
separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions
which arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the Group
took advantage of the practical expedient not to assess
whether the rent concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as negative lease
payments in profit or loss in the period in which the event
or condition that triggers the rent concessions occurred.

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Other intangible assets

(i)

Internally-generated intangible assets -
research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group’s
development is recognised only if all of the following
conditions are met:

- The technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

- Management intends to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

- There is ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

— [t can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic benefits;

- Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

- The expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 5 years. Where no
internally generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Other intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Intangible assets acquired separately -
patents and trademarks

Patents and trademarks are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 20 years.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, being their fair value
at the date of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses,
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately. An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected from use
or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Other intangible assets (Continued)

(i

(i) Intangible assets acquired separately -
patents and trademarks (Continued)
(i)  Technical know-how
Technical know-how is measured initially at purchase
cost and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of 10 years.

(i) Trade name and exclusive right
Trade name and exclusive right are measured initially
at purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 25 years.

(iij) Construction contracts
Construction contracts are measured initially at fair
value and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
the contract period of 1-2 years.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Contract assets and contract liabilities

5. FESHER@m)

)

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue
before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL”) in accordance with
the policy set out in note 5(cc) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognizes the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding

receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are

not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,

the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective

interest method.

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial (k)

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial

instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

()

Financial assets
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are

recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

(i)

Debt investments
Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one
of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI") - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of ECL, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to
profit or loss.

FVTPL if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings.
It is not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income.

(m) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

5. FESHER@m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for

ECL.

(o) Assets held for sale and discontinued (o)

operations

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. The Group must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of

classification.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of the asset’s or disposal group’s

previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group (i.e. the
operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished
from the rest of the Group) that either has been disposed of, or is
classified as held for sale, and which represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or is part of
a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary

acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

RehBRELEHEEE
ReRRESEARRERTRTH
Re  RITRAMSBEREESHE
B AR AR IR 5 S B
LEESANEEZPRARZEHRR
BIERE (REBE=EANER) -
REXHEEAFKAEMRSER
—BANBPITES - Tt AGERSE
MERNRS KRS SER B AR
7o R RBESSERB IRBHE
BRI -

FEHEZEERKRILEE

WEFRBDEERREAS 2REE
EREZBBHERHMIFBRGE
EREE - APERBEEXRERA
RRATARE ERATREREN
REESEEMRS AR R]
HHER - THRRSTE AL -
AEBVEHBEFHARE  XEB
FERI N85 B B AT —F A EMRTE
BT TEKEE °

RARAREZFRDEENREE
METIREESRERS AEREE
BEEARBEREEEERME 2R
BEE -

RIERERERBENEF RTART
EZAREBEARID - BNEKLEER
RBReRE R BAKE 2 EMEDE
Bry BEAR-BEBEEXEXER
REEEHE - RAE BRI
E-BREBTIREBRIEEME L
By HRWEEFITEEERNZ
MEBARE -

97



98

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #;% — % —

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

=FANHA=THIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

(q)

Assets held for sale and discontinued
operations (Continued)

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the component meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs
when the component is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount
is presented in the statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

- The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation;
and

- The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement
to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the
assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued
operation.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r) Financial guarantee contracts

5. FESHER@m)

(r)

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially

measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

- the amount determined in accordance with the ECL model

under HKFRS 9; and

- the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance

with the principles of HKFRS 15.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for

assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values are
accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the

cost of the investment.

(s) Convertible bonds

(s)

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the bonds
into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion
price are regarded as compound instruments consisting of
a liability and an equity component. At the date of issue, the
fair value of the liability component is estimated using the
prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.
The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible
bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert
the bonds into equity of the Group, is included in equity as
convertible bonds reserve. The liability component is carried as a
liability at amortised cost using the effective interest method until

extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
equity components of the convertible bonds based on their
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion related

to the equity component is charged directly to equity.

MBEREREXN

BITSRIRA WOTE H AR IRES RSB R —
B RAE - ZRESVRAT B
8 BERIRATRE R8RSt

2
=
2

— REFBMBHEEREINR
MEHEEBREREENS
B R

— iR ERBEREM
&£ E165% R AR
WARGtER(ER) °

MEEERODTHERBES TERE
& Wz ERERE SR ERNEE
HEE - ARERBERHIEN T A8
FEHIFRIA - KA IR FE=
TTARERBNEEE -

i A& R R B B RS E A T 3R
BREEEER  AFEERERA
AR TR R E RN —&E 7

R ES

BT HA AR EE R E S ES
BRARTEHE 2 Bs TAE L ATRK
BEFORRASEARTA  EEEE
ERERD c RBEITHREY - BEH
P2 RFHEFNRBRESHRRER 2 E
AT 5 B8R 5 - BITABERESRZ
S IAEB ARG Z R FEM
BEZEBRAERFAEABESBRAN
SEESNEREEE - Hit A=
A ES R o BEHONE
PR R BB RAE  BEE
A B 2 X P AR B i [ s A 3
1k e

RBRABRIBAEBESZHITE R 2
HERmERAHERESZ B E R E
SmED ZRDE - BRAERI D ZH
BEENESPHIER ©

929



100

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #;% — % —

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

=FANHA=THIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

(v)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

(t)

(u)

(v)

5. FESHEXR@m)

B REMENTRIR

B 5 RE A ORRA TEHR R
R R R ER SR A
iHE RHURPETA - ERER
T AR ARSI

ERIA

T B BN R BB ERE
BER s BEREARISERS T
AEH o ARFFRBITHRERS T AR
BT 1S 2KIE (N R BATARAN) A
(EEO

REEF AW

B (R BRBORBE - AEER
Rzs - BVRETE R 0B IS0 AARIRS
SRR O] R I | T S R

7
o ©

BREB B REmERE (H—
MR IRTS) R — RF KRB R A
BTV m S AR

2 RERERS RIS - M 2 DA TS &
h—IARE - BIRETI 2R EmE
1 B8 7B 49 3= 75 HO A FR 15 00 T o B i) e

S
e

- BAKEEYN FFRERE
I R AN S B B 40 iR (A HO 7

- AEEMNENRIREIBILE
E - ZEBEEREIZNR 2
Bl P - %

— AEENENLREEHARE
EEEARAEMNEE  BA%
B S0 e ERRKIAR
B AR BIITRER

BRI WERNEPESE TR mIAR
TSP IR B R B FERR o



FEXCTREERAT

TR =FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration,
i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a

performance obligation

(i)  Output method
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group’s performance completed to date,
the Group recognizes revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice.

(i)  Principal versus agent
When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v) Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)
(ii)  Principal versus agent (Continued)
The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

(iijj Other income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment are established.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Employee benefits

(i)

(i)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits schemes

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employees’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group’s contributions to the MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred. 5% of relevant income
vests immediately upon the completion of service in the
relevant service period, while the remaining portion vests in
accordance with the MPF Scheme’s vesting scales. Where
employees leave the MPF Scheme prior to the full vesting
of the employer’s contributions, the amount of forfeited
contributions is used to reduce the contributions payable
by the Group. During the Year, no contribution was
forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who had
left the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions
under the MPF Scheme which may be used by the Group
to reduce the contribution payable in future years. As at 30
June 2023 and 2022, there were no forfeited contributions
which were available for utilisation by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contributions to the MPF Scheme.
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Employee benefits (Continued)

(x)

(i) Retirement benefits schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions. Under the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme, the contributions once made by the employer
will vest fully with the employees, and no forfeiture could
be made by the Group. Accordingly, there is no forfeited
contribution available for the Group to reduce its existing
level of contributions to the retirement benefit scheme in
future years.

(iii) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services are measured at
the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(x)

v)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share option reserve). At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number
of equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to retained
profits/(accumulated losses). When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/(accumulated losses).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

v)

(2

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of the
loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

5. FESHEXR@m)

v)

(2

ER-97%ZNE )
ERBSEREERTRRNLEY
BINKBENEAETESE  BRA
—REEHER - A E B R
B E o TR ERES B%
BEBIANERREIRRNIRE
WA - DRABRFUER B
PRARIR o

P B EERATIRNEEBREAER

BB
BRAEEEAKERE TR
B P F A O (61 e S R R B A B
T MBS -

EREEER BRI EER AR
AR B HE R R M e WE R
W EARFARBERANBR T BN E
A TR EIR A R s R

EH TS5 R B BRAT B SR A Y A 25
AR RBUNABE - REWIATER
HEERRITHSNENERNAF
BEZRNEZEREE -

RIEMEASBEELRXRER
5 A A 5 BT L RN B B BUE BY
(3 4 R SR AR B R AN ) A 8 KK T 4 B
T RNEYHRE IR R R o

B R B & E B B & DA AR
AFIRR + AR B E EE HY AT 458 A 6 1
REREEIERATER



FEXCTREERAT

T =FFR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

5. FESHER@m)

(aa) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(aa) Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available

to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same

taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting

for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant
tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is
reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected

value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(bb) Impairment of non-financial assets

5. FESHER@m)

The carrying amounts of other non-financial assets are reviewed
at each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the

cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit

whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is

treated as a revaluation increase.

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at
FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets,
as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these financial
assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
Forward-looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration of
various external sources of actual and forecast economic
information that relate to the Group’s core operations.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial

asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term;
and

@iy adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit
risk when the asset has external credit rating of “investment
grade” in accordance with the globally understood
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset
has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition
of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the
changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on
the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(i1)

(iii)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty; or

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event; or

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

= it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)
(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
including when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes
the amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together
with any additional amounts expected to be drawn down
in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future
financing needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-
looking information.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent with
the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(cc) Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it
incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting
date, except for assets for which simplified approach was
used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of financial position.

5. FESHER@m)

(cc) TRMEERSHNEERE®

(v)

AHEEBREZTERRE
(1)

HRPBEREH  AEEE
ERBRERNTAGR &
BABERBONBER T AT
5k BEABERRERAE
BRZAOBAEABRLENEE
B 1R 1A L 0 RS S RO TR 9 5K
B OREAEEESRAZER
A~ BB AR E AR 77 4 EX
M SRR o

A RE R E— A% & HIAE
EReHRBEEEREZS
HIrE—HeR T A ERR
B ERAREEMEBEEZE
HEREEBRZ R T BN
& AIAKERARE QB
HER2EARRAEEBES
BT EBEERE - EERBIL
TEZ BRI °

AEER 2N T ANER
R ER SN EE - BB

BREERRE HEREEET
HERE  HERATEFAR

EERAZEBETAZERE
BRoN - MEIRBEREMER
WARERIL NI BB RER
At R BRI MOR KBRS
BEEREE

115



116

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #;% — % —

fRE SRR MR ()

=FANHA=THIFFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(dd) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

A

®)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

)
(i)

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

(i)

(v)

(V)

(vii)

(viil)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(dd) Related parties (Continued)

(B)  (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

@iy  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

(ee) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(ff)

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 5, the Directors of the Company are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(@) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on
the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient future funding which
are depends on the results of the measures undertaking by
the Group as described in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(b) Legal titles of certain buildings

As stated in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements,
the legal titles of certain buildings were not yet obtained as at 30
June 20283. Despite the fact that the Group has not obtained the
relevant legal titles, the Directors have determined to recognise
those buildings as property, plant and equipment on the grounds
that they expect the legal titles should be obtained in future with
no major difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling
those buildings.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting

policies (Continued)

(c) Significant increase in credit risk
As explained in note 5(cc), ECL are measured as an allowance
equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for
stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its
credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.
HKFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a significant increase
in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has
significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative
and quantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information.

(d) Consolidation of entity with 50% equity interest
holding
Although the Group owns 50% of the equity interest in
Mudanjiang Haidi Technology Company Limited (“Mudanjiang
Haidi”), Mudanjiang Haidi is treated as a subsidiary because the
Group is able to control the relevant activities of Mudanjiang Haidli
as a result of the shareholders’ agreement between the Group
and other shareholders of Mudanjiang Haidi.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful lives
and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or nonstrategic
assets that have been abandoned.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment were approximately
HK$389,974,000 (2022: HK$840,473,000).
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6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade
receivables and deposits and other receivables based on risk of a
default and expected loss rate. The assessment of the credit risk
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty as the Group’s
management estimates the risk of a default and expected loss
rate based on the Group’s historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade receivables and deposits and other receivables.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s trade receivables and deposits and other receivables were
approximately HK$5,430,000 and HK$11,435,000 respectively
(2022: HK$29,759,000 and HK$43,403,000 respectively).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.

At the end of reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s inventories were approximately HK$2,125,000 (2022:
HK$22,197,000) (net of provision for impairment loss of
approximately HK$3,460,000 (2022: HK$NIl)).
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ENRREBERBREX  WEERR
P RRE G RTREEN - M7
HEREMF IR ERERBTE
e B 5 BRI A K 7T & N EL Ath 8 WK
BHAREE °

RIEER - AEEEKE ZIRIE
AR ET & K E A R SR IERREE 2 Bl
/5 #95,430,000 7% 7T K 11,435,000 7
T(ZE = =% : 5 5/A&29,759,000
77T % 43,403,000/ 7T ) °

WIHFE R EERRER R AR
FHERHEREE - BESHEZTERE
YR HIE R A5 - MARERBERE
BIRRRMER - RIREERE MR AR
At RS 2 R EFE R
R, BE 2 fREE o

RBEHR  AEENTFERE
E#12,125,0008 0 (=T ==

22,197,000/ 7T ) (FOBR R (E B 1B R
#938,460,0008 (=T ==_F : T8

JC)) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
Determining whether property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use
and fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating units to
which the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
have been allocated. The calculation of value in use requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from
the cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value.

Calculation of fair value by market less cost of disposal approach
requires valuation techniques which used prices and other
relevant information generated by market transactions involving
identical and comparable group of assets and liabilities or
business, a suitable discount rate and marketability discount rate.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were approximately HK$389,974,000 (2022: HK$840,473,000)
and approximately HK$228,886,000 (2022: HK$247,791,000),
respectively.

(e) Provision for litigations
The Group has been involved in a number of litigations during
the year. Provision for litigations have been assessed by
management with reference to legal advices. Provision on
possible obligations, if any, are made based on management’s
best estimates and judgements.

At the end of reporting period, the amount of provision
for litigations is approximately HK$8,567,000 (2022:
HK$76,591,000).

6. BEEHETREEMATT@

Bt TR EZE 2 FERR ()

(d)

(e)

M2 - BB KR ERE R LA
EEERE

BEME  BEAREREREEE
ERBLRE  FEEFHRSELE
REREEEATEREYE K
FERRBREREEEMSRNEE
KA - stEEREETEAREE G
BEHREREELEMNRIEASR

BHENITIREUAERE -

TSR SR AR HAFEEE
HERIT - EPEATTEXSEE
ERNERIENES - $RIERA
ikt —EEERAERES B
PR REHERRE -

RMEHR - ZEENME - BEK
BERERAREENREES B A
#7389,974,0008 L (=T = =
840,473,000 7T ) I #49228,886,000
BT (ZZF = Z4F : 247,791,000
JT) ©

B/

RAFEE  AEBSRZHEFR B
BEC2EERE R FARYE -
AR AR (NE) DREBEEIEE
R ERE KA ETMEL

RFEBRR FRAEBEBES2BEY
8,567,000 ;. (= & = — & :
76,591,000/ 7T) °
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in HK$ and RMB which are the functional
currencies of the principal operating entities of the Group. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

(b) Price risk
The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is
exposed to equity security price risk. The Directors manage this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles.

At 30 June 20283, if the prices of the Group’s investments
increase/decrease by 10%, pre-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$219,000 lower/higher.

At 30 June 2022, if the prices of the Group’s investments
increase/decrease by 10%, pre-tax loss for the year would have
been approximately HK$197,000 lower/higher.

R EE

ﬂK%%i‘%@%’TREﬁﬁ%H B : SN
{Ejf&ﬂ ;ff ) //|L§U§iﬂ &f”
B o $%l2§ﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁiﬁ/\i
mﬂmiﬁTTTE/EUZ%’IE * BESRAG HIAR S E B
BREWREETHZEREKIE °

(a) SMEREPE
HRAKREAEDEBRS - BER
BEFEUARETEXRBERZY
RREBETRARKIIE  WEHHZ
SNEE LR BN o AR SR BRI EBLID
ER 5 BENREERIEINELHK
R o AR BT ) B HSNE B2
Iﬁf\aﬁ%ﬁﬁ%}*fwikﬁlﬂﬂ R o

(b) EEERE
AEERATFEFABSCCREE
REERESHREE BIRA FER
£ lﬁt REBEHRAEHER

c EEFJ BT RETRREBRE
éﬁZ&éﬁ%ﬂéM Ll

RZZE-—=FA=1+8 " fixs
ERE B EHATHE10% @ 8]
FRZBRRABEBRD, N
219,000/ 7T °

RZBZZFRA=+H - fHEE
I&é‘Zﬁ‘;T%Lﬂ/TBMO% el
R 2 B B A S 18 IR 8 &Y
197,000 7T °
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. BEERERE@m
(c) Credit risk (c) EER

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. As at
30 June 20283 and 2022, all bank balances were deposited in
reputable financial institutions and were hence without significant
credit risk. Management does not expect any losses from non-
performance by these counterparties. Credit sales are made
to selected customers with good credit history. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that outstanding trade receivables are
collected on a timely basis. Trade receivables are subject to the
ECL model. The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables from initial recognition. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates
are based on the historical payment profiles of sales and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that outstanding other
receivables are collected on a timely basis. Other receivables
are subject to the ECL model. The Group applies HKFRS 9
general approach to measuring ECL which uses a 12-month
ECL expected loss allowance for all other receivables from initial
recognition. The expected loss rates are based on the historical
payment profiles and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on factors affecting the
ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

ZHREMBURGFBURES KRS
EEBEEMNEAEALASECRHEE
MEeEERR RZT_=FKk=
T_—FRA=1H  FTERITES
HABEACEBRITNSELE  HES
AEERR - BEEEBBEHISEZSE
HFEATBLHMBBEIBL - 58
HEERHETEELHEINEESR
F o AEEE HIFTBUR IR KB IR
KEENEKRESRE - BKE SR
BARAEPREEBREN - A5E
FERABBBHREERFEIRE LA
ERTETEAEEEE - VS ERR
RETERIRE 5 RTEE AR ETER
RNETEEIERME - ArTEBHEE
B8 - EREZEBEERELREER
R R EERESLE - THHER
EERHERE LA RE R R LR
HEEBAGEBEMER - NEBE
BEEEREHARNRRB BT E
B EEEWGRIEE N E R/ E Al
NATREEE R o

SR [B B Il BT B SR R R N iy 2B UK B
EEELM IR o H b e URIA
RIEREEEEER - "EEERZE
BB REENEIR —RITETE
BMEEEE  BVTHAE/MA
Hith e RRIR(E 1218 A B EE BB
BRRBERERE - BHEBRRER
BELMRIERRBAEBEEREERMN
BE - AEEEBEBERELHE
ARRE B ER 58 F B EUGK
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

assets stated in the following table:

7. BEERRERE@m

(c) EERR @
FReBATAFMBSREAENS

fREE

At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FxXHA=1+H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A
BHEERE 2HEREESR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RR Epli SEIMER BHAE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FTERT TET FTHERT TERT TET
Trade receivables [EWE 58R1E - - - 5,437 5,437
Deposits and other ale RE MR
receivables 2,708 - 63,491 - 66,199
Bank and cash balances FITRBACER 2,898 - - - 2,898
5,606 - 63,491 5,437 74,534
At 30 June 2022 KRB —FNA=1H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 A
HHEERE FHEHREERRE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PEE Eplialsy 3R BHHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT FHBT THBT BT AT
Trade receivables [EWE ZER1E - - - 51,478 51,478
Deposits and other receivables  #]& R E KA 54,483 - 128,869 - 183,352
Bank and cash balances RITRIBEHETF 12,874 = = = 12,874
67,357 - 128,869 51,478 247,704
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7. BBEREE @
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (c) EERKE@
The following table provides information about the exposure to TRIEHBEBAENE ZRBEENE
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based on ERBRHER - HREBEEAEEE
provision matrix within lifetime ECL. EEBANBERRE MY
At 30 June 2023 R-B=-=%FXHA=1+H
Weight
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
IR

BHEER REAE BREFE REFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FRET

Current (not past due) BNER (K38 HEA) 0.10% 3,081 3 3,078
1-90 days past due HHI1ZE90H 0.10% 1,147 1 1,146
91-365 days past due #HI912=365H 0.25% 1,209 3 1,206
5,437 7 5,430
At 30 June 2022 RZZEZZ=FA=1+H
Weight
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount  allowance amount
kg

EHEER REAE BEEE RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THETT TR

Current (not past due) BNER(REHA) 2.52% 6,614 167 6,447
1-90 days past due #HI1Z=90H 2.43% 6,132 149 5,983
91-365 days past due #HI91 2865 H 3.46% 17,951 622 17,329
Over 365 days past due #HAG65 H LA £ 100.00% 20,781 20,781 —
51,478 21,719 29,759
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical BRI R ERERE 5RIBRTEHF
observed default rates over the expected life of the trade HINR BB RS R A L R(AEFT - iR
receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking information that BRI BB R AN S 1 ] BUS R RTIE 1 &
is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly KEAZE - BEREe FHEG AR - BREE
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about RIFEL E 5 IRIBIEAE R B R AR -

specific trade receivables is updated.



126

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. BEERRERE@m
(d) Liquidity risk (d) RBELEKE
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected RNEE 2 R A TE R B IR Iy ) T HR
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient MBESRE  ERERTHES
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short HE ENERBERRBARSESH
and longer term. 2o
For term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause 1M 7 EA B RS A BUGR - T A BRI
which can be exercised at the lenders’ sole discretion, the KOHEEEAZERNBITE - AlD
analysis shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in e RERAEEANK T
which the Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders FMAMEEAES AREAREKE
were to invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with R AR RERIRE ) ME £ 2 RS
immediate effect. The maturity analysis for bank loans is prepared o SRITERZBEI B ST DR EE
based on the scheduled repayment dates. EERBHRR -
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as AEEeRBEZIHBITAT :
follows:
On
demand or Between Between Total Total
less than 1and2 2and5 Over5  undiscounted carrying
1 year years years years cash flows amount
EZXs FrERS
HME EE): 2EB5E #1855 HERE REAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAL TAL TAL AT AL
At 30 June 2023 RZBZZE5xB=1H
Bank loans FITEH 9,330 3,151 8,141 - 20,622 19,682
Trade payables B 39,955 - - - 39,955 39,955
Bonds payable ERES 336,770 392,890 427,800 - 1,157,460 1,064,706
Other payables and accruals  EHERFUE RIERT5UE 388,686 - - - 388,686 388,686
Other loans AR 54,541 - - - 54,541 48,247
Convertible bonds AR ES 20,000 30,362 - - 50,362 4,747
849,282 426,403 435,941 - 1,711,626 1,603,023
At 30 June 2022 WZEZZF5xA=1H
Bank loans FEH 9,424 3,093 9,280 1,647 23,344 22,382
Trade payables JANED LD 57,638 - - - 57,638 57,638
Bonds payable ERES 157,783 202,050 898,540 - 1,258.323 1,066,154
Other payables and acoruals ~ EfERFBRE 7R 663,468 - - - 663,468 663468
Other loans HEH 126,604 - - - 126,604 120,400
Convertible bonds AR ES 35,400 20,000 - - 55,400 46477
Lease liabiities HEARE 1536 - - - 1536 1483
1,061,893 225,143 907,820 1,047 2,186,403 1,978,002
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

7. BEERERE@m

Interest rate risk (e) FZEmpz
Bonds payable, convertible bonds, certain bank loans, other ERES  AIRkES ETRTE
loans and lease liabilities were arranged at fixed interest rates and » o BEmEREASEE EREER
therefore were subject to fair value interest rate risk. KRB WA A TFENERR -
Certain bank loans and bank balances were arranged at floating AT HRITERRRITETHIREER
rates varied with the then prevailing market condition and MUK E) 2 F B F G B - B LA
therefore were subjected to cash flow interest rate risk. SR mENERERE
As at 30 June 2023, if interest rates at that date had been 5% RZE-_=FA=+H " WEB/A
lower/higher with all other variables held constant, consolidated KRR, FB5%IM AT H fth B B4
loss after tax for the year would have been approximately B KFEERTBEA EIBER
HK$688,000 (2022: HK$803,000) lower/higher, arising mainly as A /18 N #688,000/ T (— T = —
a result of lower/higher interest expense on the bank loans. £ : 803,0007T) + T EZ AN
TERZMBRAX TR EFAAE -
Categories of financial instruments Hh EMIBEZESE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Financial assets: SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BAFEFAEZZ
TREE
Held for trading HIEEE 2,191 1,971
Amortised cost BESHAAN 19,763 86,036
Financial liabilities: SRBE
Amortised cost BESHPK AN 1,603,023 1,976,519
Fair values of financial assets and financial (9) EHBRAFEIERZEHME

liabilities carried at other than fair value

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

ExsmEsEzAYE
NRZEZ=FR T _F A=+
B GAMBRARAIRAEESH
BERCHABEZFREAEEESAY
AEERE °
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8.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 8. A¥{EFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to NP ERMSB2HEEETERETZERT

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants RPHE—HEEMKEEEZE-BEE

at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value Fr it 2 B#g o AT B2 AT EEEA
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three RNEEER - BRUGTERTE 2 BERI
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: ZEABESA=H  FBWT -

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for E1REA AEEREE ARG ZHA
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can HUE - BEXBELEREMSZ 2 ME
access at the measurement date. (CRESTAEE) -

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within F2oWBA BREIRIREAIN - BRI EE
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, £ - NEEBRNECEEREE
either directly or indirectly. i ABUE o

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. FE3RA BENB B ELTBERE AH

i & o

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out AEEZBERERNEREMREHREE 2 F

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in MEEBE B RS A RE L = @455

circumstances that caused the transfer. Efalz— o

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) AFEEBRKE

At 30 June 2023 RZE-_=%xA=1+H
Fair value at
30 June 2023 Fair value measurements using:
R-BZ=% ERAATSRELEZATETE
RA=ZtEH Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Description i NFE 1R EPI ERF
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THT FHEL FEx
Recurring fair value measurements: RENATERE
Financial assets at FVTPL: BRATHEFAERZ 2R
BE
Derivative financial assets TEEREE 2,075 - - 2,075
Listed securities in Hong Kong B LMES 116 116 - -
Total recurring fair value measurements ~ KEM AL EFELHE 2,191 116 - 2,075
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 8. AT EFEmWm
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy (a) AP EERFEE@E
(Continued)
At 30 June 2022 R=F==_FA=+H
Fair value at
30 June 2022 Fair value measurements using:
N—T-— FRUATERIEL 2 ATEFE -
~NA=TBM Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Description i NTE] ERF EpE ERT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THEL TAT TEL
Recurring fair value measurements: KEEATEE:
Financial assets at FVTPL: BOTEF NGz &8
BE
Listed securities in Hong Kong B LTES 1,971 151 = 1,820
Total recurring fair value measurements ~ REMAT{EFELE 1,971 151 = 1,820
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair (b) REBIMEAVETEZE
value based on Level 3 EHER
HK$’'000
FAT
Financial assets at FVTPL: BATEFAERZ CREE
At 1 July 2021 N_E_—F+H—H -
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss PiEEER 2 A EES) (i)
(Note) 1,820
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 RZEBE-_—_FA=+tHK
—ZE-_—F+H—H 1,820
Additions upon acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 40)  UKEEHIE A RIEHAE (FMi5E40) 2,075
Transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 EERENEEY- RN (1,820)
At 30 June 2023 —E-=%A=+H 2,075
During the year ended 30 June 2023, a financial instrument, BEZT-_=FA=1TRHLFE "
being securities listed in Hong Kong resumed in trading, had —HEHeRTA(RREE EWIIRE

been transferred from Level 3 to Level 1.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, there was no
financial instruments between Level 1 and Level 2,
into or out of Level 3.

BEEZER)BERBEEH -

transfer of HE_Z_—FXA=ZTRHILEE "
or transfer FIRRF2R e/ T A2 AW EER

HEAEIRKMNEIREH -

Note: The total gain/(loss) recognised in profit or loss included gain of M RIEZPEROWE (HE) @
approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$1,820,000) related to assets REEERERARSEEEENRR
held at the end of the reporting period are presented in the gain/ MREHOTEBT(ZTZZF -
(loss) on fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL, net in the 1,820,000 7T) © MérG EB=mRA

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

MR AHEF ABSEZ eBEER
FEKE(BER)27) -
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the

Group and valuation techniques and inputs

8. AYEFEwW

() AEEMAKERFERA
A=+ R E8AFERRA

used in fair value measurements at 30 June fRE R R A BB IR E
Financial Effect on
instrument in Significant fair value for Fair value
Level 3 Valuation technique unobservable input Range increase of inputs  Assets/(Liabilities)
WA SRS
FIFEMIE  (EERM EXTAHZMAYE #E AVEZY BE/(BR)DYE
2023 2022
Bz —T__F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER AT
Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 20)
BATEG NERz @mEE (M320)
Derivative Binomial Option Pricing Expected volatility 53% Increase 2,075 -
financial assets ~ Model (2022: N/A)
(Note 20(a))
tTaEemEE  ZHEABEEEEN TRERIE 53% &M
(GEZIE) (ZZ2=—% : T@R)
Listed shares in  Guideline public company  Discount for lack of N/A  Decrease - 1,820
Hong Kong method under market marketability (2022: 20%)
(Note 20(b)) approach
BBk THEE NS e M mmETE NER R
GEZE)) ARDEE (ZZ==F 1 20%)

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility
(calculated based on the expected life of the option), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility due to public available
information.

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts
of premiums and discounts determined by the Group that
market participants would take into account when pricing the
investments.

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The financial controller reports directly to the Board of Directors
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the financial controller
and the Board of Directors at least twice a year.

T B3 8 DA 52350 1 28 00 AR AR
BB ERE)  CRDHTR
BTk R AR B 2 (B R BT
et -

BRZ TG A I 2 RE IR fE R AN SR (B P
EBEMmMmE2EERREEERS
NEZEBZHERITESHE -

AEBFBREAREMBERENFEZ
BEEBFEZAFENE  BIEES
RATEFE - UHREERNES
FEFRZEATENE - MiEeen
SRR RAERFRERE

TR °
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the

Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements at 30 June
(Continued)

As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the
consolidated statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

The Group’s financial assets in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
were valued at the end of the reporting period by an independent
and qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group. The
valuer holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification
and has recent experience in valuing similar business of trading
price being valued.

REVENUE

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold and services
rendered, after allowances for returns and trade discounts, and after
eliminations of all intra-group transactions during the year.

8.

A EFE@®

(c)

rEBRAGERFERRA
B=1+HAEAFERFA
EEENTREBASENEE
(#&)

R =FRZF__FA=1
B GAPBRARARAEESH
BERcHABBEZFREEESEZ
AFERE -

AEERFEEREILNEREE
Tyl — R EAEEREREN LR
SERERMEMN RS BEREHE
TbME - AEMFARA RAREE
B8 BBEAHREURSERMGESE
BEITHENRIILR -

Wy 58
WaENAFEHEREmMRHRE 2 BE
FERERERERESITH - A HHE
EEMAERS °

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
(Re-presented)
(ge&E7)
Continuing operations: BEREER
Revenue from contracts with customers within BEMRE AR 155R B 2
the scope of HKFRS 15 BEEHWA
Sales of calcium carbide SHEIL G 84,224 184,966
Sales of lime powder SHE AR 13,815 13,698
Sales of chemical products for agriculture HERFE(LEm 2,808 =
100,847 198,664
Discontinued operations: RIS .
Heat supplying services ENRE L FE AR TS 3,766 168,973
Electricity supplying services BIHERTS - 11,991
3,766 170,964
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9. W@
Lk 7 BA A4

9. REVENUE (continued)
(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i)
For the year ended 30 June 2023

BE-SE-_=—F~A=1tHLEE

Discontinued

Continuing operations operation
REREER BRIREEK
Chemical

Calcium products for Heat and
carbide agriculture power Total
Segment 2 EB AL 85 EELER BERED st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR THERT TERT THER
Heat supplying services B EIRT - - 3,766 3,766
Sales of calcium carbide SHEMRIEE 84,224 - - 84,224
Sales of lime powder HEARY 13,815 - - 13,815

Sales of chemical products HERE(BER

for agriculture - 2,808 - 2,808
98,039 2,808 3,766 104,613

For the year ended 30 June 2022

BEZZS-_—F X A=tHLFE

Continuing Discontinued
operation operation

RELEER BRIEEEER

Calcium Heat and
carbide power Total
Segment pax: {85 HEEREN #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TAT TAT
Heat supplying services Hae IR - 158,973 158,973
Electricity supplying services B AR = 11,991 11,991
Sales of calcium carbide SHERRILS 184,966 - 184,966
Sales of lime powder SHE QKR 13,698 - 13,698
198,664 170,964 369,628

(ii)  All revenue above are recognised at a point in time.

(i) SALEFTAKEESTE —(ERRIHER -
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10. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS OR 10. HRK AR HE S EE

LOSSES

2023 2022
—EB-=F T

HK$°000 HK$'000

FER FAT

(Re-presented)

(rge&E5)

Continuing operations: FEREER

Government grants (Note (a)) BT B & (Fi3E @) 64 112

Bank interest income ERITH BULA 4 33

(Loss)/gain on fair value of financial assets BRAFEFABR SREE

at FVTPL, net AFE(ER) W F5E (47) 1,765

Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HERAFEFAEBR 2SR/

BE 2 W - 191

Gain on conversion of convertible bonds BRI RES 2 W 198 -

(Allowance for)/reversal of allowance for REEFHR(BE) B ERE

inventories (3,563) 3,726
Forfeiture of deposit received for partial disposal SR UERH &M B A FHE Uk
of a subsidiary (Note (b)) HEACiEA()) - 30,238

Income from consideration received for disposal HERIFRE ARKB AR
of deconsolidated subsidiary B IR ER A - 3,800
Gain on early redemption of bonds IZRIFE R E AW 11,500 10,321
Sundry income HEIEUA 163 513
8,319 50,699

Discontinued operations: BARIKEET .

Government grants (Note (a)) BT (@) - 5,830

Bank interest income HRITH B UA - 32

Sundry income HEIEUA 20 221

20 6,083

Notes: Bi%E

(@  Government grants for the years were received from the Employment (@) FRUWEER TS 08 R EAREAE
Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund as launched by the BERRTRERNAELHEREES
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the ENMREL T EIRER o FEAMB S LT
People’s Republic of China. There are no unfulfilled conditions or M AR BT 2 (&I sk AR 1A -
contingencies attached to the grants.

()  Forfeiture of deposit received for partial disposal of a subsidiary ) REHBLLEMBARNERITEREK
represented the non-refundable deposit of RMB25,000,000 received for BEH FHTE B 208 40% A& #e B IR 89 7 AT
acquiring 40% equity interest of the Mudanjiang BD Power which was REFTS ARM25000,0007T * HE=F
being forfeited and credited as other income during the year ended 30 ZZFRNA=THIFE - ZRIBHEEK

June 2022. W EEABYIA o
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to
the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, the Executive Directors of
the Company, for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the year.

The Group has four reportable segments as follows:

Calcium carbide — manufacture and sale of calcium carbide and
lime powder;
Chemical products — manufacture and sale of chemical products for

for agriculture
Heat and power

agriculture;
generation and supply of heat and power; and

Construction
services

construction and monitor of public facilities
construction.

The Group’s reporting segments of (i) heat and power; and (ii)
construction services have been presented as discontinued operations
following (i) Mudanjiang BD Power, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, engaging in the Group’s heat and power segment; had
been taken over by Mudanjiang Authority of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development on 26 August 2022; and (i) Mudanijiang Jinyang Municipal
Engineering Company Limited, another wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, engaging in the Group’s construction services segment had
been disposed on 16 June 2022.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that
offer different products. They are managed separately because each
business unit requires different technology and marketing strategies.

Segment profits or losses do not include change in fair value of financial
assets at FVTPL, net, gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL,
share of result of an associate, gain on disposal of a subsidiary, gain on
deconsolidation of a subsidiary and corporate administrative expenses.
Segment assets do not include bank and cash balances, financial assets
at FVTPL, investment in an associate, assets classified as held for sale
and corporate assets. Segment liabilities do not include bank loans,
bonds payable, convertible bonds, bonds interest payable, other loans
and other payables and accruals for general administrative use.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales
or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices.

11.

ROBLERMERERE D BBRA M RS
B ERFRLEARE AARITERREHD
BRAASERISRE D FBER -

AREEB AT ER SREDED :

AEsS - %%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁkﬁﬂb_m
BEEBER — %jﬁ)ﬁiﬁﬁ ER¥ENER
AEREN — LEMEEBRELRES
riERY - iﬁ ER A RRMER °

ROARBZ2EMBARHFHTERRE
(EEAEERERENDRIR T

NAZ 7N B BT ER MRS ER

BE KRR S —HEENER BT
T2EMRIEERAR(EEAEE 22
ERBOB)NR_F_—_FRATNAED
& REBONREREN  Ri)ZERE
BREDHEZ2IN B RILLET

AREE & AR E D BRI R E a2 5K
HREBEN - AN EBEMAR M RH
SRR RS PRI MBI B IR

DEBE N HE B BIER A HEF ABGRZ
TRUEE N TE BE)FE - ﬁﬁﬁﬂ$@
ARG EREEZ WS - D16 — kS
BEXE  HEMBARZWE  RILEGS
AERHT @A Bz Yoes kA Tﬁﬁﬁi DH
BEWESARITRIRS AT - E@$ﬁ#
AERZ CREE FWE@%W&E
BAFELENBEERARIEE - “%EF
WESARTER - BRAES - THRRE
% BNESMNE - EtEFAREmERN
HIER—RITH AR 2 BT RUE

AEERAE =T EHZ HERE R (AR
BRITHE)FTE D BPRHE REE -
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

1. oHER @)

Information about reportable segment profit or ERUREDHBNHER - &
loss, assets and liabilities ERGEzZER
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BECSEY BHRILEE £
Chemical
Calcium  products for Heat and
carbide agriculture  Unallocated power Total
4] BELER FOE HEREN @it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEr
Year ended 30 June 2023 HE-T-=®# A=TH
IEFE
Revenue from external customers IEEPWE 98,039 2,808 - 3,766 104,613
Segment loss NEEE (434,242) (804) - (8,709) (443,755)
Loss on fair value of financial assets %EQ%?TE?MEEZ@EE
at FVTPL, net BERTEERTE (47)
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary ”M:W\)\EEWE?‘ NP6 404,680
Corporate administrative expenses ARITHAY (156,120)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (195,242)
Income tax expense R Hx -
Consolidated loss for the year FRiTAER (195,242)
Bank interest income RITFBHA 3 - 1 - 4
Finance costs BT TSPRAR (1,310) - (112,616) (1,509) (115,435)
Depreciation of property, plant and ER G i
equipment (54,040) - (2,359) - (56,399)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERERENE (3,895) - (3,046) - (6,941)
Gain on early redemption of bonds RABOES e - - 11,500 - 11,500
Provision of litigation claims, net FAREEETE (1,177) - (1,469) - (2,646)
Other material items of income and HttEAWARRRIES :
expense;
Government grants fTfEEE - - 64 - 64
Other material non-cash items: HttEAFRELIER -
Reversal/(provision) of allowance SRR R R
for receivables, net (BE)F8
- trade receivables = %W%%@Elﬁ 163 - - 655 818
— prepayments, deposits and other ~BRFE ETi&
receivables Hith r WA (424) (982) (13,585) (3,542) (18,533)
Impairment of inventories FERE (3,563) - - - (3,563)
Impairment of property, plant and nE - BEREERE
equipment (343,628) - (15,783) - (359,411)
Additions to segment non-current assets A EIEREEE 5,140 3,326 - - 8,466
As at 30 June 2023 RZZ==F:A=1H
Consolidated total assets RABERS 411,529 10,823 244,277 - 666,629
Consolidated total liabilities ,ia'/;:\n vt (289,989) (10,559) (1,313,800) - (1,614,348)
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

=FANHA=THIFFE

Information about reportable segment profit or

1. o HER @)

BRUREIHRNNER - &

loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) EREEz2ER @
Represented
£<<< EW
Continuing operaﬂons D|scont|nued operanons
iiﬂm «(E'%i% <<<~¥f5‘<
Calmum Heat and Construction
carbide Unallocated power Services Total
U6 ol &aj} RERS gt
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$\O@ HK$'000 HK$ 000
FTHT TAT THT THBT TAT
Year ended 30 June 2022 Hz-_ZT—_—FXA=1H
IHFE
Revenue from external customers IhabEPiiE 198,664 - 170,964 - 369,628
Segment loss NEEE (85,721) - (812,648) (176) (898 545)
Gain on fair value of financial assets RATEIAER Z%mﬂ
at FVTPL, net BEAT AW FE 1,765
Gain on disposal of financial assets HERATES AR R
at FVTPL AE W 191
Share of result of an associate HMEBERERE (137)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ENBAFZME 10,220
Corporate administrative expenses AAfTHHER (187,315)
Loss before tax BRAIERE (1,073,821)
Income tax expense iSRS -
Consolidated loss for the year FRGEEE (1,073,821)
Bank interest income FITHI BB 22 11 32 - 65
Finance costs R AR (665) (165,365) (13,434) - (179,464)
Depreciation of property, plant and % - BERXENE
equipment - (54,591) (2,730 (16,056) - (73,377)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESENE (3,297) (4,163) (1,593) = (9,053)
Gain on early redemption of bonds RAEMR S WA 10,321 - - 10,321
Provision of litigation claims, net FAREREFE - (2,871) (11,605) - (14,476)
Other material items of income and HEEAWARRSIER
expense;
Government grants e S - 112 5,830 = 5,942
Income from consideration received for HERIHRA ARIB AR
disposal of deconsolidated subsidiary EREREMBA - 3,800 - - 3,800
Other material non-cash items: EEXRFREIAA
(Provision)/reversal of allowance PHEN IR R (BE)/
for receivables, net RERD S
— trade receivables —EWE 5518 4,004 - (7,315) = (3,311)
— prepayments, deposits and other —BAHE ET%&
receivables Hith T (18,889 (8,579 4,655 (160) (22,973)
Reversal of impairment of inventories FERERR 3,726 - - - 3,726
Impairment of property, plant and WE - BB RERE
equipment - (4,371) (641,841) - (646,212)
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREAEHNE - - (46,526) - (46,526)
Forfeiture of deposit received for partial %Z'E‘B%Hj WELRZENK
disposal of a subsidiary ?T £ = = 30,238 - 30,238
Additions to segment non-current assets  IERD IR EE 3,737 - 39,490 - 43,227
As at 30 June 2022 W=E-—%xA=1H
Consolidated total assets maBELR 990,012 212,141 36,094 - 1,238,247
Consolidated total liabilties maakEeR (370,055 (1,337,255) (355,787) - (2,063,097)
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11.

12.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or
loss, assets and liabilities (Continued)

The Group’s majority of revenue and non-current assets are derived
from customers based in the PRC and accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 30 June 2023, only one customer contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group, the sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 96% (2022: 57%) of the
Group’s total sales for the year ended 30 June 2023 and the sales to
the largest customer included therein of approximately HK$84,184,000
(2022: HK$180,106,000) amounted to approximately 80% (2022:
49%) from the segment of calcium carbide (2022: Only one customer
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group).

1. oHER @)

ERTRESBEFNREE - &
EREEZER @

AEEAH Y5 RIERB B E TR E R E
&P At WESFIEER -

BEREEEFHNER

BT _ZFNA=THLEE EE—
FRPHAEBEIHEENEREB10%k
k- AAEBRARFHE 2 HEEMN
ZIK‘EI@ ZE=FANA=THILEFE

PEHERAXIB%(Z T —F : 57%) * EF
ﬁﬁ—ﬁ%)ﬂ B2 b5 o EHEEA 5
84,184,000/ 7T (= ZF = =4 : 180,106, ooo
PBIT) - (ERI80% (=T =4 : 49%)(=

CfE— %%}EEEMEZK%M@G#%%E

fBiB10%) °

FINANCE COSTS 12. B A
2023 2022
—E:-=F - S =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
(Re-presented)
(sg&E7)
Continuing operations: ﬁ%i’té**%i% g
Interest on bank loans IRITE KA B 1,621 1,065
Interest on other loans E@Eﬁki 2 6,294 5,920
Interest on bonds payable JEESFE 103,134 155,489
Interest on convertible bonds ATRRESF S 2,824 3,197
Interest on lease liabilities HEHERNE 53 359
113,926 166,030
Discontinued operations: BARIEEE T
Interest on other loans HEMERF B 1,509 3,758
Default interest on other loans EmEFELNF S - 9,676
1,509 13,434
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13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

13. BRI
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T

Continuing operations: BEQEEK
Current tax BEATIE

- PRC Enterprise Income Tax — R ZEFTER

— Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBMED
Discontinuing operations: BRIEREE .
Current tax BNEATHIE

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — R ZEFTIS R

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided in accordance with the two-
tiered profits tax rate regime under which the first HK$2,000,000 (2022:
HK$2,000,000) of assessable profit of a qualifying corporation of the
Group is taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$2,000,000) are taxed at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year
ended 30 June 2023 as the Group had no assessable profits arose in
Hong Kong for the year (2022: Nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at
the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group’s entities
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in
respect thereof.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a
rate of 25% during the year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: 25%).

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made for the
years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022 as the Group had no assessable
profits arose in the PRC during the years.

BERENEHE RS RR GRS -

HARAEBEME B A E EH2,000,0004 7T
(=== —4 : 2,000,000/ 7T ) F&E 2R Bt % 7l
1#8.25%(=—F == : 8.25%) Z Fi 4N
I8 - mFEIEREIE2,000,0008 T (ZE ==
£ : 2,000,000/ 7T ) #9 FE R B 4 1142 16.5%
(ZZF=—F : 16.5%) Z TR M A o

(E—T_=FRNA=THLEFE - ARA
SEYEERBELERTUSA - SRS
REBNSHEFE (T _—F:F) -

Hitipe 2 BRBUGEN A RASEE R
RERBAAEBRRK 2IRITHE - RIBZ I
TIER - BENEAHE -

BEFEASHRAER  BHE=-F ==
FRAZTHIEFE - hEMEARAE
R25% (T —4F : 25%) P AT
1B -

HE_Z_=Fk-_F-_—_FA=1+HIE
FE - ARASE I EEF BEERER R
F - BE R ERHE B ERTS TR -
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 13. FIEHiBE X @)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax using BARNFIREMB AR MERER 2 EER X
the statutory rate for the countries in which the Company and its FTERFRIEEER CHIBEAY - BIRER
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates HERGTE 2 HEFAS 2 HROAT ¢

are as follows:

2023 2022
—EBC-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TERT FHTT
(Re-presented)
(geE=75)
Loss before tax KRR &R
Continuing operations FRBIS A TS (186,533) (260,997)
Discontinued operations BRI (8,709) (812,824)
Loss before tax from continuing and REFEREEIEREER Y
discontinued operations FrER A ES 1 (195,242) (1,073,821)
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREGE 2 FIE (37,277) (222,988)
Income not subject to tax BENTE 2 WA (101,315) (2,119
Expenses not deductible for tax TATHORE S 113,143 165,937
Tax losses not recognised RERTIIEE B 25,449 59,120
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate BASBEEBRREGTE
IR - _
At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary RIpEHAsAE H @ B SN EERREF B
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for BEZHBARANRETN AR 2 EEE=5E
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately R AT BT (ZE = —F : 14,975,000
HKS$NIl (2022: HK$14,975,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been L) c ARANEE A ELEFIZE B AT
recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a ZEEHE - BEBEES IR RS
position to control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is MEED] - AT MGt SRR R IE S
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. & o
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses MR HAOR - ZAN& B 1] B /EHL 0 2Rk 218 5% 7
of approximately HK$771,723,000 (2022: HK$500,554,000) available B M R B BRI IBE I8 49 /A771,723,0007 7T
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets has been (ZE =% : 500,554,00078 7T ) ° A
recognised due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in SETERI AR A M BR - i 4 e SRR A A 1A
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately HK$771,723,000 BE « AR BEEESEEIINSZ HELE
(2022: HK$500,554,000) that can be carried forward for a maximum of R EE4)771,728,000/8 L —E - —4F :

five years. 500,554,000/ 7T) °
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

14. AEEHR

The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

AEERAFE 2 BELHNR,GtA) T

following: FIARFIER -
2023 2022
—EC=HF - S =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(F£=31))
Continuing operations: BEAEEL
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN S 1,200 1,100
Cost of inventories sold (Note) BEFEKA(HiFE) 105,947 166,181
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BENERETE 56,399 57,321
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 6,941 7,460
Expenses relating to short-term leases B HAH S BRI 2 X 1,097 320
Provision of litigation claims, net (included in other — FFFAZR B & F 28 (5T A E A
operating expenses) KRS ) 2,646 2,871
Staff costs (excluding Directors’ emoluments): ETRA(TBIEEEMNE) :
Wages, salaries and benefits in kind T¥ - HFekEWH = 9,926 6,121
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIREAE SR 607 1,725
Impairment on property, plant and equipment W - BE REERE 359,411 4,371
(Reversal)/provision of allowance for receivables, TR R IER TR R (B E] ),
net B
— trade receivables — W E SR (163) (4,004)
— prepayments, deposits and other receivables —TERUE - 5l& REAMEL
I 14,991 27,468
Allowance for/(reversal of allowance for) inventories  Bt1F & TR, (BiE#EE) 3,563 (3,726)
Discontinued operations: EBRIEREE .
Cost of services rendered (Note) PR AR A AR (P ) 5,614 229,167
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - BE REEITE - 16,056
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE - 1,593
Provision of litigation claims, net (included in other  FFFAZBE B F 58 (GT A H Aty
operating expenses) KERY) - 11,605
Staff costs (excluding Directors’ emoluments): BIRA(TEREESEHE)
Wages, salaries and benefits in kind T8 HFEehEYMZE 1,156 13,442
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RNEAIFT B 564 2,622
Impairment on property, plant and equipment Yz - BWE REERE - 641,841
Impairment on right-of-use assets EREEERE - 46,526
(Reversal)/provision of allowance for LR R IE R B (B,
receivables, net BEFE
— trade receivables — B E ZERIE (655) 7,315
— prepayments, deposits and other receivables —TENFIE « Bl REAEK
IR 3,542 (4,495)
Note: Cost of inventories sold and services rendered includes staff costs and Pt e

depreciation of approximately HK$4,020,000 (2022: HK$7,600,000) and
approximately HK$4,649,000 (2022: HK$8,487,000) respectively, which
are included in the amounts disclosed separately above.

BETFERREHBRERABEE TRAR
HWE D RI#)4,020,0008 (T = —4F :
7,600,0005 7T ) K #74,649,000/8 7T (=&
——%F :8,487,000%7t)  UEFARLE
SN R FR 2 A o
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

15. EEMEREEHMH

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: BSESZMES0T
Basic salaries, housing
benefits, other allowances  Retirement benefits
Fees and benefits in kind scheme contributions Total
Exfe  RERA
e Hit2RRENFE RINEFIF B @5t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-ZE —T-—F ZE-ZE -—T-—F ZE-=E -—T--F ZBZE —T-—F
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEr TAT TEr TET TEn TET TEr THT
Executive Directors YTESE
Mr. Tang Yiduan (Note () B —smac 4 (HE() - = - = - = - =
Mr. Shing Pan Yu (Note ) B8 SfE 564 (AtE() - = - = - = - =
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe S at - - 120 120 - - 120 120
Mr. Gao Ran (Note (i) S (BEE () - = - = - = - =
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTTEAE - = 300 300 15 15 315 315
Non-executive Director ~ F#HTEZ
Mr. Liu Yangyang (Note (i) 21%3%5 4 (Kt k(i) - = - = - = - =
Independent non-executive By F#{TES
Directors
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEmEE 180 180 - - - - 180 180
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BEBRLE 180 180 - - - - 180 180
Mr. Hau Chi Kit REGLE 180 180 - - - - 180 180
540 540 420 420 15 15 975 975
Notes: Bi%E
0] Mr. Tang Yiduan and Mr. Shing Pan Yu were appointed as executive 0] B—miaERERELERS_=FN
director on 25 August 2023. AZ+HBRZERNITES -
(ii) Mr. Gao Ran resigned as an executive director on 25 August 2023. (ii) EHEER-Z_=ZFNA-_THBET
HITEE
(iii) Mr. Liu Yangyang was appointed as a non-executive director on 26 May
2022 and resigned on 25 August 2023. @iy  BOFEFEER-ZZE__FRA-T/HE

RERFNTES XX _FT_=F)N\HA

—+HBBHTE -
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included
Nil (2022: Nil) Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 5 (2022: 5)
individuals for the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out below:

15. EEMEREEFHM @

FR - AEEREESFREERSESTR(Z
T _F:TE)ER FEZHMEER L
N2z TR - SR T8 (ZE=ZF :
5V EEEE-—ZE-=#A=1HILE
EZzBEE5mT

2023 2022
—E-=F B S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHTT
Basic salaries, housing benefits, other allowances &4 %% - EE@H - HM2AL %

and benefits in kind BN 2,694 2,766
Pension scheme RS FE 54 48
2,748 2,814

The emoluments fell within the following bands: BN T A T8

Number of individuals

EBEAH
2023 2022
—EC-=F —Eo
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L 21,000,000/ 7T 5 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office in both years and no
Directors waived any emolument during the year ended 30 June 2023
(2022: Nil).

The aggregate of contributions to pension schemes for the five highest
paid individuals amounting to HK$54,000 for the year ended 30 June
2023 (2022: HK$48,000).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save for disclosed in note 45(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transaction, arrangement and contract in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

RZMEFE - AEBERES S EFAME T
EMESHARRHER AERINELR
SR IR B 2 2R BB 18 B0
E-E_FRAZTHLEFE  HEES
WEHFMW(—FE—_—F : |) -

RBE-_ZE_=F"A=1tHIFE &
HEREFATHNRARSHEERTEEE
54,000/ 70( == = =4 : 48,000/87T) °

EERNRE  ZRHHAESHZEX
RS

BRI BTSRRI R 45() TR &SN -
BEHMBARRR L 2 BAKEXREHR
MARRESRBEINEFTNEFERSL
I A B AR 2 WX AR 6 2 AR PRI T
FREZENERRS - RHHEK -



FEXCIKREERAT —ZT—=

FEHR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e R R MR ()
For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ
16. DIVIDEND 16. R &
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the EETERRNEES==F-A=1H
year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil). IEEZRE(ZZE_ZF &) -
17. LOSS PER SHARE 17. BRE#E
Basic loss per share BREXRESE
From continuing and discontinued operations MFECEERRORIEREEKN

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$155,876,000
(2022: HK$1,064,206,000) and on the weighted average number of
approximately 312,745,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year (2022
(restated): 111,140,000 ordinary shares). Adjustments to the weighted
average number of shares for the year and prior year are required for
the purpose of calculating the basic loss per share for the rights issue
during the year because the exercise price of the rights issue (note
29(e)) was lower than the market price immediately before the exercise
of the right.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the year
ended 30 June 2022 has been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the
share consolidation completed on 16 December 2022 as disclosed in
note 29(d).

From continuing operations

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$147,167,000
(2022: HK$251,382,000) and on the weighted average number of
approximately 312,745,000 ordinary shares in issue during the year (2022
(restated): 111,140,000 ordinary shares).

From discontinued operations

Basic loss per share of the discontinued operations is approximately
HK2.78 cents per share (2022 (restated): HK731.35 cents per share)
based on the loss for the year from the discontinued operations of
approximately HK$8,709,000 (2022 (re-presented): HK$812,824,000)
and the denominators detailed above for basic loss per share from
continuing operations.

Diluted loss per share

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years did not assume
the exercise of outstanding share options and convertible bonds of the
Company since these options have no dilutive effect and convertible
bonds were anti-dilutive during the years ended 30 June 2023 and
2022.

BREANBEEDBEARARES AEMN
& 18 #49155,876,000/8 L ( — T = — 4 :
1,064,206,00078 7T ) RANFE B 317 E @R
INEF 2 4312,745,0000% ( — T = =4 :
(#E=T)111,140,0000% L 3@A% ) 5T E - FheE

AR ESREAERME - BHAFE
MBEFENRMDINEFEESELAZE « R
E AR (BT 5E29(e) ) FTIE BRRS B sz 7
BATER 2 TE o

 ECEC CFRA=THIEFERETE
BIINRE TS BB MEH B WRE - LA
20T ER —E - —F+ = H+/<H
TR Z R A OF -

MSELSEEEMS
ERERNBEDBEARARES AEMN
B 18 49147,167,000/8 T (ZE = =
251,382,000/ 7T ) R A F[Z B 31T @AM
T 19 81 49312,745,0000% (—ZF — —

(4R E=T)111,140,0000F L @A% )51 o

MERILREELMS

ERIEKEEBEEREANGELSERY
278BI(ZT==F : (BEF)EBRK
731.35711l) » TR R IHE L EEFEEIR
#98,709,0008 L (=T = =4 : (L=:T)
812,824,000 7T ) & = X ATaF S B ac & 5
BEREAEBHNNE

ZREEER

S SRS A R I RR(TEAD
B2 MARTIERE AR R AT M R % - R
H B IRR R R R AR (SRR
EoR-CER-B-HAASTHALSF
LB RS -

Ny
ars °
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #;% — % —

=FANHA=THIFFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. 1% - MEKRE

Furniture,
office
equipment Pipelines
Construction Plant and Leasehold and motor and
Buildings in progress machinery  improvements vehicles trench Total
B BAZ
BF RIE BEREE RENFER RERAE EERER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL Thn T T T T T
Cost RA
At July 2021 R-E--%+A-A 582,440 487,965 1,089,504 4234 31,048 162,393 2,357,584
Addttions RE - 2,780 1,397 307 2,882 36,861 43221
Disposal of a subsicliary (note 42) ~ HEMERR(HfzH42) - - - - (200 - 200)
Transler from assets classifedas ~ EAZHEAR{EL &M
held for sale (note 28) B (fiios) 116,876 - - - - - 116,876
Exchange differences EiZR (14,591) (12,379) (27,491) 0 (759) (5,350) (60,575
A30Jne2022and 1 July 2022 RCE-—FXA=TEK
Sl 2 g Rl 684,725 478,366 1,063,410 4532 32,975 192,904 2,456,912
Addttions AE = 6,281 a9 312 438 - 8,010
Written off i - - - - (7.352) - (7.352)
Acquisttion of a subsidiary (note 40) U& AR (40) - - 456 - - - 456
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary BIHER NERE AR
(note 41) WIM (141,056) (454,567) (63,158) - (6,154) (183,303) (848,238)
Exchange differences EREE (42,07) (23,247) (68,540) (29) (1,563) (9,601) (145,051)
At 30 June 2023 R-E-Z%7A=1A 501,598 6,833 933,147 4815 18,344 - 1,464,737
Accumulated depreciationand ~ ZiHTERHE
impairment
At 1 July 2021 R-E--%+A-A 320,609 68,093 423,090 4234 23,360 62,659 902,045
Charge for the year ERRY 1749 = 43,889 12 2,449 9,632 73317
Impairment HE 71,984 44217 20,774 - 2573 126,664 646,212
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 42) ~ HEMBAA (HizH42) - - - - (200) - (200)
Transfer from assefs classifiedas ~ BEEAEARELER
held for sale (note 28) BE(fiios) 39,738 - - - - - 39,738
Exchang diferences Ei2E (10,784) (14729) (12649 - (627 (5,951) #4739
M30June202and 1Juy 202 R-E-—FXA=TAR
Sl = s bl 439,042 477,582 475,110 4246 27,555 192,904 1,616,439
Charge for the year ERREY 16,168 - 38,307 2 1810 - 56,399
Impairment HE 15,783 - 339,223 563 3,842 - 369,411
Written off ik - - - - (7.352) - (7.352)
Deconsolidation of a subsidlary YNNG
(Note 41) (FzEa1) (141,056) (454,567) (63,158) - (6,154) (183,303) (848,239)
Exchange differences EiZR (27,018 (23,015) (40,887) (18 (1,357) (0,601) (101,89)
At 30 June 2023 RZE-=FA=1H 302,919 = 748,685 4815 18,344 - 1,074,763
Carrying amounts KEE
At 30 June 2023 R-E-=%#7:A=1A 198,679 6,833 184,462 - - - 389974
At 30 June 2022 R-E-—%~A=1H 245,683 784 588,300 286 5420 - 840,473
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RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - REKRE@®

(Continued)

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount of certain buildings of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$134,901,000 (2022:
HK$153,757,000) for which relevant legal titles have not yet been
obtained. At the date of approval on these consolidated financial
statements, the application for obtaining the aforesaid legal titles is still
in progress.

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amounts of buildings amounted to
approximately HK$40,661,000 (2022: HK$48,418,000) have been
pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans and other loans.

Impairment assessment

As at 30 June 2023, certain property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets of the Group had been allocated to cash-generating-
unit of calcium carbide segment (the “Calcium Carbide CGU”) (2022:
cash-generating-unit of Heat and Power segment (the “Heat and
Power CGU”) and Calcium Carbide CGU) for impairment assessment
due to a deterioration in economic conditions.

The recoverable amounts of the Calcium Carbide CGU (2022: Heat
and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU) at the end of reporting
period had been determined based on a value-in-use calculation, which
used cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
directors of the Company and valued by an independent professional
valuer covering a five-year period and using a pre-tax discount rate.
Cash flows beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using
the estimated growth rate stated below. This growth rate does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the market.

RZEZ=F~"A=+8 ~&EHH
AEEENAENZETEFZEREE
49 5 134,901,000 8 . (=& = = F
153,757,000/8 70 ) > Nz E4r 6 M S HmK
RO BHR - EEN BT ALA T S 2 BB TE e
179 °

R-ZE-—=F"A=+8 " BF2F@
B #) 540,661,000 T (=T = =
48,418,000/ L) BRI IE A AL BIRITE
KR EAEFRAIELR o

A A

= K&HE ++¥%¥ e l??ibf%&* ﬁl%&ﬁﬁﬁ
EEEEDEEMEISD AR EEEBN
(Wﬁﬂ:ﬁﬁ%ﬁi B ) (=T —F : &
G2 DEHIREEEBMN([RERESD
iﬁﬁéi B |) RRAAbi5IR S E A B ) A
EITRERE °

RBEHRR > S REELEL(=F
T F A NENREEEBL LR
ﬁé?i%ﬁ)E’JTH&@&%@H&H‘“E%T
Bt HEE - ZetEARAEREEAR
%ﬁt/ﬁl%&ﬁ4%¥1$1EEW1$TEE’U£$,HHH7T
BRENRERETRR - WIRTATHTIR K
HisH - BBRFHPRRESRENERT
X PrEH R R R o IR RIS
Mg Lz REFFHIERE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

18. 1% - BMERZE @

Impairment assessment (Continued) BB R ()
Key assumptions used in the calculation are as follows: STEMAZBERERAT
2023 2022
—EB-=EF B

Heat and Calcium Heat and Calcium
Power CGU  Carbide CGU Power CGU Carbide CGU
BERED Bib45 HEEREN fix{k 45
REeELEN BHLELEQ HeELASU  BHEeELASM
Gross loss/profit margin E18/ R (FUAKY N/ATiE A 24%  -27%t0 -34% 36% to 48%
(% of revenue) Batt) 27%ZE-34% 36%Z£48%
Net loss/profit margin SRR B E(ERAK N/ATE A -6%1t02%  -49%to0 -57% 11% to 23%
(% of revenue) B -6%Z2% -49%%E-57% 11%Z23%
Long term growth rate REER® N/ATER 2% 2% 2%
Discount rate = N/ATER 13% 13% 13%

The above key assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation
of the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU as at 30
June 2023 and 2022. The following describes each key assumption
on which the management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of property, plant and equipment.

Gross loss/profit margin — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross loss/profit margin is the average gross
profit/loss margin expected to achieve since the year when heat and
power is provided, and the calcium carbide is sold.

Net loss/profit margin — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted net loss/profit margin is the average net profit/loss
margin expected to achieve since the year when heat and power is
provided, and the calcium carbide is sold.

Long-term growth rate — The long-term growth rate does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the industry and the country in
which the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU currently
operate.

E’\_?_ FRZZZZFRA=TH &
SRR RENIREES BN RiR(CISEE
FE 1421§%F@ETE1§}EHJ:LIK@X
Fo UTREEREERSMEETED
% BEREREREAGRE 2 SEEER

o,

ER/ENE-AREERTHEEER £
MENEENEESEHEIRHERAENE

&fﬁiﬁmtfﬂjﬁftifﬂE’\]ﬂ?iﬂ%ﬂ/%iéi

FEEENR - AREEG THEESE
8,/ ERIR M BENREATER AR
RE B E RS AR T T
R EBE -

RMERE - REREIREERERE
NE S BB R SRS EE S A A
MERETERARNRATHOREER -
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RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ - REKRE@®

(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)
Discount rate — The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the Heat and Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU.

Based on the above, the management of the Group assessed that the
recoverable amounts of the Calcium Carbide CGU (2022: Heat and
Power CGU and Calcium Carbide CGU) were lower (2022: lower and
higher) than its (2022: their) respective carrying values as at 30 June
2023.

Accordingly, an impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets allocated to Calcium Carbide CGU (2022:
Heat and Power CGU) of approximately HK$343,628,000 (2022:
HK$641,841,000) and HK$NIl (2022: HK$46,526,000) were recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year
ended 30 June 2023 on the basis of material decline in the recoverable
amount of the Calcium Carbide CGU (2022: Heat and Power CGU)
and taking into account the adverse changes in the market in calcium
carbide (2022: heat and power) business.

Except for the impairment assessment based on the value-in-use
calculations as mentioned above, the remaining buildings which were
not allocated to the Group’s operating segments (the “Unallocated
Segment”’) as at 30 June 2023 and 2022 (the “Other Buildings”)
for impairment assessment purpose had been assessed by reference
to the fair value less cost of disposal performed by an independent
professional valuer under the depreciated replacement cost method
which is categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Key
assumptions used include price per unit and price per site unit. There
were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year ended 30
June 2023.

BB R ()

REIR K — T FIRVRL IR R AR ATAN R R I &
BRERZAE R HIRSE A B RIS RS
E 4 BRI T ER -

ER A EAt ZK‘*I%EEEEWMWI:%
REeEABM(ZT_—F: ARERENR
iiiiu&ﬁmtﬁiﬁiﬁ:i 5 () B AT
BE&ERNZE_—F: BERERSR)E
(ZB-—F : BAIRB_=F A=+
HHRREE °

At - Eﬂzﬁmftfﬂjﬁiﬁi B (=ZF
== ENBRSEAEM) MY
% W%& ﬁu&ﬁ%%ﬁ@%ﬁ@%
B Bl #1343,628,0008 L ( —FE — —
641,841,000 7)) R EFEL(ZT ==

46,526,000 T ) RAKBEE T —_=4F
NAZTHIEFEGFABRRPER - HE
RIALIEIR S EL B (—T = — 4 : 24e

RENBEEEEN) NAIRE SN AR
PR RBMEIE(— B — 4 : A RE )%
SIS R FI &

B bl bAfE R EEE AR ERRET S
SN BERERMEmNE  RZZEZ=FRk=F
ZZFERNAETA R TUESEEAEE
KEDE([RAED ) HEF ([ Hihig
FNELEB Y EXHEMBIRITEZEEN
ISRETRAFER B SRATE - WEER
HARNTFEEBRNEIE - TAEZREE
EEEMEREBEREMNER - HE-T
—ZEXNAZTHLEE - BEFATES
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

18.

19.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Impairment assessment (Continued)

Based on the above, the management of the Group assessed that
the recoverable amounts of the Other Buildings were lower (2022:
lower) than their respective carrying values as at 30 June 2023. As a
result, the impairment losses of the Other Buildings of approximately
HK$15,783,000 (2022: approximately HK$4,371,000) were recognised
during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Regarding for the impairment assessment based on the value-in-use
calculation and fair value less cost of disposal above, an aggregate
amount of an impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$359,411,000 (2022:
HK$646,212,000) and HK$NIl (2022: HK$46,526,000) were recognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year

18. 1% - BMERZE @

BB R ()

HERN P RIE - AREEEEERE 0 R
“=FXA=tH"

—-=

N—=

Hi@F U E 5

BR(—TB-—%F: 1&%)@15@%@@ =
lﬂ: F@i_v_fﬁ/\ﬂ:+5¢¢&_'
B HERHAMIEF R EEE 415,783,000/
: #94,371,000%87T) °

TL(ZF

BB A E R B EFE A EENRER

E R

P X %

FERBEXRANE
REANEREEENRESRS

ME B

5t 49359,411,0008 T (Z & = =

646,212,000/87C) KEETL(=

46,526, OOO/%TE)EEAKEIEZifY ——

ended 30 June 2023. FAAZTHIEFENGERERNER
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EAEEE
Leasehold Leased
land property Total
HELH HEWE 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FA&T FABT FAT
At 1 July 2021 RZTE-_—FtH—H 276,754 3,419 280,173
Depreciation e (6,894) (2,159) (9,053)
Impairment B (46,526) - (46,526)
Reclassified from assets classified BB A IELENEESH
as held for sale (note 28) %8 (f1zE28) 26,981 - 26,981
Exchange differences EH =58 (3,784) - (3,784)
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 RZEZ—_FAA=Z+HEK
—E-—#+H—H 246,531 1,260 247,791
Depreciation e (5,681) (1,260) (6,941)
Exchange differences PE N =58 (11,964) = (11,964)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-_=9%A=+H 228,886 - 228,886
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RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 10. EREEE @)

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$1,483,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$NIil
(2022: HK$1,260,000) as at 30 June 2023. The lease agreements do
not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

RZFEZ=FA=tHABREEEEDN

ZHIL(=ZZF = —4 : 1,483,000/8 7T ) &2

HEEAREENTEL(ZTE 4 :

1,260,000 7T) ° BRIEFAARFENHEEE

m#w@ Hh + FRE 2 3 R e AN {Efr] 2
- HEEETSRIERIIER -

2023 2022
—EC-=F T &
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHBT FAT
Expense relating to short-term 50 HATH S 4ERE 2 2

leases 1,097 320
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  {FAEEEITE 6,941 9,053
Impairment on right-of-use assets ¥ FEEERE - 46,526

Interest on lease liabilities (included FTHE & &EF| 8 (Bt AT
in finance costs) FXAR) 53 359
Total cash outflow for leases HEZBS LB 2,633 2,954

The Group leases office for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of less than 1 year (2022: three years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

AEEBEERERIESERRE - FATZAE
EENEEIR—F(ZF__F : =F) -
THE B TR {E R AR R - B2 MR R
Gt - BEEE R E T A REE R &
B AEBERASONER - UBEEAMNH
HITHHAR -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

In addition, the Group owns several office buildings and industrial
buildings where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were made upfront
to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land components of
these owned properties are presented separately only if the payments
made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for leased property,
motor vehicles, machinery and equipment. As at 30 June 2023 and
2022, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term leases expense disclosed
above.

The leasehold lands are located in the PRC under medium-term leases
and the leased property in Hong Kong are held under short-term
leases.

As at 30 June 2023, leasehold land with carrying amount of
approximately HK$190,308,000 (2022: HK$203,968,000) have been
pledged to secure banking facilities and other loans granted to the
Group.

Impairment assessment

Details of the impairment assessment of certain leasehold lands
allocated to the Calcium Carbide CGU (2022: Heat and Power CGU
and Calcium Carbide CGU) as set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Except for the impairment assessment based on the value-in-
use calculations as set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, certain leasehold lands which were not allocated to the
Group’s operating segments (the “Other Leasehold Lands”) as at 30
June 2023 and 2022 for impairment assessment purpose had been
assessed by reference to fair value less cost of disposal performed by
an independent professional valuer. The Group use direct comparison
to estimate the fair value less cost of disposal which is based on the
recent transaction prices for similar properties adjusted for nature,
location and conditions of the property. The fair value measurement is
categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy. There were no changes to
the valuation techniques during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Based on the above, the management of the Group assessed that the
recoverable amounts of the Other Leasehold Lands were higher (2022:
higher) than their respective carrying values as at 30 June 2023. As a
result, no impairment loss of the Other Leasehold Lands (2022: Nil) was
recognised during the year ended 30 June 2023.

19. FREEE @)

AN - REETER 2 (8 2RUERTETER
WMARNBRTENE - AEBRZSYHERE
HHEMEBA  SFEEEEEL - 21k
RSN —GBRIE - WIBZSMHEEE - R
BERBNRAUAISEDEER - Z5CHA
MENRETHE S TS EBZ27 -

NEEFHT L AEME - AE - B RE
HBREERE N =FExr_-_FT_—

ANA=TH - RHESASEUR EURE
HRARHAERSTNEHAEHRES -

HEL R EREFMEQRFE - MEE
WMEREBIRIFRAEOFE

RZEZ=F~A=Z+H ' kEE
#7 190,308,000 /& T ( = T = = :
203,968,000 7T ) BT & + 2 /EHE ] -
LAERS AL BERARITREE R EME R -

BB A
HEToRERBREELSEN (=T
F o AERENRSEEBM I SRS
EAEMN)NAE T ERES ERREE
BTSSR MIEE18 ©

Bire M BmRMEIsSARENEAEE
SAEMBERGEN  RZBZ=FR=F
ToFRNAZTHE BETUESREREE
ey EE ([ EeBE L it )R
EFFETE 2 E MBI R X MHERMETH
DFER I ERATELFHE - AEBEER
BEERLEE  UMERT A TEREEKRAE - B
RERNBLMENTHRR(E - YERYE
S -~ sE R GIHEL AR - ATERE
BERANTEERFEIR BE_T-_=F
NA=THLEFE - [EDELEES -

ER L RE - AEEERENGEGEE
TR ESEER(ZE=2F : @R)
ER—E-_=FAA=THESEMNEAE -
Hit r REE-ZT = A=1+HI%F
B WEREMAE T hERRESE(Z
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20. RAFEFAREZCHEE

2023 2022
—E-=F T &
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT AT
Derivative financial assets (Note (a)) PTESREE (@) 2,075 =
Listed shares in Hong Kong, at fair value B EmkG - BAFEED)
(Note (0)) 116 1,971
2,191 1,971
Less: current portion B mEE D (116) (1,971)
Non-current portion EMENER S 2,075 =
Notes: it
(@  The derivative financial assets represents the fair value of a call option @ (THEeRBEEEEIRRN_ZE_=F"A
granted by the vendor in connection with the acquisition of a subsidiary on THAKENBARRENRABHENR
15 June 2023 (Note 40). The fair value of the call option of approximately FE(HZEL0) RZTEZ=F A=+
HK$2,075,000 (2022: HK$Nil) as at 30 June 2023 was arrived at a H - REEREN A TERL2,0750008 7T
valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer not (ZZ==F : TFm) ' DHEAREEY
connected to the Group, using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. EEAENBEY S EREXGEMTER =
HEIRE R BAETGEI T EER -
()  Listed shares in Hong Kong included in the financial assets at FVTPL b) R-ZZE-_—_FXA=+H ' KAFE:

were mainly investment in China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co.
Limited (Stock Code: 1940) (“CGIl HLDGS”) amounting to approximately
HK$1,820,000 as at 30 June 2022.

Given the trading of the shares of CGIl HLDGS on the Stock Exchange
was suspended as at 30 June 2022, the fair value of the Group’s
investment in CGIl HLDGS as at 30 June 2022 was arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group, using the guideline public company
method under the market approach which employed price-to-sales
(“P/S”) multiple in the valuation, which is a generally accepted approach in
the industry. The selection of guideline companies is by understanding the
principal business of the valuation target and search for public companies
with businesses as similar with the valuation target as possible.
Subsequently to 30 June 2022, the trading on the Stock Exchange of the
shares of CGIl HLDGS was resumed on 13 September 2022.

AEBRZEREETRES LM ZRG
F Z & K China Gas Industry Investment
Holdings Co. Limited ( B& 15 X 5% : 1940)
(['CGIl HLDGS |) 7 1& & #71,820,000 7
=

EEFACGI HLDGSHIBR AR =T = —F /< A
= THEBRRIEE  AEER=_F ==
75 A=+ BHCGI HLDGSH)I&E A F
BEEREAAEEHERENEBEYAERSE
EHEMETHHEAREESL  RNEE
FRREBEAMHEE([MER])EHENTES
ERRAESIARARE  WAEALERE
FH) 5L o EIBIES| AR NEA T REE
BiEz FBEBRWSHERKEAEEGEE
BEZERUZARAR - BRE-ZT=_=

NA=+H ' CGll HLDGSE (===
FNA+=BEBRIFERE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

21. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

21. RBELECRE

Reconciliations of the Group’s investment in an associate accounted AEEFEAEREAARZRBEREIRE
for using the equity method are as follows: ZEERIATE

2023 2022

—E-=HF - —F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHET FAT

At 1 July R+A—8 - 10,108

Share of post-acquisition loss FE(E Ui 1% 518 - (137)

Share of other comprehensive expense DEEMEERS - (692)

Transferred to assets classified as held for sale R EHFEAFEHENEE - (9,379)

At 30 June RKANA=+H - -

Details of the Group’s associate:

Name of associate

RELERR

Principal activity

ETEEK

REEBEDEZFE -

Proportion of ownership
Place of establishment and interest/profit sharing

principal place of business held by the Group
rEEFEZ

R BE R EE b B FiE# FIED =Ll
2023 2022

—EgE-=F —E-—F

Mudanjiang Xusheng Limited*
(“Mudanjiang Xusheng”)

HATEABR AT
(MtHTEA])

Manufacture and sales of
chemical products

FENHECTIER

*  English name is for identification purpose only

PRC 50% 50%

]

Y EXEBENRS)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()
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INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarised financial information of an associate is set out below.
The amounts presented below are after adjustments made to equity-
account of the associate.

21. RBELECIRE®

BEMEZMBEMMEHFNTX - TX2
PO S AR R -

Mudanjiang Xusheng Limited*

HATHRAEERAR
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
At 30 June: RNA=+H:
Non-current assets ERBEE - -
Current assets MENEE - -
Current liabilities mENaE - =
Year ended 30 June: HENAZTHIEEE
Revenue Uz - -
Loss for the year NEEEE - (274)

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interests in an
associate and the entity also had no material contingent liabilities.

Despite the Group owns 50% of the equity interest in Mudanjiang
Xusheng, however, the Group was unable to obtain power over
more than 50% of the voting rights in Mudanjiang Xusheng by virtue
to the terms and conditions set out in its Articles of Association.
Consequently, the Group classified investment in Mudanjiang Xusheng
as investment in an associate.

On 21 January 2022, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with Tianjin Boguang Chemical Technology Company
Limited*, an independent third party to the Group, pursuant to
which the Group has conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity
interest held in Mudanjiang Xusheng, being 50% of its share capital,
at a consideration of RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$8,765,000 (2022: HK$9,379,000)) under which a cash deposit
amounted to RMB5,700,000 (2022: RMB4,500,000) (equivalent
to approximately HK$6,245,000 (2022: HK$5,276,000)) had been
received by the Group. Accordingly, the carrying amount of investment
in an associate had been classified as assets held for sale and are
presented separately in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2023 and 2022. Details of above are set out in note 28(a)
to the consolidated financial statements.

The sale has been taking more than one year. An extension has been
granted as the delay was caused by events beyond the entity’s control,
and there is sufficient evidence that the entity remains committed to the
sale of the asset.

*  English name is for identification purpose only

*

BEARASENG 2 XAES AR
& ZERTEEALNEIE -

BEREEERHFIIER50%HHE - B
RIBH TR MBS E 2 4 RIAR E 5K
MG AREEZESHH I TBA50%
A ERYFRORE - Bt - AREREHH TR
ANRENFERRBEEEZIRE -

R-T-_—F—F=—+—H8  AEBFEAE
BEMBYE = A RZER A TRMERA
RIFIN B E W= © Bt - ZEEEEER
SHEHFREANEFHIBS M2 P AE
(BNEB50% M7 ) - ﬂﬂ?‘;?%/xﬁﬁ%soooooo
7T (FEE 7 478,765,000 7T (= :
9,379,000/ 7T)) E#ﬁﬁlau&ﬂfﬁi
51 AR®5,700,000c(Z - —F : A
R #4,500,0007T) (#8& 1 #6,245,0007% 7T
(ZE=—%F : 5276,000/7T)) ° Eitt - »
a2 2 IEMRAEDH Y B AR ED
ENEE YR _T_=—FR_FT__FX
H +HMEGRA VSRR RPEBES - £
MBS R R A B S 2R T 5E28(a) ©

ZHEDETEZR—F - ARNTEETIERER
FEBREPTREE S EM - BB BB ERER
ERDBNEREEHE - WEMAETH -

EXEBERHT
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

22. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 22, HthEEEE
Exclusive Trade Technical Construction
right name know-how contracts Goodwill Total
55% 2 BATAR BESH LS @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT THT TAT
Cost A
At 1 July 2021 R-ZE-_—F+A—H 72,347 33,459 18,401 38,742 699 163,648
Written off g4 - - - (38,960) - (38,960)
Exchange differences EHER - - (464) 218 - (246)
At 30 June 2022 and W-ZE-—%#:A=1+H
1 July 2022 N_ZE-_—F+A-H 72,347 33,459 17,937 - 699 124,442
Written off ke - = = = (699) (699)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary & IHEA ARIB A
(note 41) (PsE41) (72,347) (33,459) - - - (105,806)
Exchange differences EHESR - - (1,175) - - (1,175)
At 30 June 2023 R-ZE-=%F,A=1H = = 16,762 = - 16,762
Accumulated amortisation RS RAESR
and impairment losses
At 1 July 2021 R-E-—F+A—H 72,347 33,459 18,401 38,742 699 163,648
Written off i = = - (38,960) - (38,960)
Exchange differences 5 =5 - - (464) 218 - (246)
At 30 June 2022 and R-ZE-—%# A=1H
1 July 2022 N=ZE-—F+A-H 72,347 33,459 17,937 - 699 124,442
Written off s - = = = (699) (699)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary & |H4rA AR B A A
(note 41) (Kizx41) (72,347) (33,459) - - - (105,806)
Exchange differences BEHZEE - - (1,179) - - (1,175)
At 30 June 2023 R-Z-_=%#:A=1+H = = 16,762 = - 16,762
Carrying amount BREE
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FXA=1A - - - - - -

At 30 June 2022 RZZE-—F,A=1H = = = = =
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 23. B ARER
Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and paid up/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ K BRIRAR/
R EELR LTS ZMER RARMERAR S TEEH
2023 2022
—EC-ZE —E-F
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect

E# [} B R

Dragon Boom Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary United States 100% - 100% - Investment holding
(‘BVI) dollar (‘US$') $1
ERRERRAA B il E(ES ) RERK
([%RELEE])

Gold Capture Investments Inc. BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
B LakET RERK

Prosper Path Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
B LRkET REEK

Quality Gain Investments Limited BvI Ordinary US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
ZRRAHS LARkET REER

Better Day Power Limited BVI Ordinary US$2 100% - 100% - Investment holding

[ERATERAA ERRLAHS LhkoET REER

Master King Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% - 100% - Inactive

EhEEARAA &b BRRIET EEXH

Daytech Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding

HEEERRAA ERRAHS BRRoET AR

Powerful Rise Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100% - 100% Inactive
ERRAHS BRRET TEXT

Racing Dragon Group Limited BvI Ordinary US$100 - 90% - 90%  Investment holding

(Racing Dragon’)

FRERARLAR(FE)) B EERI00%T AR
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name

4

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and
operation
HRRL/ R
CELE LTS

Issued and paid up/
registered capital
BRTRAR/
EfER

23. B A TER @

Percentage of equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

RAAFERFE A
2023 2022
ZE-cE —%of
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect

E& B B R

IERH

Mudanjiang BD Power

HATERAE

Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical Limited"
(‘Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical’)

HATRECTARAR(MATRELL])

Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical Engineering
Company Limited*
(‘Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical’)

TR TERAR (RATIRELT])

PRC (Note (a) Registered:
RMB260,000,000
Paid up:
RMB260,000,000
(i) -
AR #260,000,0007

B

AR #260,000,0007

PRC (Note (b)) Registered:
RMB558,844,000
Paid up:
RMB558,844,000
GEIGR) -
AR #558,844,0007

#R:

AR #558,844,0007

PRC (Note (c)) Registered:
RMB110,910,000
Paid up:
RMB110,910,000
HE(FiE () m
AE%110,910,0007

B

AR%110,910,0007

= 100%  Generation and supply of
heat and power

EERHEREREN

- 100% - 100% Manufacture and sale of

calcium carbide

BB R HERAS

- 6311% - 63.11% Manufacture and sale of

vinyl acetate

RELHERRLS
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. B ARER @

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and paid up/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ R BRTRAR/
£ BT /BR EfER RARFEREEA TEEH
2023 2022
ZEC=E —E_CF
Direct  Indirect Direct Indlrect
E# i E% it
Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin Chemical Company  PRC (Note () Registered: - 100% - 100% Manufacture and sale of
Limited" (‘Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin’) RMB237,050,000 polyvinyl-chloride
Paid up:
RMB237,050,000
IR AR AR i (i) S HERHERILR
(MATRLESR ) ARH237,050,0007
#R
AR 237,060,0007C
Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited* PRC (Note (g) Registered: - 90% - 90% Manufacture and sale of
('Heihe Longjiang Chemical’ RMB266,300,000 calcium carbide, polyvinyl-
Paid up: chloride and vinyl acetate
RMB266,300,000
AT IARLR( BAEILI)) i (fifz(e) S BERHERILE  BLR
N 266,300,0007C BRERLS
#R
AR 266,300,007
China Zenith Construction Materials Limited Cayman lslands Ordinary HK$0.01 - 100% - 100% Inactive
FEXEHERAR] HEHE LER0OIET e 373
Success Eagle Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100% - 100% Provision of administrative
and consultancy services
BRREERAA &b LRERIET RETHRTE R
Mudanjiang Longtuo New Energy Company PRC (Note (f) Registered: - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited" (‘Mudanjiang New Energy’) RMB50,000,000
Paid up: RMB Nil
HRTERMERARAR (IR ER))  RE(HEER) g REMER
AR50,000,0007

MR AREIL
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. B ARER @

Place/country of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and paid up/ Percentage of equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
HRRL/ R BRTRAR/
£ BT /BR ZMER RARFEREEA TEEH
2023 2022
ZEC=E —E_CF
Direct  Indirect Direct Indlrect
E# i E% it
Mudanjiang Longjin Wine Company Limited® PRC (Note (q)) Registered: - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(‘Longjin Wine’) RMB1,000,000
Paid up: RMB1,000,000
HAPTEEEXERAR (EBEE]) i (fE(g) - REBR
ARH1,000,0007
# : AR¥1,000,0007
Mudanjiang Longtuo Lithium Battery New PRC (Note (n)) Registered: - 100% - 100% Inactive
Material Company Limited* RMB100,000,000
Paid up: RMB Nil
A TEREE AR ERAR (it ) S BELH
ARE100,000,0007C
BT \REST
Nature Enterprise Management (Tianjin) PRC (Note () Registered: - 51% - 51% Inactive
Company Limited" RMB10,000,000
Paid up: RMB Nil
AREEER(R2)ERAA i () Al BEXH
AR¥10,000,00070
AT \REST
Mudanjiang Haidi Technology Company Limited*  PRC (Note (j) Registered: - 50% - - Production and sales of
(‘Mudanjiang Haidi") RMB10,000,000 chemical products
Paid up: RMB Nil for agriculture
WAL EEREREERAR(HHTER])  RE(E)) S FERMERF SR
AR¥10,000,0007
BT \REST

* English name is for identification purpose only
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23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Mudanjiang BD Power is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered
in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing from the
approval date of 9 June 2006. During the year, Mudanjiang BD Power
was taken over by Mudanjiang Authority of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development and deconsolidated on 26 August 2022. Details of the
deconsolidation are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 30 December 2006.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical is a sino-foreign equity joint venture
established in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 27 May 2004.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 26 April 2005.

Heihe Longjiang Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established
in the PRC for an operating period of 20 years commencing from the
approval date of 5 June 2008.

Mudanjiang New Energy is a limited liability company established in the
PRC with an indefinite operating period.

Longjin Wine is a limited liability company established in the PRC with an
indefinite operating period.

Mudanjiang Longtuo Lithium Battery New Material Company Limited is a
wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in the PRC with an indefinite
operating period.

Nature Enterprise Management (Tianjin) Company Limited is a wholly
foreign-owned enterprise registered in the PRC for an operating period of
50 years commencing from the approval date of 20 June 2022.

Mudanjiang Haidi is a limited liability company established in the PRC with
an indefinite operation period.

23. B A TER @®)

Wi

(@

HATIERREANT BRI BEE
1% KEHAHERRH T NF A
MBI RES0F - FA - HITERE
BEBHIMEEMRBERFHEE L
BERZZEZZFNAZFTNBRIELSE
iR - BRI IEAR A ARRZ FHIB RN 4R & B
BRI

HAT REC T AN BEEMR 2 B E
¥ KEHEHERR_TTRF+=
A=+ Biat RHAS0F

HATRIE T ARTBRKL 2 FINEE
AEME  QAHAiERE-—TTNE
A=+t BB BHI504F -

HIRIE S AR F H%ﬂ?ﬂﬂZ?hFﬁ@ﬁ
X KEBHEHERB-_TTRFMNA
—+NHEFHAHIB0E o

BT RRPRKZIZIINEGBED
¥ KEHEERR T N\F AL
B AEEt R H20% -

HATH R AN T BERZZ AR AR
WEREEACEH] -

REBELEA/NTEKIZZERAR - L&

HATREERBEBIM AR AR AN
Bz INBERR - WEETEALH o

AAGEEE(RE)BERABRNFEFE
Mz EBERE  KLHEIERH -
T - —F AT HEFABHI50EF ©

HATEERNPRKZIZERRR @ I
EHEELEH -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

23. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company eliminations.

23. B A TER @

TRITEBEUAEBBEAN 2 IR
(IR mEzs |) 2B ARER - itz
FBERERRIFLHATIZ S8R ©

Mudanjiang Mudanjiang
Dongbei Chemical Racing Dragon Haidi
HATRLET FE ST
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023
—EZ=fF T Bz —E-o—fF  CZEZZHE
Principal country/place of TELERR PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/BVI PRC/BVI PRC/PRC
business/country of MR LER HE, hE HE/RE  FE/EE EF
incorporation RZEB el
% of ownership interest/voting ~ FEERRIEZS AT
rights held by NCI FrEfEEs/ REE% 36.89% 36.89% 10% 10% 50%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TET TER THET TEr
At 30 June: RAB=1H:
Non-current assets FRBEE 26,323 34,833 393,306 825,876 3,232
Current assets REEE 226,568 242 179 18,223 54,151 7,613
Current liabilities mEEE (28,192) (29,628)  (1,165,487)  (1,309,445) (10,559)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(BfE)FHE 224,699 247,384 (753,958) (429,418) 286
Accumulated NCI et IR ER 82,891 91,260 (75,396) (42,942) 143
Year ended 30 June: BEXNA=THLEE:
Revenue Yegs - - 98,039 198,664 2,808
Loss B (6,682) (5,856) (364,994) (74,548) (804)
Total comprehensive expense 2 S #4%E (22,686) (12,217) (324,544) (63,200) (786)
Loss allocated to NCI AT IR ER 2 B (2,465) (2,160) (36,499) (7,459) (402)
Total comprehensive expense Pl TIERER 2 2 HH
allocated to NCI X (8,369) (4,507) (32,454) (6,320) (393)
Net cash generated from REFEMEREFR
operating activities - - 3,601 5,119 2,827
Net cash used in investing RERDMBE ST
activities - - (5,141) (3,090) (2,810)
Net cash used in financing MEEBMAGRE$H
activities - - - (726) -
Effect of foreign exchange rate ~ INEERE &) v 3/ &
changes - - (62) 91) -
Net (decrease)/increase incash ~ B& RRELZEER O
and cash equivalents P/ FE - - (1,602) 1,212 17
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24,

25.

INVENTORIES 24, 8
2023 2022
—E-=F T —F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
Raw materials JRAHL 5,269 5,395
Finished goods BURK i 316 16,802
Less: Provision for impairment loss B R EE IR (3,460) =
2,125 22,197
During the year ended 30 June 2023, impairment of slowing moving HE T = XA=THILFEE  #&iTF
inventories of approximately HK$3,563,000 (2022: reversal of EHIRIEX) 43,563,000/ T ( —E = —F ¢
impairment of HK$3,726,000) have been charged/(credited) to the BLERE[E13,726,000/8 7T ) B B4R S BRI
consolidated statement of profit or loss. B (GEA) °
The impairment of slow-moving inventories was caused by suspension BHEFEREERBE_ZE==FH
of manufacturing of calcium carbide during the year ended 30 June =T HIEFEEEEERS
2023.
The reversal of impairment of slowing moving inventories was caused FHEEENRERELERERNEES =
by resumption of manufacturing of the HLCL during the year ended 30 NA=THRIEFERNREI TIREEERT
June 2022. B o
TRADE RECEIVABLES 25. EWE ZER1E
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Trade receivables from contracts with customers 2RE &S & LR EIKE 58R1E 5,437 51,478
Less: allowance for ECL A TBEEEEERE (7) (21,719
5,430 29,759
The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The AEBEEZREERIERFETRS &
credit terms generally range from 15 to 90 days (2022: 15 to 30 BEH—MNT15290H(ZF=_—4F : 152
days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 30H) o AEBE B BRG] HAREEER

receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the Directors. RIE o BN ESTHERM
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date,
and net of allowance, is as follows:

25, EIWE S RE @)

e E SRR TR (R B ) IR B Z A B 27
ZIRER DA

2023 2022

—E-=F T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within 30 days 30HA 3,078 6,447
31 to 60 days 31260H 282 314
61 to 90 days 61290H 539 1,679
91 to 120 days 91£120H 325 3,990
121 to 150 days 12121508 - 3,456
151 to 180 days 151£2180H 383 3,463
181 to 365 days 181£365H 823 10,410
5,430 29,759

The Group’s trade receivables are denominated in RMB.
As at 30 June 2023, an allowance of approximately HK$7,000
(2022: HK$21,719,000) was made for estimated irrecoverable trade

receivables.

The movement in allowance of ECL for trade receivables is as follows:

REEZENE SRBAAREE -

MN-EBE-=FxA=18 St Tak
Bl el E 5 BRTERHE EE 47,0008 T (= F
— % : 21,719,000/ 7T) °

EWE ZRIBEREEBHREH 2 EFH0N
T

2023 2022

—EC=8 —E &

HK$°000 HK$’000

FER FAT

At 1 July R+A—A 21,719 19,353
(Reversal of)/provision of allowance Bl (BE), e (818) 3,311
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary RIEERA ABRKTB AR (19,868) =

Exchange differences EH Z=5E (1,026) (945)
At 30 June ®NA=+AH 7 21,719

As at 30 June 2023, trade receivables net of allowance of ECL of
approximately HK$1,531,000 (2022: HK$23,312,000) were past due
but not impaired. These mainly relate to a number of independent
customers that are either active and or have a good track record and
established creditworthiness with the Group for whom there is no
recent history of default.

RZT_=FA=1+H " EKEZFEE
(kT8 BiE BB 1875 ) 491,531,000
TT(ZZ = =4 : 23,312,000/ ) BEEEHR
WHERE - WEZRZ(EERIEERTAE
IRl - WEHRASERYERNELEFE
B8 o 1% S 3T BRI S 30 X IR TR0 8
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 26. FE{ITFIE - ST R EMERR

RECEIVABLES 15
2023 2022
—EC=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THETT
Prepayments TR IR 14,925 30,400
Deposits HA 1,257 757
Other receivables oAb fEMGRIE 64,942 182,595
Less: allowance for ECL R i‘ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ (54,764) (139,949)
26,360 73,808
The carrying amounts of Group’s prepayments, deposits and other AL BRI RE mﬂTi&E@rL&W@EZEﬁ
receivables are denominated in the following currencies: HEETIA T EREHE
2023 2022
—=2-= —E -4
HK$°000 HK$’000
TET THETT
HK$ BT 1,227 18,801
RVMB AR 25,133 55,002
26,360 73,808

The movement in allowance of ECL for deposits and other receivables is

Al e R EMERFORIEL BRE R ERE

as follows: R T

2023 2022

—EC-=8% —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

At 1 July wntA—8 139,949 216,651
Provision of allowance FHERHE 18,533 22,973
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBA - (100,815)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary BIEE /\)\E-EW% (97,836) =
Exchange differences ME 5 =5 (5,882) 1,140
At 30 June HNA=+H 54,764 139,949

As at 30 June 2023, allowance of approximately HK$18,533,000 (2022:
HK$22,973,000) was made for estimated irrecoverable deposits and
other receivables under general approach of HKFRS 9 with reference to
historical loss record of the Group. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information as factors affecting
the ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

RZZBZ=FRA=1TH 2ZAKEWN

BABERE  BEDBYEHREENFE
RE— R EE AT A W E T & R E
fth B U TR IB AT FR B 55 49 18,533,000 7T (=
T 4 : 22,973,000/ 7C) © AN B H B
FERREHARURMRE BT ERZEF
HEEEWIEREE TR E AT M ATEEE
B} o
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27. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 27. RITRBE2ERF
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Cash in banks and on hand IRITRFERS 2,898 12,874

As at 30 June 2023, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$2,103,000
(2022: HK$4,532,000) and out of which amounted to approximately
HK$627,000 (2022: HK$1,734,000) was frozen by the Court of
Heilongjiang Province. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations. The Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

RZBE-=FXA=1H0 XEEUAR
B REN ZIR1TRIRE 174 /52,103,000
BIL(ZZE == : 4532,000/7C) ' M
H 4 54627,000/8 T ( T = —4F :
1,734,000/ 70 ) B BB T EABLRES ° A
R¥E H 30 5NE 78 52 o BICHNE B B IR &
(HEIE ~ BERMNESTEREIRS - NEE
BB R 1TINE SR IRIT I A RIS
HMABHMEY -

28. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 28. PEABELENEE

The following assets were classified as held for sale as at 30 June: RANA=+H - TIEESERRELE :
2023 2022
—EC-=F B S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHIT

Assets classified as held for sale PERBEHENEE

An associate company (Note (a)) B A A] (P E(a)) 8,765 9,379

Notes:

(@) Save for disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, on
21 January 2022, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Tianjin Boguang Chemical Technology Company Limited, an
independent third party to the Group, pursuant to which the Group has
conditionally agreed to sell the entire equity interest held in Mudanjiang
Xusheng, representing 50% of its share capital, at a consideration of
RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$8,765,000 (2022:
HK$9,379,000)), under which a cash deposit amounted to RMB5,700,000
(2022: RMB4,500,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$6,245,000
(2022: HK$5,276,000)) had been received by the Group. Accordingly, the
carrying amount of investment in Mudanjiang Xusheng had been classified
as assets held for sale and are presented separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023 and 2022. Up to the
approval on these consolidated financial statements, the transaction has
not yet completed and the management of the Group is of the view that it
will be completed subsequent to the reporting date.

@ BREAVBHRERMEAITEESEN R
T-_—_F—A=-+—H AEFEKEH
HIBM B =FREBHETHMERAR
AN EE W Bt AEBERERE
HEEFEHSTES 2P (B
H50%/48) - R {E A& AK%8,000,0007T
(FBE RN 48,765,000/8 T (=T = — 4 :
9,379,000/ 7)) « ERAREEE WHIR
£3:T4& AR#5700,000T(ZE =4 :
AR #4,500,0007T ) (18 & 7 £76,245,000
BT (T = —4F : 5276,000/87T)) °
gt RIS Z R ENEEEDED
HEARELHENEE  WR=ZT=_=FK
T FRNAZTENGAMBERRR
FEB2Y - EEMFLRETHERERIE
Bl WBRBHKRTK @ MAEEEE
BiRA - ILIER S ERHRE B BT
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 & ZF —F —=# xA="1HIFZ

28. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

29.

(Continued)

The movement in assets classified as held for sale is as follows:

28. THERFFLHENEE@®

DRAFERENEENZBNT

2023 2022
—E-=HF - S =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
At 1 July Rt A—8 9,379 112,343
Transfer from investment in an associate EEABERENRE - 9,379
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EREYE - BE REE - (77,138
Transfer to right-of-use assets ERECAEEE - (26,981)
Loss on reclassification charged to profit or loss EH OB ABRAEE - (5,393)
Exchange differences bE 5 =R (614) (2,831)
At 30 June RARA=+H 8,765 9,379
SHARE CAPITAL 29. A
2023 2022
—E-=HF - F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000/% & IXHE &
HK$0.10 each 01078 T 2 EiBA% 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
527,548,168 (2022: 2,660,560,978) 527,548,168 (=& — — 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 2,660,560,978% ) &A% E A
0108 T2 AR 52,755 266,056
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 29. BRA (@)
Number of
ordinary
shares Par value
ZER
#H HE
000 HK$'000
TFhx FAT
Authorised: VERE ¢
At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 WHR-_ZE-_—F+H—H  —ZT = —4F
NA=tBERER-_ZE-_—FtA—H 500,000 500,000
Share consolidation (Note (d)) B&1n& O (B 3E(d)) (475,000) -
Share sub-division (Note (d)) A1 Hr 48 (Bfd7E(d)) 475,000 -
At 30 June 2023 R-BE-_=F,A=+H 500,000 500,000
Issued: BT :
At 1 July 2021 R-ZTE-——F+HA—H 1,603,707 160,371
Placing of shares (Note () BEE AR5 (M 5E () 170,000 17,000
Rights issue (Note (b)) HEAR (B 5 (o) 886,854 88,685
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 R-E-—FA=+HK
—E-__#+H—H 2,660,561 266,056
Issue of share on conversion of convertible BB AR E SR EITIRD
bonds (Note (c)) (FI3E() 354,000 35,400
Capital reorganisation (Note (d)) BAREH M) (2,863,833) (286,383)
Rights issue (Note (e)) HAR (FI5EE)) 376,820 37,682
At 30 June 2023 R=E==FA=1+AH 527,548 52,755
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

On 3 September 2021, a total of 170,000,000 shares with subscription
price of HK$0.25 per share were issued under general mandate pursuant
to the subscription agreement dated 24 August 2021. The net proceeds
of approximately HK$40,951,000 was used for repayment of debts and
general working capital of the Group.

On 7 January 2022, a total of 886,853,659 rights shares with subscription
price of HK$0.12 per rights share were allotted and issued pursuant to
the underwriting agreement entered on 23 November 2021. The net
proceeds of approximately HK$106,422,000 was used for repayment of
the Group’s indebtedness and general working capital.

On 21 June 2022, the Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$35,400,000 with the rights to converted
into 354,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at conversion
price of HK$0.1 per share. The convertible bonds of approximately
HK$29,996,000 were converted into 354,000,000 ordinary shares on 4
July 2022.

On 14 December 2022, the Company implemented a share consolidation
of every twenty (20) existing shares of par value of HK$0.1 each in the
ordinary shares of the Company into one (1) consolidated share of par
value of HK$2.00 each with effect from 16 December 2022. Immediately
following the share consolidation, issued share capital of the Company
will be reduced by (a) rounding down the total number of consolidated
shares in the issued share capital of the Company to the nearest whole
number by cancelling any fraction of a consolidated share in the issued
share capital of the Company; and (b) cancelling the paid up capital
of the Company to the extent of HK$1.9 on each of the then issued
consolidated shares such that the par value of each issued consolidated
share will be reduced from HK$2.0 to HK$0.1. Besides, every authorised
but unissued consolidated shares of HK$2.0 each were sub-divided into
20 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each. The capital reorganisation was
completed on 16 December 2022. Details of which are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 21 November 2022 and announcement dated
14 December 2022 and 16 December 2022.

On 27 January 2023, a total of 376,820,120 rights shares with
subscription price of HK$0.2 per rights share were allotted and issued
pursuant to the underwriting agreement entered on 18 October 2022. The
net proceeds of approximately HK$75,364,000 was used for repayment
of the Group’s indebtedness and general working capital.

29, A (@)

Wi

(@)

R-ZZ-_—%FhA=H ' &170,000,000
BB - RIBEASTR0.25BTERIKBE
HA—ZTZ-_—FN\A-_+OHNRER
E A —BEBRET FIEREFEY
40,951,000 L E AR EE A EEES &
—REEES -

R-_ZTE-—F—A+H BREEHA-
T —F+—A-+=ANBHERERR
2% 174 $£886,853,659 A% fE B AL 17 + 7R
BB E A TRERARH0.12/8TT ° FTERIA
TE A8 49106,422,000/8 T E AR EEAE
EEER—BEEES -

R-ZZE-—FXA-+—H ' XAFEET
7K 4 48 %8.35,400,00078 JT A AT R IR & 55 -
MR F AR R E B R0 B TR AR
A 7354,000,000 8 L@k - R=F ==
F£+ BB - #929,996,0005% 7T & A # f%
&% B 1 4354,000,0000% & @A% o

RZZE-—_F+-_A+WMAB  NXARET
BHEH  ARREEBRP T =10
BREEABTZRAERMGEHAE—)
RERMEmE2.008T2aMHEn  B=F
——FE+ - At ABREAN - BERDA
Btig - AR RIBBITRAGEBUAT AR
B ¢ ()RR RIE EITRAHR A HHIR
DEERZERD - BARREBTRA
FREFROBEM TNEESEAZE
o ROEERFDEITAFRG T ERE
H1.9B LB REETE HRG 2 EE
H2.0B TR E0. 1T - B AR
RIZBRIRA - N - FREE2.08T2
ETEBREITE HIRGN B IR B0 &R
EEO BT ZH T @ - RASHEER=
T _F+ZA+ANAZRK o FEHAAN
ARAHAZT__F+—A=+—HZ
BHARBEA—S-_—F+=-A+MWA
ERZZT-_—F+=ZRA+AZRE -

RZZE_=F—A=++tH ERER=
T —F+ A+ /\BiI Mz B iEpaEhc s
& %% 17376,820,120 & AR AR 17 + REEE
BERERIRH0.287T o FTSRIEFELN
75,364,000/ L E AEEEAER 2 ER
RRAE—REEES -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by
considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back
shares, raise new debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group are: (i) in
order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a
public float of at least 25% of the shares; and (ii) to meet financial
covenants attached to the interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group receives reports from major shareholders and other
connected persons on any changes in shares held by them to ensure
the continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year.

The Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules during the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

29, A (@)

BEXEE
ARBEAKER LN E RAREARES

BELE  BBBCEBRRAEHA
h%kh?ﬁ@ﬁ

AEERERLIIETEASHE - AEEE
BENGRE - WRBEENRRE(CRBEE
ENERFBEHREE - AEBEBREEE
ARARBEEERNARANRREEERME
RIEE - BERIRABRERSE  AKEA
BERE SRR - BITHAR - @R
BEMER BRBENERIHEEEN
A ER -

INPEAEBIEMZ EABKANEARR
DRIRD2EUH RRIFRE + AR E B
TR ETHAL ¢ R (i) A AT BB TR A
BTSSR -

AEEFETERNEMBEATEBRES
FR#FRRm M E B MRE - EREEEE
N BB ST25%RI R EE ©

REE_T-_=FK_FT-__F,A=+H
LEFE  ARRE#EF EMRARENAR
HRE -
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

30. FERERTE

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) was
adopted on 20 December 2012 for a period of 10 years. The purpose
of the Old Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Under the Old Scheme, the Directors may, at their sole discretion, grant
to any eligible participants options to subscribe for ordinary shares of
the Company at the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (i) the
nominal value of the shares. The offer for a grant of share options may
be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the Directors
and in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of share
options, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Old Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of
shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Old Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 20 December 2012.

Share options do not confer rights to the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The Old Scheme expired on 19 December 2022 and superseded by
a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) adopted by the
Company on 14 December 2022 (“Adoption Date”). Pursuant to the
terms of the Old Scheme, no further share options will be granted
thereunder after its expiry but in all other respects the provisions of the
Old Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any share options granted thereunder (i
any) prior to such expiry or otherwise as may be required in accordance
with the provisions of the Old Scheme, and all share options granted
thereunder (if any) prior to such expiry shall continue to be exercisable
subject to and in accordance with their terms of grant. The outstanding
share options granted under the Old Scheme will remain valid and
exercisable after the termination of the Old Scheme. The New Scheme,
which will be valid for a term of 10 years from the Adoption Date.

ARRR=_F——F+ A=t BRASH
105 2 B 8 ([ Bt 8l ) - ERfElZ
BOARAEEERSER2EERHBR
- (ERIREHASEEL B2 2B
o RBEE EFUE2EBBEAEMAE
BER2EERHBRE - AROARBRN
RIRERHBERIES B (BAREER)EH
LR RERPIRETHE - (AR BRD
REZREFHBREZAMAEZXAE
X AT B RERPTRFHUTIE ¢ K
BEE=EFREIERRBARA LR
Bz - IR R R IE 2 B B 21 A A
B ARARREMARINEH1ELZ
SEBANRE - AIREBEREZTRBHES
BE  EABRSRLZAERRET  #E
B TR B A B HIEE 10 Ak
R o

FrERIR E T 8 R A5 B (Ef EAth fE A A =T
SRR M iE AR T 2 BB AR TR R S T
g REITZ RN ESEHE F AETEZR
AR RN B TR SR RIRR (D 280% © 1R
BEEIGE T 2 Fra AR TE R A 2
B MEITZ RN RE - BMERERERRIR
eARBHE T ——F+-_A=-1+HZAR
AIE B/ TIDEE U10% ©

BRI B TR ABRZREINBERA
SREMER

EMEEN=ZE==F =R+ EZH
YHARRRZZE_—F+=A+HA ([
B ) BRIz SRR R AT &) ([ Frat &1 )X
R RBEFT RGN - REZMERS T E
— R NBEE - EEMARMTE - 5t
B2 GEXHEERTERHR TR RE
B AR TR T R B B AT R AR R
BEFEIEURE 2 EFBERE(IE) - &
RE R HARTIRE R 2 (A B R (0 )i
B R ZRN W RBR G T UATTE - R
RERTBIR M HARTTE Z BRAER 58
IR RSB R A TATEE © #at8lHm
PR B BREERT + R AR -
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

30. BRETE @

A

Vesting period (Note (1))
55 B (P 3E(1))

Exercise period

1T E

Exercise price at date of grant

REHBHZ1TEE

Price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant (Note (2))
RRATRG L B H 2 B (HEE@)

Exercise price adjusted after rights issue (Note (3))

AR R 2 1T E (MEEE))

Exercise price adjusted after capital reorganisation
and rights issue (Note (4))
BAREA R IRIE AR 2 TR E (FFEE))

— - N\F+=-A=-+mAH

24 December 2018
- \F+=ZA=+mA

24 December 2018 to

23 December 2021
—E-N\F+-_A=-+WMWAEZE
R+ AZ+=H

0.325

0.325

N/ATNE

N/ATiE A

(@) Details of the specific categories of options are as follows: (a) BREZETHEHMMOT :
Option A Option B
IBRREA fBREB
Grant date 24 December 2018 3 November 2020

—E-TF+—H=H

3 November 2020
—E-ETE+—HA=H
3 November 2020 to

2 November 2023
—E-TF+—A=RHZE
—E-=F+—HZH

0.380

0.380

0.397

7.91
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30. SHARE

OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(@) (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

At 30
share

The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the
grant of the share options is the higher of the closing price of the
shares of the Company on the date of grant of the share options
or the average Stock Exchange closing price for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the share
options.

As a result of the rights issue as detailed in note 30(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, the exercise price of the
outstanding share options — Option B was adjusted from
HK$0.380 to HK$0.397 per share during the year ended 30 June
2022.

As a result of the rights issue and share consolidation as detailed
in note 29(d) and (e) to the consolidated financial statements, the
exercise price of the outstanding share options — Option B was
further adjusted from HK$0.397 to HK$7.91 per share during the
year ended 30 June 2023.

June 2023, 4,974,455 share options (2022: 99,135,542
options) remains outstanding under the New Scheme,

representing approximately 1% (2022: 4%) of the ordinary shares
of the Company in issue at that date. The New Scheme allows
the Directors of the Company, when offering the grant of any
option, to impose any condition including any performance target
which must be met before the option shall vest and become
exercisable.

30. BREFTE @

(%)
GEE

(1) BEEZEBHARHBAHETE
HARALA L EAR -

@  ARERMAIEBRER LD A SR E
Z B RAR BRI B
A H 2z W (B sk R BRI IR H A
HAR0 FLE & 2 AR PR PTER
WHmEREZRSE °

()  ERERE MRS IR M FE30 () Pl
HEK 2T - —_F A=+
BIEFE - MARTTERRE-BR
HEBRITTHEER0.380B THEE
0.3978 7T °

@  ARGEMBEERKME29() K (e)PT
AR EED A BE_T
Z=EFRNA=THIEFE - BARIT
R R — R AR BT TR B i
BAR0.397 B L — L HTHEZRT.01E
o

MN-B-=%xA=1A8 - #F:t2A
TMLE4,974,4550 ERE(ZE ==
£ 199,135,542(7 BERRHE ) ik ARATIE
HERARBRZBBERITEEKZ
1% (ZBE=—4F : 4%) o 2R
BTN A B E R A R AR A A I
DMERGEH - BIERERERE &K
ARATERTEEE EMKRIRERE -
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(b) The movement of share options granted and

30. fEPRRRESTE ()
(b) BRI & S AR RE A

weighted average exercise prices of share FIGITEE 2B E
options
Director Employee
= &8
Weighted Weighted
Number of average  Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
BRE IOREF19 iR IR 19
4= TEE #H T6EE
HKS HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 July 2021 RZZZ—F+A—HRARITE 64,500,000 0.380 107,000,000 0.352
Adjustment due to rights issue REF AR T A2
during the year (2,171,688) N/ATMEA  (2,192,770) N/ANEA
Lapsed during the year REZLEN - - (55,000,000) 0.325
Cancelled during the year RNEF (13,000,000 0.380 - =
Outstanding at 30 June 2022 and MR-T=_=—F R A=1THK
1 July 2022 B _F L A—HEARTE 49,328,312 0.397 49,807,230 0.397
Adjustment due to share REEARRRME G TIAFE
consolidation during the year (46,861,896) N/ATEA (47,316,869) NATEMA
Adjustment due to rights issue REZ R T AR
during the year 8,796  N/ATEMA 8,882  N/ATEA
Outstanding at 30 June 2023 RZZE-_=%FA=+H
RIARTTEE 2,475,212 791 2,499,243 7.91

The share options outstanding at 30 June 2023 have adjusted
exercise prices of HK$7.91 per option (2022: HK$0.397) and a
weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.34 year (2022:

1.34 years).

RZZBZ=FA=+HREKRITEE
Bt 2 RPBEITEE B0 ERE

7.917% 7t (

— = — —

=

£ :0.3977%7T)

KINEFHHRT A KFHR0.344F

(—3==

— =

£ 1 1.344F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(c) Fair value of share option granted
The share options were measured at fair value at grant date with
reference to a valuation report prepared by Ample Appraisal
Limited, calculated using Binomial Pricing Model with the
following key assumptions:

30. BREFTE @

(c) ERLBRENQFE
BREZRR LR A THERE - B
T2ELRFEERARGBRZMA
EREWER_BEERAETE
8 FrEREBERRRAT

24 December 3 November

2018 2020

—E-N\F —EEHF

+=—H=+mAH +—H=H

Option A Option B

B EA BB

Share price AR{E 0.325 0.380
Exercise price 1IE(E 0.325 0.380
Expected volatility (Note) T8 B Eh (T aE) 85% 65%
Expected options life TEHRRE AR #E O HA 3 years 3% 3 years 34
Expected dividends TEHARR S 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (per annum) =R R F K () 1.869% 0.155%
Fair value of a share option at grant date  BERER R BE 2 A& 0.0314  0.1421-0.1592

Note: The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility which
based on data available for the past 1.5 years. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect the fair value
estimates.

No share option was granted for the year ended 30 June 2023
and 2022.

There were no market conditions associated with the share
option grants.

MEE - TRERRED Y AR BIE BF RIS ER
B2 SR INE) AR - THE AR
BRREFLEHAFEMLTFEL

BEATE -

BE-_ T =%k

T _F5KA

=THLLFE  BECROERE -

FE BRI I SRS TS R 1 ©
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=FANHA=THIFFE

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the

31. AQ T ZHBARR KRR FHE
L5

(a) FAFZMFIRRE

Company
2023 2022
—E-= —=EFE_—
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BaE FET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AT ZIEE 23 8,742 8,742
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULHT B A RF A - 342,857
Deposits and other receivables 7] & R Bt FE UK IR 470 18,036
Bank and cash balances RITRRESET 327 1,354
797 362,247
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 9,539 370,989
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital PR 30 52,755 266,056
Reserves & 32(b) (1,373,108) (1,232,655)
TOTAL EQUITY BERER (1,320,353) (966,599)
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Convertible bonds Al AR {E 5 40 22,687 16,538
Bonds payable FERHES 38 740,387 916,770
763,074 933,308
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary NG S 5N 219,388 219,400
Other payables and accruals L th A< 5RIE SR FER T RIE 4,109 5,557
Bonds payable ERES 38 324,319 149,384
Convertible bonds Al EEiRfE A 40 19,002 29,939
566,818 404,280
TOTAL LIABILITIES waeEd 1,329,892 1,337,588
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ##ERKREE 9,539 370,989
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEEE (566,021) (42,033)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HWEERRBERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES (557,279) (83,291)
DEFICIENCY IN CAPITAL B4 (1,320,353) (966,599)
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on N =F+—

1 November 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Law Tze Ping Eric

ETY

Act/ng Chief Executive Officer
EFETTIAR

Shing Pan Yu James

BmR

#H7T

Executive Director
TE

—H ?f%ﬁ%/_\ﬁt/ﬁ&?ﬁ
$g$|J§XI$LATAi{ki€RR :



FEXCTREERAT

TR =FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

(b) Reserves movement of the Company

31. ARTFZHBARR KRR EHE

(b) AT zEEEE

B m)

Share Convertible
Share option  bonds equity  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
iBhRE TRRES
R EE it L RitEE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TET THT
(Note 32(b)(i) (Note 32(o)i)) (Note 32(b)(iv))
(MzEs2m)))  (FisES2p)i)  (BTEES2(b)iv)
At 1 July 2021 R-B-—5+H-R 130318 19,385 21,461 (923,209) (752,039)
Total comprehensive expense  AFEZ AR AE
for the year - - - (527,906) (527,906)
Redemption of convertible ~ EEEIA[# kB
bonds - - (14,648) 14,648 -
Issue of convertile bonds ~ B4TATH AR ES - - 5,602 - 5,602
Issue of shares on rights issue  FERREATA 17,737 - - - 17,737
Placing of shares PR E R 23,951 - - - 23,951
Lapsed of share options BRERN - (3,797) - 3,797 -
At 30 June 2022 and at RZBZZERXA=TERR
1 July 2022 —Z-_%t+f-H 172,006 15,588 12,415 (1,432,664) (1,232,655)
Total comprehensive expense  AFE 2 AR x A%
for the year = = = (465,034) (465,034)
Share issued upon conversion EHA R B 217N
of convertible bonds - - (5,602) - (5,602)
Capital reorganisation BARER 286,383 - - - 286,383
Issue of shares on rights issue BT 37,682 - - - 37,682
Recognition of equity R AR EFERT D
component of convertible
bonds = — 6,118 — 6,118
At 30 June 2023 RZE-=EAA=1H 496,071 15,588 12,931 (1,897,698) (1,373,108)
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fRE SRR MR ()

=FANHA=THIFFE

32. RESERVES
(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The share premium account of the Company includes
premium arising from the new issue of shares in the current
and prior years netted of share issue expenses.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees and business associates of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note
5(x) to the consolidated financial statements.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
5(e) to the consolidated financial statements.

Convertible bonds equity reserve

Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the value
of unexercised equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with the
accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds.

32. f#fE
AEE

(a)

(b)

AEBZ RS

BEEBBNGRS

AR KRS EB RS

rEERBZEER AR
() KAEE

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

AR E 2 B s Bk e Ak
B 1T B RIRMAREE R IA
EFEHBTROELNRE °

BRERE

B ERERERERZEE VB
WMERMITFHSE) AR EE 2 B0
NERASFTECR - R
SEEEREBHBALER
18 AR 1T {5 B AR R sk i AT

B2 AFHE -
SN it 8
SMNERERE R A RREFIN
EBMBERRMEEZERLZE

B o LB NIRIES A ISR
KM ESE) T ST BUREE -

AR ES R
AR ESEEFEHERREAR
BIEITH AT AR E R TT AR
AREHWEE - ERBEFH AR
PR EF R S ETBUERRER ©
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fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

33. TRADE PAYABLES

34.

The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to 180 days

(2022: 30 to 120 days) from its suppliers.

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of

33. BNESZRE

AEE—RERERLS TI0R180H (=ZF

Z% : 30E120B) 2 1EEH -

e B SRR E R E R B R25 2Rk

goods, is as follows: MR -
2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within 30 days 30BN 61 9,745
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,008 3,023
61 to 90 days 61%290H 144 1,780
91 to 120 days 91%120H 520 3,170
121 to 365 days 121£365H 14,430 8,515
Over 365 days #1365 H 22,792 31,405
39,955 57,638
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 34, HESFIER EERTFIE
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FAT
Other payables H b FRIE 378,482 596,899
Accruals FEETFE 7,604 66,569
Provision for litigations AR 8,567 76,591
Contract liabilities arising from customers (Note) KB EFHA K& & (MizE)
— Heat and power —HEERE - 4,490
— Calcium carbide —iR{Ei5 2,758 3,199
Amount due to a related company (note 45(b)) & — [ FEEE A B2 IE (M 5E45(b)) 1,000 =
Amount due to a shareholder (note 45(b)) P& — B R R R E (P 5E45(0)) 1,600 -
400,011 747,748

Note: For the contract liabilities at the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022,
the entire balances are recognised as revenue within one year. The
revenue recognised in the current year that was included in the contract
liabilities arising from customers for heat and power and calcium carbide
at the beginning of the year were approximately HK$3,766,000 and
HK$3,199,000 (2022: HK$9,135,000 and HK$3,267,000) respectively.

ek : MBE—T_=FRk=_T_—_F- A=+

BLEFEEZENAENS

2 EPAEERT —

FRNERARE - RAFERERR ST
STAFHIR AR R E N IARRCIBRFE
HEKBE - 98 A#3,766,0007% 7T &
3,199,000/ 7T (=& = —4F : 9,135,000/

TL 53,267,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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fRE SRR MR ()

34. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)  34. H.thFE {4 78 & FET 70 IE (4#0)
The movement in provision for litigations is as follows: FEAREEEH T
2023 2022
—E-=H —E-—HF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
At 1 July RtA—8 76,591 71,082
Addition during the year FRRE 2,676 19,356
Repayment during the year FRER (30) (4,880)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEMEAR - (8,793)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary IR A ABRITE A A (66,791) =
Exchange differences b W ZE 5 (3,879) (174)
At 30 June WANA=+H 8,567 76,591
The amount represents the provision for litigations mainly occurred in FZERIEREERB B RF R B ERFAG
both Hong Kong and PRC. Decrease in amount of the year was caused RZ B - FRNES TR TIHREGS MR
by the deconsolidation of a PRC subsidiary as set out in note 41 to the RUTFMFTE R LR E AR —REF BT S
consolidated financial statements. NI
OTHER LOANS 35. HittEX
Contractual Contractual
rate 2023 rate 2022
BHR= —BI=F B HIF|= ke St
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FAT
Secured HK$ loan RHEMBTER 14% 44,960 14% 44,960
Secured RMB loan BHEAAREER 24% 3,287 9%-24% 75,440
48,247 120,400
The Group’s other loans are repayable as follows: AEFBEMERBEENT ¢
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
On demand RER 3,287 75,440
Within one year —&FN 44,960 44,960
48,247 120,400




For the year ended 30 June 2023 #;% — % —

35.

36.

FEXCIKEERAT —T—

=FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
RS B R AR Y ()

OTHER LOANS (continued)

=FANHA=THIFFE

As at 30 June 2023, the other loans are secured by the pledge of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (2022:
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets). Details of

which are disclosed in their respective notes.

HER @)

R-ZF-_=FRNA=1H  HEFUAKE
EYE  BEMIBANERAEEE(ZE
——FPE J'r‘?i}%& REREAEEE)
TR - FHIERBENES BN -

BANK LOANS 36. SRITEX
The Group’s bank loans are repayable as follows: REE 2 RITE AR T HEEE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E o —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
On demand REK 5,916 6,331
Within one year —&FR 3,032 2,784
In the second year F_F 2,884 2,842
In the third to fifth years inclusive F=FEFAF(BIEEEME) 7,850 8,893
After five years hEE - 1,532
19,682 22,382
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 A 1218 AAZEER 2 5KIE
months (shown under current liabilities) GItEREBERE) (8,948) (9,115)
10,734 13,267

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated in

the following currencies:

AEERTERZEHEDIATIEERE

fi

2023 2022
—EC-=8% —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

HK$ BIT 13,766 16,051
RMB ARE 5,916 6,331
19,682 22,382
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

36. BANK LOANS (continued)

36. BITER @

2023 2022
—E:-=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Analysed as: TR

Secured e 19,682 22,382
Unsecured A 4 - =
19,682 22,382

Movement of bank loans is as follows: IRITERESHMT
2023 2022
—E:-=F —E o —F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
As at 1 July ntA—H 22,382 59,166
Repayment EfF (2,285) (3,676)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEMRBAR - (32,119)
Exchange differences EH Z=5E (415) (989)
As at 30 June RANA=+H 19,682 22,382

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had aggregate outstanding bank loans
of approximately HK$19,682,000 (2022: HK$22,382,000) secured by
properties and right-of-use assets of the Group.

The Group’s bank loans were borne at fixed-rate interest of 5.65%
(2022: 5.65%) and variable-rate interest ranged from Hong Kong prime
rate less 2.9% (2022: Hong Kong prime rate less 2.9%) per annum.

Amount of approximately HK$5,916,000 was matured and repayable
on demand but still outstanding and under renegotiation with the bank
at 30 June 2023 (2022: HK$6,331,000).

RZBE-=FXA=10 KXEEHKE
BIRITERBEL 519,682,000/8 (= F
— 4 :22,382,000/87T) * AAEERY
FERFEAEEEEER -

AR BENRITERSFLRN F5.65%MNEE
FIR(ZZ=—% : 5.65%) REBRESRF
KR2.9%HFENNR (T - —4F : BifRK
BRI EH2.9%) 58 -

495,916,000 TR = =_=F /A =1H
B R BIRBSREZERIIAEE - EEE
RITEITEER(ZT =4 : 6,331,000
JL) °
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37. BONDS PAYABLE 37. EES
The movement of the bonds payable is as follows: FERfESZ BEmT :
2023 2022
—E-=H —E o4&
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
At beginning of year REH) 1,066,154 1,085,784
Interest charge for the year FAFBRXZ 103,134 155,489
Interest paid for the year FRZ[FHF B (3,770) (8,800)
Redemption of bonds lBEES (89,312 (137,398)
Gain on early redemption of bonds REERES W (11,500) (10,321)
Settlement of bonds by issuing convertible BRBETIMRESEEES
bonds - (18,600)
At the end of year RER 1,064,706 1,066,154
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 B mBBEE TRMM2[EA R
months shown under current liabilities FEEEN SRR (324,319) (149,384)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months BB EE FARA12E A%
shown under non-current liabilities FEEN S 740,387 916,770
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group and the Company did RBE-_ZT_=FA=1tHILEE ' K
not issue any corporate bonds (2022: Nil). SEEARB)WEBEITEMEEESR(ZZ
TITF )
Details of the settlement by issuing convertible bonds was set out in the BRETIERESEENFIERRA AR
Company’s announcement dated 21 June 2022. AT -_—F A-+—HHAE -
The Group’s undiscounted cash flow of outstanding bonds were REBERER ZRMIBRSRER N5 HH
repayable as follows: 1838 -
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Within one year R—FR 336,770 157,733
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_FEFAF(BREEEMTE) 820,690 1,100,590

1,157,460 1,258,323
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

37. BONDS PAYABLE (continued)

38.

The bonds payables are unsecured and interest bearing at coupon
rates ranging from 0% to 12% (2022: 0% to 12%).

The bonds payable are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, and the effective rates are ranging from 2.2% to
18.92% p.a. (2022: 2.2% to 18.92% p.a.) after taking into account the
transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the bonds.

Amount of approximately HK$147,070,000 was matured but still
outstanding and under renegotiation with the bond holders at 30 June

2023 (2022: HK$80,608,000).

LEASE LIABILITIES

37. EfEH @)

e EHFAEERIEZEEENTOEE2
E(ZZE——F : 0EE12E):t8 o

ENEFANBERR R RIZHERNATE - &
STREBETEFEREREZR S EREERE
FERNFR22EE18.02B (=T = — 4 :
FERMENF22EE18.92F) °

#3147,070,000/8 TR K IBERN =T = = F /X
A=+HEBENAESE  FELEESRFE
NETHEER(ZE = —4 : 80,608,000/
JL) °

38. HEAME

Minimum Present value of minimum
lease payments lease payments
RIEAERE REHEENERE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC=F —E-F —EC-=E —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FAT FET FHIT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEERE
Within one year —FR - 1,536 - 1,483
Within a period of more than —F L\ BT BB TR
one year but not more than HAfA
two years - = - -
Within a period of more than A LB BB AR
two years but not more than HAfE
five years - = - =
Total minimum lease payments (X S 7B E%E - 1,536 - 1,483
Less: Future finance charges B RRIEEA - (53) - N/A 73 F
Present value of lease HEAERE
obligations - 1,483 - 1,483
Less: Amount due for settlement & : BB EE FFRR
within 12 months shown 12{8 A NEIHEE
under current liabilities HEEE - (1,483)

Amount due for settlement after
12 months shown under non-
current liabilities

FRBEBEE TR
12{E A 12 2| B4 E /)

ok

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 15.18%
at 30 June 2022. All lease obligation that is denominated in functional
currency of the Group’s entities.

KRB _FRA=+H HEEEERAN
HEEENER/1518% - IEHEEER
AEEERZEEREHE
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For the year ended 30 June 2023 #tZ —ZE — =4 NA=1HIFZ

39. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 39. AR ES
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FAT
Liability component BEBD
Liability component of convertible bonds R-ZZE_ZTF+—F+=A%8TRE
issued on 13 November 2020 measured HN AT EMARRESBET S
at amortised costs (Note (a)) (FtzE(a)) 19,002 16,538
Liability component of convertible bonds issued W=—Z = —&F,xF —+—H ?’Y‘Tﬂiﬂiﬁ
on 21 June 2022 measured at amortised SHAN G 2R AR ES B &3
costs (Note (b)) (P 5E(0)) - 29,939
Liability component of convertible bonds issued M=Z==%F;XAFH %*TTHH%&%EX
on 5 June 2023 measured at amortised AEtEW A BRES B EH
costs (Note (c)) (Ff&E(e)) 22,745 =
Total liability component of convertible bonds ~ AI &4 B [EE05H 158 41,747 46,477
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities & : EBEFTRERE (19,002) (29,939)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities ERBEEFI NS 22,745 16,538
Equity component D
Equity component of convertible bonds issued A =ZE-ZTHE+—F+=HEETH
on 13 November 2020 (Note (a)) AR ES RS (k@) 6,813 6,813
Equity component of convertible bonds issued R=ZF = =F ;XA =—+—HETH
on 21 June 2022 (Note (b)) AR ES = B0 (B (o) - 5,602
Equity component of convertible bonds issued M == = =45 A HETA A%
on 5 June 2023 (Note (c)) BEHFERT D
(Fft=E(c) 6,118 -
Total equity component of convertible bonds AR RS Bl HE R 12,931 12,415

Notes: BisE -

(a) Convertible bonds issued on 13 November 2020 containing liability (a)
and equity component (“CB 2021”)

On 13 November 2020, the Company issued CB 2021 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 with zero coupon rate and to be
matured on 12 November 2023.

The major terms of CB 2021 are as follows:

(i) The bondholders of CB 2021 have the right to convert all or
any portion of CB 2021 into shares of the Company at the
conversion price of HK$0.4 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments).
The conversion rights can be exercised at any time on or after
13 November up to five days (excluding a Saturday) on which
banks generally open for normal banking business in Hong Kong
(“Business Days”) prior to the third anniversary of the date of issue.

R-B-ZF+—-A+=ARTHTRR
B ERERSA([=S=—F7
BRES )

RZZEZZTF+—A+=H ' ARAIET
7K 4 48 %8 /100,000,000 T ZZ B &
BRZEZ=F+—A+=ZHFHN=F
Z— AR ES

T FuMRESTEERAT

0) —Z- - FABRRESNESTE
AB R E0AB T —T = —
FRAAAAE 75 2 B AR ER D A
RARE B (AT E T R#E R
) AR+ — A+ =A%
ZIRBEEHTANE=BFAAA
(RHIRBRON) - EEBRITEEH
FRET—RIRITEBOE T ([E
B )BER T -
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39. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Convertible bonds issued on 13 November 2020 containing liability
and equity component (“CB 2021”) (Continued)

(ii) The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity
date, having given not less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
bondholders, redeem all or some of the convertible bonds on the
day fixed for redemption at such amount equivalent to 100% of the
outstanding principal amount of CB 2021 (“Issuer’s Redemption
Option A”).

The CB 2021 contains two components, the liability and equity
components. The initial fair value of the two components was determined
based on proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value of the liability
component was estimated to be HK$65,935,000 as at 13 November
2020 (date of issue) using the residual method, taking into account the
terms and conditions of the CB 2021, based on the valuation undertaken
by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value of the
Issuer’s Redemption Option A on the date of initial recognition are
considered insignificant based on the valuation results. The liability
component is subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective
interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the liability component
of the CB 2021 is 14.90% per annum. The residual amount representing
the value of the equity component of HK$34,065,000, was presented in
equity under the heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

CB 2021 with carrying value of approximately HK$31,857,000 was
redeemed during the year ended 30 June 2022.

Convertible bonds issued on 21 June 2022 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2022”)

On 21 June 2022, the Company issued CB 2022 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$35,400,000 with zero coupon rate and to be
matured on 20 June 2023.

The major terms of CB 2022 are as follows:

(i) The bondholders of CB 2022 have the right to convert all or any
portion of CB 2022 into shares of the Company at the conversion
price of HK$0.1 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The
conversion rights can be exercised at any time on or after 21 June
2022 up to five days (excluding a Saturday) on Business Days prior
to the third anniversary of the date of issue.

(ii) The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity
date, having given not less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
bondholders, redeem all or some of the convertible bonds on the
day fixed for redemption at such amount equivalent to 100% of the
outstanding principal amount of CB 2022 (“Issuer’s Redemption
Option B”).

39. TR ES @)

PR

(@)

(b)

(%)

R-B-_EE+—-A+=HRTHTER
BEFEEREREESS ([Z2=—F7
BRES ) (&)
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39. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Convertible bonds issued on 21 June 2022 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2022”) (Continued)

The CB 2022 contains two components, the liability and equity
components. The initial fair value of the two components was determined
based on proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value of the liability
component was estimated to be approximately HK$29,798,000 as
at 21 June 2022 (date of issue) using the residual method, taking into
account the terms and conditions of the CB 2022, based on the valuation
undertaken by an independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair
value of the Issuer’s Redemption Option B on the date of initial recognition
are considered insignificant based on the valuation results. The liability
component is subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective
interest rate method. The effective interest rate of the liability component
of the CB 2022 is 18.80% per annum. The residual amount representing
the value of the equity component of approximately HK$5,602,000, was
presented in equity under the heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

CB 2022 with fully redeemed during the year ended 30 June 2023.

Convertible bonds issued on 5 June 2023 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2023”)

On 5 June 2023, the Company issued CB 2023 with an aggregate
principal amount of HK$28,560,000 with 3% coupon rate per annum and
to be matured on 4 June 2025.

The major terms of CB 2023 are as follows:

i) The bondholders of CB 2023 have the right to convert all or any
portion of CB 2023 into shares of the Company at the conversion
price of HK$0.21 (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The
conversion rights can be exercised at any time on or after 5 June
2023 up to five days (excluding a Saturday) on Business Days prior
to the third anniversary of the date of issue.

(ii) The Company may at any time from the issue date to the maturity
date, having given not less than 10 Business Days’ notice to the
bondholders, redeem all or some of the convertible bonds on the
day fixed for redemption at such amount equivalent to 100% of the
outstanding principal amount of CB 2023 (“Issuer’s Redemption
Option C”).

39. TR ES @)

Wi

(b)

(c)

(%)

Ro-B- XA+ HRTHTERR
BEHEEEERERSS (=2 ==F7
BRES ) (#)
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39. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) Convertible bonds issued on 5 June 2023 containing liability and
equity component (“CB 2023”) (Continued)

(iii) The CB 2023 contains two components, the liability and equity
components. The initial fair value of the two components was
determined based on proceeds at issuance. The initial fair value
of the liability component was estimated to be approximately
HK$22,442,000 as at 5 June 2023 (date of issue) using the
residual method, taking into account the terms and conditions
of the CB 2023, based on the valuation undertaken by an
independent professionally qualified valuer. The fair value of the
Issuer’s Redemption Option C on the date of initial recognition
are considered insignificant based on the valuation results. The
liability component is subsequently measured at amortised cost
using effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate of
the liability component of the CB 2023 is 16.41% per annum. The
residual amount representing the value of the equity component of
approximately HK$6,118,000, was presented in equity under the
heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”.

As at 30 June 2023, the outstanding principal amount of CB 2021 and
CB 2023 were HK$20,000,000 and HK$28,560,000 respectively (2022:
CB 2021 and CB 2022 were HK$20,000,000 and HK$35,400,000
respectively).

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of CB 2021 and CB 2023 was
HK$18,494,000 and HK$64,658,000 respectively (2022: CB 2021 and
2022 were HK$17,577,000 and HK$31,743,000 respectively).
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(c)
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R-B-=FARERTHTERES
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39. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

39. TR ES @)

Notes: (Continued) MisE : (48)
The movement of liability component and equity component of CB 2021, BHE_T-_=—FA=+tHAK=T==F
CB 2022 and CB 2023 for the years ended 30 June 2023 and 30 June ~NA= + HIEFE  —T=—FaRE
2022 is set out below: A5 == ,,iT}%HxL%&,g:,E
ARREFNAESS EERT S HE
YT :
Liability component Equity component
B&HS EEHs
CB 2021 CB 2022 CB 2023 Total CB 2021 CB 2022 CB 2023 Total
“E--F CZB-CE CZBC=E “E--F CZB--E C—BC=E
TaRES URRESF TRRES @t wERES  TRRER  TREES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL THL TEL THL TEL THL TEL T
As 30 June 2021 RZE-—§~A=TH 45,339 - - 45,339 21,461 - - 21,461
Liabiity component of CB2022 ~ —Z= —F [k EHN
at the date of issuance FTRMMBEDH - 29,798 - 29,798 - - - -
Equity component of CB 2022 “T - FARRERRN
at the date of issuance BFTABNERSD - - - - - 5,602 - 5,602
Interest accrued B FIS 3,056 144 = 3,197 = = = =
Redemption (e (31,857) - - BIST) (14649 - - 14648
At 30 June 2022 and RZBZZEXA=THR
1 July 2022 RZB--%+tA-H 16,538 29,939 - 46,477 6,313 5,602 - 12,415
Liability component of CB 2023 =F==Fal R fEH5
at the date of issuance ETRHBNAESS - - 22,442 22,442 - - - -
Equity component of 0B 2023  —Z= =Fa[RREAHH
at the date of issuance FTABNERSD - - - - - - 6,118 6,118
Interest accrued B FIS 2,464 57 308 2,824 - - - -
Conversion into ordinary shares ~ EHE AL @ - (29,996) - (29,996) - (5,602) = (5,602)
At 30 June 2023 RZB-=FXA=1H 19,002 - 22,145 4,747 6,813 - 6,118 12,931
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40. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 8 June 2023, Mudanjiang New Energy, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sales and purchases agreement with an
independent third party to acquire 50% equity interest of Mudanjiang
Haidi, a company established in the PRC and principally engaged
in manufacture and sales of chemical products for agriculture. The
acquisition was completed on 15 June 2023.

The acquisition was in line with the Company’s business strategy
to transform and increase industrial investment, with a focus on the
industries with good growth prospects including the chemical products
for agriculture industry as one of its main investment directions.

No acquisition related cost was incurred for the acquisition.
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Mudanjiang

New Energy acquired during the year ended 30 June 2023 as at the
date of acquisition is set out below:

40. WHEFIE LA

RZZ-=FXANE  ARRZENER
AT R — R B E =R EE
ek - AUEH T8 m500%/#E - m—fH
RABERZIZ AR - T2EREEREER
FbBm o  WEER-_Z_=FHA+HA
FERK °

HHRIER A AR A RS RIEIITRIE
NEFREARERAIRTX(BREERL
B EREERREN ML — 2 EHERE -

Jb T e S 0 8 A (AT U AR R B

RBZE-Z-_=FA=1THIFE H

THER TR AER A MEKESER
96 A TEHFILT

HK$’'000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BB K& 456
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TETFRIR « 518 R A fib FEYGRIE 1,539
Bank and cash balances RITRIREHETF 7
Other payables and accruals L {th FE A< BRTE K B AT 5A0E (930)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AAFER AR B FEERSE 1,072
Non-controlling interest FEFE R i A (636)
Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 20) BRAFEF ABm e E(fizE20) 2,075
Gain on bargain purchase from acquisition REBEERREERE W= 2,611
Net cash inflow arising from the acquisition: WHEETHELENRSMATE
Cash and cash equivalent acquired FriiiE IR & RIR & EEBE 7
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40. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The fair value of deposits and other receivables is approximately
HK$1,220,000. The gross contractual amount for deposits and other
receivables due is approximately HK$1,220,000 and approximately
HKS$NIl is expected to be uncollectible.

The non-controlling interests in Mudanjiang Haidi of approximately
HK$536,000 recognised at the acquisition date was measured with
reference to the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair
value of net assets of Mudanjiang Haidi at that date.

Gain on bargain purchase of approximately HK$2,611,000 arising
from the acquisition was included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The gain on bargain purchase is attributable
to the Group’s bargaining power and ability in negotiating the agreed
terms of the transaction with the vendor.

Since the acquisition, Mudanjiang Haidi has contributed revenue of
approximately HK$2,808,000 to the Group’s turnover and loss of
approximately HK$804,000 to the Group’s loss for the year. Had
the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2022, the consolidated
pro forma revenue and loss for the year ended 30 June 2023 would
have been approximately HK$165,431,000 and loss of approximately
HK$213,757,000 respectively.

The proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of the total revenue and loss after tax of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been taken place at the beginning of the year, nor is intended to be a
projection of future results.

40. WEEBHI B B ()

e EMBERFEZAFAEBD
1,220,000/ 7T © 7] & K H A fE W RIE 2 &
HIA #4858 A 491,220,000 7T » MTBERA
T TATAUE o

FAURES B EARER 2 A TS IR RS A
49536,000/8 7T + A2 EH T /BN % B
BEFEZ AT ETGIEZ RS AR

= °

Wi EE 2 # BB B Wi 492,611,000/ 7T
Bt AREEZHBAK - BEREBE 2
S EARAREREE N RERIIRS
B IR IE R Z BETT ©

BB - Y TEEERAFERAEE
2 AR B Bk 25 492,808,000/ 7T K [A] K
& H 2 1R K #4)804,000/8 TLETE © fifilk
BR-_ZE_—_FtA—H=ZK HE_-Z
—=FANAZHRLEFEZGRABEERER
E518 E 5 Bl 2 49165,431,00078 7T I E518 49
213,757,000/ 7T °

BEBFHEHFAME - WIFERB N F
VETZBER T AEEBRREREE Wt
REBRRRERERZIER - TITERAEREK
FEz 1A -
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41. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Deconsolidation of Mudanjiang BD Power

On 24 August 2022, the Company has received a notice issued by
Mudanjiang Authority of Housing and Urban-Rural Development
(the “Authority”) stating that in order to ensure the stability of the
heat supply to the residents of Mudanjiang in the coming winter, the
Authority has taken over the operations of Mudanjiang BD Power
on 26 August 2022. The Company ceased to have control over
Mudanjiang BD Power as from the date of taking over of Mudanjiang
BD Power by the Authority. Mudanjiang BD Power shall be deemed as
deconsolidated from the consolidated financial statements of the Group
and be classified as a discontinued operation as from 26 August 2022.

The following is the assets and liabilities of Mudanjiang BD Power as at
26 August 2022:

41. RIEFEEARKEB AT

BZ_ZFE-_=%X<XA=1H
LEFE
RIEGREANRHIIEHRE
—E-—FN\A=ZFTHEA - ARRMKREIRSS
TIHERMBSEEB((ER])EHANE
A ARG RALTHATERHE
BE 2RER-ZE-__FNA- A
EHPTERABENES - BEREERS
TEAREZBR  ANARBRTABEHEET
il e BZZE-—FNAZF+/~B  HT
TEEREBWAR AR AEBERE P TRE
RO D IERE R IEFCEET o

N TRAHMTIERREN T - —F A\ A
—t+RBZEERARE:

HK$’'000

FAT

Inventories Fe 3,599
Trade receivables FEWE 5 HR1E 22,012
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEFIE ~ 518 REMEUREIR 12,526
Bank and cash balances RITRIREEF 1,774
Trade payables FEFTE 5 8R1E 9,177)
Other payables and accruals Eo M FES SR M EET IR (336,334)
Other loans HEMER (67,208)
Net liabilities of Mudanjiang BD Power HPIEBRE BEFE (372,808)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve R R INEEEE 5 (1 (31,872)
Gain on deconsolidation of a subsidiary R IEERE ABRHTE A Rz e (404,680)

Net cash outflow arising on deconsolidation:
Bank and cash balance deconsolidation of

RitEa ARZASREFR
R E NRZ RTINS AT

(1,774)
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41. DECONSOLIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 4. RIZEEARMEBA R @

(Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023 (Continued)

Deconsolidation of Mudanjiang BD Power (Continued)
Mudanjiang BD Power was engaged in heat and power division, which
was a separate major line of the Group’s businesses. Accordingly,
the comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2022 under
the reportable segment of heat and power, as presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, have been re-presented as a discontinued operation. The
financial performance of Mudanjiang BD Power for the year ended 30
June 2023 and 2022, which has been re-presented as a discontinued
operation, is set out below:

BEZ_ZFE-_=%X<XA=1+AH
¢$F<a§>
BRIEGEANEHAIERRE®
#iﬁ/lﬁiaxﬂg_@fté$*ﬂ NENIES 75%
SERBY EEHET o Bt - e iEm&E
tEEBARF 2 NEE=_S=—F /<A
=T RILEFERERENNZ ’“*IZE’]ttf
%&?Ei?ﬁ%ﬁ‘l%a%\%t%giﬁ HE
ii —giii/\ﬂ *‘!’Hﬂ:iﬁ !
#ia'nﬂ%Eliﬁﬁaixﬁzﬁwﬁﬁﬂﬂ:i«‘%%
TSRS EE ST

2023 2022
—E-=F T &
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
BaE FBT FAT
Revenue e 3,766 170,964
Cost of sales SHERAN (5,614) (229,167)
Other income and other gains or losses  E At A K EAth e =5 sk E51E 10 20 6,083
Reversal/(provision) of allowance for PR OB TR Bt E
receivables (B1E)
— Trade receivables — R E FHRIA 655 (7,315)
— Prepayments, deposits and other — BN RIE « Fl& KEARE
receivables W skIE (3,542) 4,655
Selling and distribution expenses SHE kDAY (593) (19,876)
Administrative expenses TR (1,098) (14,120)
Other operating expenses HAnaL = (794) (22,071)
Impairment of property, plant and Yz~ B RERERE
equipment - (641,841)
Impairment of rights-of-use assets FRAEEERE - (46,526)
Finance costs B 75 K AN 12 (1,509) (13,434)

Loss before tax and loss for the period/ 2R B B 48 | F 4R & RS T B
year from discontinued operation E518 & B, 5 1E

14

(8,709) (812,648)
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42. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

On 17 December 2021, Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical, an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sales and purchase agreement
with an independent third party to the Group, pursuant to which,
Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical agreed to dispose its 100% equity
interest in Jinyang Municipal at a consideration of RMB1,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,451,000). The disposal was
completed on 16 June 2022 and resulted a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary amounted to approximately HK$10,220,000 recognised in
the Group’s profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2022,

Save for disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements,
Jinyang Municipal was engaged in construction services, which
was a separate major line of the Group’s businesses. Accordingly,
the comparative figures for the year ended 30 June 2022 under the
reportable segment of construction services, as presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, have been classified as a discontinued operation. The financial
performance of Jinyang Municipal for the year ended 30 June 2022,
which has been presented as a discontinued operation, is set out

42, HEMBA T

HERB AR ZW =
N-ZT=——F+=—A++tH HEZENE
AR T HEC THEAEBE L E=75]
VEEHS Bt HAIBRELCIRE
HEEFRFHA BT RE100%KE - KB
A AR #1,200,0007T (FHE R 491,451,0007%
) HEEEER-ZE-_F A +xH
TR WERRAAEEBEE-_T-_—F~A
= tHIFENERRPERALENBAR]
I #54910,220,00058 7T °

BRRRE M ESRRM T RESEN &
PrTBIE B EERY - AAEBRBIEE
55 At NRABERREMEERAR
PR Z BEREARESBEE_S ==
FRA=THLEFENLEERFTESEADE
RIEEEET - RIEMBEE S —F X
A=+ HILEFEEZRIABKRILKEEELD
MIRSEEFTIIT ¢

below:
2022
—E -4
HK$'000
BT
Administrative expenses AL (16)
Impairment on other receivables E At R BGRIERE (160)

Loss before tax and loss for the year from discontinued 2R B B 4% | & & S 7 89 BRF ATE 18 M F N E 18

operation

(176)
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42. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Continued)

Net liabilities of Jinyang Municipal at the date of disposal were as

42, HEMEB AR @

HEME AR 2 WS (&)
SIETEA L E RSB a EFEWT -

follows:

HK$'000

FAT

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables ARSI © 52 REMEREIR 465
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFMEEE 1
Other payables and accruals L Ath FE A SRIE K FE R T RIR (10,642)
Bank loans RITER (32,119)
Total net liabilities disposal of EHEHAETE (42,295)
Release of foreign currency translation reserve FRIRHINEETE 3 (R 6,312
Financial guarantee of a bank loan RITE R BEHER 27,214
Gain on disposal HEZ s 10,220
Total consideration receivable (Note) N EF A D) 1,451
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEMNRSMLFE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHEMNRe MREEEIER (1)

Note: The consideration of the disposal of Jinyang Municipal amounted to
approximately HK$1,451,000 had not yet been received during the year
ended 30 June 2022. The consideration receivable is included in the
Group’s other receivables as at 30 June 2022. During the year ended 30

June 2023, the consideration receivable was fully settled.

Mzt : BE T -—F R A=THILFE - ®K
WRER 4 51,451,000 T E 2B THERE
RIE - ZEBRAREBFAAREER =T ==
FRA=THMEMERZKIE - REE=
T_=FXA=1TAHILFE  BRARERD

2RSS ©
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 26 June 2023, Mudanjiang BD Power, a deconsolidated subsidiary
(details are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements),
had submitted to the Intermediate People’s Court of Mudanjiang City,
Heilongjiang Province for its voluntary liquidation (the “Voluntary
Liquidation”) under the action number (2023) Black 10 Liquidation
No. 1 (the “Application”) was duly accepted. Subsequent to the
Application, the liquidation team of the Authority has been appointed as
its administrator (the “Administrator”) on 10 July 2023.

Mudanjiang Longtuo New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Mudanjiang Longtuo”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, being the sole equity holder of
Mudanijiang BD Power immediately prior to its deconsolidation and taken
over by the Authority on 24 August 2022 would be liable in the sum of
RMB150 million, representing a subscription amount of RMB150 million
in the registered capital of Mudanjiang BD Power (“Mudanjiang BD
Power Subscription”) made by Mudanjiang Longtuo on 18 May 2020
by way of capitalisation of a shareholder’s loan due by Mudanjiang BD
Power to Mudanjiang Longtuo which amounted to RMB150 million
(“Capitalisation”). In the event the Capitalisation was not certified and
accepted by the Administrator, the Mudanjiang BD Power Subscription
would be deemed unsuccessful and void whereby the Mudanjiang BD
Power Subscription become due and payable immediately upon the
Voluntary Liquidation.

As of the approval date on these consolidated financial statements, the
Voluntary Liquidation is still under processing and not yet completed.
Hence the outcome of the Voluntary Liquidation is uncertain and
cannot be estimated reliably. The directors of the Company are having
carefully considered any possible outcomes of the Voluntary Liquidation
and of the view that the same amount of shareholder’s loan (RMB150
million) is available to offset against Mudanjiang BD Power Subscription
in case the Capitalisation was being voided and therefore no provision
was made in preparing these consolidated financial statements.

43.

HAREE
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21075 E %157 (action number (2023) Black
10 Liquidation No.1) A 28/ TR T
ﬁ&}\Eiﬂ%?E?&ﬁQWE(FﬁEEi%ﬂéJ)EE
E([FRiE])  WEREERER - BEMZER
fé ERNBEEEBFER =T _=F+tA+
AEZEAEEEA(ERALD -
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44, RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 44, BEEHEE2EBHE
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

TERAASERERDGEL 2 AEE

(BRASLIFREEY) - RERBELLZ
BEREASREER  HAKRRERER
ERAEENGEERSRERANBRBE

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. mEZREmECBE -
Liability
component
Other Bank Bonds  of convertible Lease
loans loans payable bonds liabilities Total
TRRES
EfER RTER ERES L) HEaE fazt

HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000
T TR T TEL T TEL

At 1 July 2021 RZE--%tA-A 68,676 59,166 1,085,784 45,339 3,758 1,262,723
Changes from financing cash flows HERETEHY 53921 (3,676) (137,399) (31,857) (2.275) (121,285)
Exchange differences EiZR 2,197) (989) - - - (3,186)
Disposal of a subsidiary LERBAR - (32,119) - - - (32,119)
Interest expenses S8R 19354 1,065 155,489 3,197 359 179,464
Interest paid classified as operating NRANERENREYL

cash flows EffIE (5,918) (1,085 (8,800) - 359) (16,142)
Interest accrued in other payables REMEMFE ERTFIE (13,436) - - - - (13.436)
Gain on early redemption of bonds REEDES A - - (10,321) - - (10,321)

Settlement of bonds by issuing convertible ERETTAREFEERS
bonds - - (18,600) 29,798 - 11,198

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 REB-—F7A=1AR

Sl = s bl 120,400 22,382 1,066,154 46,477 1,483 1,266,896
Changes from financing cash flowis BENEREZEY (1,269) (2289) (89312 28,560 (1,483) (65,779)
Exchange differences EXES (3,686) (415) - - - (4,101)
Deconsolidation of a subsidiary BRIHANEHEBAF (67,208) - = = - (67,208)
Interest expenses Hl8EY 7,803 1621 103,134 2,824 53 115,435
Interest paid classified as operating PBREEREREY
cash flows EffIE 6,294) (1,621) (3.770) - (53) (11,739)
Equity component of convertiole bonds HRESERSS = = = (6:118) = (6,118)
Interest accrued n other payables HHERFEZ RIS (1,509) = = = S (1,609
Gain on early redemption of bonds RABRERNG - - (11,500} - - (11,500)
Conversion of convertidle bonds ERIARES - - - (29,996) - (29,99)

At 30 June 2023

RZE-=FA=1H

48247

19,682

1,064,706 44,747 = 1,174,382
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with related parties:

(@) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key

45. BEALIRS
Mréra SRR EMESHAFEEIN » e
EHEEEALTHRZHT

(a) EEEEEAENFMETE
FREFREMBEREREREY

management during the year was as follows:

T

2023 2022
—E-=F T &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT AT
Short-term employee benefits 52 ERE SR F 1,920 1,920
Post-employment benefits BEER 1212 A 33 33
1,953 1,953
(b) Balance with related party (b) EEREE A LHVAEER

Name of related party Relationship 2023 2022
BEALER & TEZ=F —EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER BT

Amount due to a related company included in other payables and accruals

(note 34):
ST AE fth U FRIE K B SRR 2 e AN — R RR S A Bl R IE (MY 5234 ) -

Star Leader Holdings Limited Common director, Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe 1,000 -

AREER2L L

The amount due represented advances from Star Leader
Holdings Limited, which was non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and payable on demand.

E #5848 2K B Star Leader Holdings
LimitedZ #3% - Th3EE S 1HE - &K
A REREBERERZN -
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 45. BBE AL H @0

(b)

Balance with related party (Continued)

Name of related party Relationship 2023
BEALEZRE E2RES —E-=&
HK$’000

TET

(b) EEREATHES@E

2022
—EF
HK$’'000
T

Amount due to a shareholder included in other payables and accruals (note 34):
SEAH fth R R IR e JEE T RRIR 2 B 5 — R AR R IR (MY 5E84) -

Chan Yuen Tung Shareholder of the Company 1,600
BRI R RATMER

The amount due was unsecured, interest-free and payable on
demand. At e

46. COMMITMENTS 46. 7EIE

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the

reporting period:

FEFIR R B 2R RBRER

RIBEIR - NEEA THEAFIE

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E -4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
Contracted, but not provided for: EETRMEREE ¢
Capital contribution payables to certain PRC EAETHENBAREE
subsidiaries 175,406 181,839
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 4 December 2013, Ms. Wang Yuexian (the “Petitioner”)
subscribed for an eight-year bond (the “Bond”) with a face
value of HK$10,000,000 issued by the Company. Under the
instruction of the Petitioner, the Company made a payment of
HK$5,800,000 to the designated account of the Petitioner and
the Petitioner signed a deed of waiver (the “Deed of Waiver”)
in favour of the Company and undertook to waive the payment
of HK$4,500,000 of the principal amount of the Bonds by the
Company to the Petitioner on the maturity date (i.e. the Company
would only be required to repay the principal amount of the
Bonds of HK$5,500,000 at the maturity date). After maturity of
the Bond, the Petitioner refused to acknowledge the Deed of
Waiver and demanded the Company to pay HK$13,200,000
(comprising of the principal amount of HK$10,000,000 and all
interest of HK$3,200,000). In this regard, the Company and the
Petitioner disagreed on the amount of payment, which resulted
in the Petitioner commencing proceedings on 22 February 2022.
On 30 November 2022, besides filing a claim for HK$13,200,000
on 22 February 2022 against the Company, the Petitioner filed
for summary judgement proceedings in respect of the Bond of
which the principal amount is HK$5,500,000. On 13 April 2023,
the Court ordered the Company to pay HK$5,500,000 to the
Petitioner by way of a summary judgement (the “Summary
Judgement”). After taking the opinion from legal counsel on
certain grounds, an appeal has been lodged by the Company.
The appeal will be conducted by way of a rehearing. The result of
the appeal is still pending.

Notwithstanding the pending retrial, on 8 June 2023 (and refiled
on 3 July 20283), a winding up petition (the “Petition”) was filed
by the Petitioner with the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“High Court”) for the winding-up of the Company under the
provisions of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies (WUMP) Ordinance”) under Companies Winding-
up Proceedings No. 243 of 2023, in relation to the Statutory
Demand.

The Petition was heard on 16 August 2023 and has been
adjourned to 22 November 2023 for a further call over hearing.
The Company estimates that the total amount claimed under the
Petition is approximately HK$6,500,000.

The Company had fully made the provision on such amount.
In addition, on 28 August 2023, the Company has filed a
counterclaim against the Petitioner for abusing the legal process.

Details of above are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 23 August 2023 and 28 August 2023.

47. MEWREH

(@)

R-Z—=%+—-AMA ' TAML
T(TE2EBFADRBARARBITHE
10,000,000/ 7t M\ F BR & % ([ &
#]) o AR Tﬁ%EAhfWE%A
EEF DSEHS 800,000/t * 275
ABARRHEERBRIZLY ([ RERE
%DI% %@$ A AE S EIH
B\ 28 AL E A ZARE 4,500,000
B (BARRRESFDHARIE
B8 K 45,500,000/ 70) ° & (&%52
1% 2FANBBREARRBREZLY - I
B SRk ZN R A % 513,200,000 7T (£

& 78 4 10,000,000 7% 7t & BT A F 8
3,200,000/87T) ° Filt * AARFHEHE
BAEXMNESEEHESE  EH
EFAR-_TE-_—_F-_A=-+=H
B EAEFREF RN _T -

+—A=1+H BR-_ZT-_—F—A
Z+Z HRA AR A4z H 13,200,000
BITHREIN  2FATTAZ AR
SHARFEEZES  E4Aee
8 /45,500,000 7C c R-ZTE - =4

MA+=8 &b AG S AR E
SHR]ZLARRAMEF AN

5,500,000 7T o 4% BB ER A 2 B S 5t
ETERERNERE  ~XARER
&t’ﬁ%%#uﬁekﬁﬂﬁ o FERFBEBAE
%E’JHT 7o EFRERMEERE

BE é%r‘ﬁ’i%ﬁ RZT_=FX
H/\EI( TR E_=F+A=H&E
FRR)  EBARBE-Z=_=F24
A5 RRIEF 2435 BB BT
BEeEAR ([ EERE]) RVEAER
REREF([ZEE])  UBEES
EBIEI2F N T (5 REFFEIE RSO E
BT ARG ﬁﬁxz%&ramc)wmz
EXCH AR EEITER - NRERA

7—-&}\%‘%/\5
BE WEEHE T _=F+—
AZ+-—REFTE-—FBERAA °
Z’K _J%ED-#EAEEEJE/]EE \/Z@/i\gﬁﬁfj
6,500,000/ 7T ©

ZERERZ

RARIE RIS FBIEL 2B - It

9\\ 3"‘2::5/\)?:-1—1\5 N
ARERERAEAREREFMAR
EITREAR -

FlEHZFEHRRARRBERAS -
E=F\A-T=AR T =%
NAZ+NBZRE -



FEXCTREERAT

TR =FFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE SRR MR ()

For the year ended 30 June 2023 #F —FE - =% HA=1HIFFZ

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

()

On 20 September 2023, the Company made an announcement
that the Company as the subscriber entered into the subscription
agreement with the Pantheon Lab Limited (“Target Company”)
as the issuer, pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agrees to subscribe for the subscription shares for not more than
US$2,500,000 and the Target Company conditionally agrees to
allot and issue the subscription shares subject to and upon the
terms and conditions set out in the subscription agreement. The
subscription monies shall be satisfied in the following manner:
(i) 20% of the subscription monies shall be payable by the
Company to the Target Company by way of cash; and (i) 80% of
the subscription monies shall be payable by the Company to the
Target Company by way of issue of the convertible bonds. The
transaction was not yet completed as at the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of above is set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 20 September 2023.

Reference is made to the inside information announcement
dated 28 September 2023 of the Company regarding the
investigation by the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(the “ICAC”) (the “Incident”). According to the information
available, the investigation related to the bonds for the purpose
of immigration investment. In view of the Incident, the Company
has formed a special investigation committee (“SIC”) comprising
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric, executive Directors, all independent non-
executive Directors and Mr. Ma Kin Ling, company secretary and
chief financial officer of the Company to assess if there are any
impacts of the Incident on the financial results of the Group and
to liaise with the Auditor relating to the Incident.

The SIC has engaged an independent third party certified public
accountants (“Bond Reviewer”) to perform agreed-upon
procedures (the “Agreed-Upon Procedures”) to review the
Company’s bonds issuance procedures and assess any potential
impact on the financial statements of the Company. The Agreed-
Upon Procedures including, among others, reviewing the internal
control procedures related to the Company’s financing cycle of
the Company for the bonds issuance, conducting a walkthrough
of the Company’s financing activities, verifying the arithmetical
accuracy of the bonds issuance transaction, reperforming the
calculation of the bonds transactions handled by a specific bond
agent to ensure the consistency with the expected business
model of the Company and engaging a legal counsel to examine
the legality and enforceability of the bonds issuance. These
procedures have been completed and the Bond Reviewer is
satisfied that there is no irregularity or inconsistency in the bonds
issuance procedures with the business model of the Company.
In addition, the legal counsel is of the opinion that the bonds are
legal, valid and enforceable.

47. REPESEH @

(b)
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(Continued)

(c)  (Continued)

The auditors of the Company is also satisfied with the results of
the Agreed-Upon Procedures and has completed the auditing
process for the final results of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2023 pursuant to the Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and other applicable laws and regulations.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

On 21 June 2022, CB 2022 with principal amount of HK$35,400,000
issued to certain holders of bonds payable was used to set off the
bonds payable with carrying amount of approximately HK$18,600,000.
The settlement resulted in the settlement of bonds payable of
approximately HK$18,600,000 and loan payable of approximately
HK$16,800,000, and recognition of equity component and liabilities
component of CB 2022 of approximately HK$5,602,000 and
HK$29,798,000 respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% (2022: 5%) of
the salaries and wages, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000 (2022: HK$30,000) and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members
of retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC government.
The relevant PRC subsidiaries were required to contribute certain
percentages of the monthly salaries of their current employees to
fund the benefits. The employees were entitled to retirement pension
calculated with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and
their length of service in accordance with the relevant government
regulations. The PRC government was responsible for the pension
liability to the retired staff.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 1 November 2023.

47.

48.

49.

WREPREH @)
(&)
A2 TR BB TR S M R AR R 2 A

R YEREFEEHNIGRMZ
BB R BRI A R B ME AR KOA
RERARASBERHE_T =X
A=+HILFEREEE 2 FETIZ
B o

TEFBRERS

R-ZE-_—FXA-+—H BETTFTETE
FRERRIEHE A A B ZAR$ 85,400,000/ 7T
2 ZEZ FAARRES T A R SRR E (A
#718,600,000/8 T 2 EH B KIE - Z&EE
BB AT E S FE S 508 418,600,000/ 7T &
& EF#16,800,000/8 7T © KD pIMER =
T FrmRESERLY RAEHHL
5,602,000/an&29,798,000;‘%7_z o

BRI ET

AREFRBEFLREIEATEES BN AT
BB EEREBRATIERTESTE
([BESTE]) - zﬁlﬁ%ﬁ#éﬁéuz#\
&%&&Ié@%(_gzzi : 5%)&t
g ERAEFA EEM&U\SO 000 L (==
— =4 :30,000/7T) © WK MRTESFTE
HREEFEEES -

AR B E AR 8 LT+ BBRAAE
TERVRABAEHBIRAKE - BRTEMER

AARBREET A ET AL - #
BZRNA - REBEBIDHED - BTAIZ
EZLWQTJ&ELWH#Z%ZK g Mo AR 7%

FEFE - FRBYTERIKE THERKS
E’\]E\Tfo

Ht o B A R 3k
PBEHRRER S =F+— A A==

SR IR T



_ibS

China Zenith

China Zenith Chemical Group Limited
DERAXILIEBRR2E

®
MIX
Paper from responsible sources

R B B A9 RRA IR 43R
gwfscg FSC® C157924




	COVER
	CONTENTS

	CORPORATE INFORMATION

	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	BACK COVER

